
24 October 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

CABINET
will meet on

Thursday, 24 October 2019
beginning at

6:30 pm
in

Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair), Councillor Paul Bicknell (Vice-Chair)
Councillor David Airey Councillor Tina Campbell
Councillor Ian Corben Councillor Tonia Craig
Councillor Rupert Kyrle Councillor Derek Pretty

Staff Contacts: Helen Maxwell, Democratic Services Officer Tel: 023 8068 8464; 
Email: helen.maxwell@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website -
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk.

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the 
meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To 

register please contact the Democratic Services Officer above
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording 

and photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using 
tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA

1. Minutes    (Pages 5 - 10) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2019.

2. Apologies    

3. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

4. Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Interim Action Plan    (Pages 
11 - 60)

5. Upgrade of Pay on Foot Car Parks in Eastleigh Town Centre    (Pages 61 - 64)

6. Medium Term Financial Plan    (Pages 65 - 92)

7. Write Off Irrecoverable Debts    (Pages 93 - 102)

8. Corporate Performance & Financial Monitoring    (Pages 103 - 140)

9. Annual Report on Corporate Risk - 2018/2019    (Pages 141 - 158)

10. Draft Corporate Enforcement Strategy    (Pages 159 - 172)

11. Community Investment Programme Schemes Approval    (Pages 173 - 178)

12. Eastleigh Borough Council's Property Assets Repair & Renewal Plan    (Pages 179 
- 190)

13. Definition of Anti-Semitism    (Pages 191 - 194)

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 14 November 2019 at 6:30 pm

in the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1

CABINET

Thursday, 11 July 2019  (6:30 pm – 7:15 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Bicknell, Campbell, Corben, Craig 
and Pretty

Also in attendance: Councillors Broadhurst, Gomer, Groves, Tyson-Payne 
and Garton

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Airey and Kyrle

________________________________________

44. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION)

45. HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION STRATEGY

Issue

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 came into force on 3 April 2018 
and represents the most significant changes in homelessness legislation 
for 20 years. (paper 5).

Consideration

The report outlines the Council’s updated Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy.  The Council will work together with statutory and 
voluntary partners to meet the requirements of the new Act and provide 
better outcomes for customers facing homelessness in Eastleigh.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves the newly created Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy for 2019-2024.

46. AIR QUALITY REPORT

Issue

Eastleigh Borough Council has a statutory duty to produce an Air Quality 
Action Plan (AQAP) and monitor air quality within the four declared Air 
Quality Management Areas (AQMA) (paper 6).

3

Agenda Item 1



2

Consideration

To fulfil Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 
monitoring requirements, the Council has installed air quality monitoring 
equipment at each site; this equipment is now over 15 years old and in 
need of replacement.  Following DEFRA advice the Council is proposing to 
combine the existing AQAPs into one plan for the Borough. This AQAP will 
hold both location-specific and Borough-wide actions and will be 
developed in partnership with key stakeholders and the community.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet:

(1) Notes progress made to date on the three existing Air Quality 
Action Plans for Eastleigh Borough;

(2) Approves the development of an Eastleigh Borough Air Quality 
Action Plan and associated consultation process;

(3) Approves a capital expenditure of £128,225 to be financed from 
borrowing, on the following: 

a. The purchase of new air quality monitoring equipment at 
Southampton Road, Eastleigh

b. The purchase and the relocation of new air quality 
monitoring equipment at Steele Close, Eastleigh

c. The purchase of new air quality monitoring equipment 
and installation of a new continuous monitoring site at 
Hamble Lane/ A27 Bursledon

d. The purchase and relocation of new air quality 
monitoring equipment at The Point, Leigh Road, 
Eastleigh

(4) Approves revenue growth of £24,320 to the Air Quality revenue 
maintenance budget; and

(5) Approves the revenue growth of £15,000 for borrowing costs of 
£15,000.

(NOTE: One member of the public spoke on this item outlining the 
significant impact poor air quality has on their quality of life as an 
asthmatic living on Southampton Road.)

47. PARKING POLICY AND VIRTUAL PERMITS

Issue

4



3

A number of recent changes to parking have highlighted the need for the 
Council to produce a comprehensive Parking Policy (paper 7).

Consideration

The proposed Policy brings together local and borough-wide approaches 
to Parking Policy and enforcement practice. It is proposed that from 
September 2019 the Council will begin transitioning households onto a 
Virtual Permit system for their Residential parking permits. In order to 
facilitate these changes the Council will need to consult on a revised 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO).

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves:

(1) the implementation of the Parking Policy; and
(2) moving forward with virtual permits including updating the 

Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to reflect the position.

48. PROJECT BRIEF FOR DEVELOPMENT WEST OF HORTON HEATH

Issue

This report seeks approval of a Project Brief for land west of Horton Heath 
which is owned by the Council and subject to development plans for new 
homes and associated infrastructure (paper 8).

Consideration

The Brief will confirm the direction of travel or ‘roadmap’ for the Council’s 
development team responsible for the planning, design and 
implementation of the Council’s aspirations for the land as landowner.  The 
proposals set out are subject to gaining planning approval.  The Brief has 
no planning or policy status with regards to the Council’s role as local 
planning authority.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves the Project Brief for development land west of 
Horton Heath to provide direction to the Council’s development 
project team.

The Leader thanked the Horton Heath project team for their work to date 
and particularly Emily Howbrook, Housing Strategic Lead, for her work to 
secure the Government funding.

49. POLICY FOR DISPOSAL OF PUBLIC OPEN SPACE

Issue

5



4

This report addresses the need for a clearer, up-to-date policy to guide 
officers in dealing with disposal of public open space to private individuals 
(paper 9).

Consideration

The existing policy guidance (Appendix 2) approved at Cabinet on 6 
December 2001 requires updating to reflect the current Corporate 
structure including changes to job titles, roles and responsibilities.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves the adoption of the updates to the existing 
policy guidance contained in Appendix 1 to reflect the current 
Corporate Structure and Scheme of Delegations. 

50. EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL'S RESPONSE TO HAMPSHIRE 
COUNTY COUNCIL'S BUDGET CONSULTATION

Issue

Hampshire County Council (HCC) is consulting publicly on the options for 
finding c£80m savings for 2020/21. The Council’s proposed response is 
attached at Appendix 1 (paper 10).

Consideration

HCC is consulting publicly on the options for finding around £80m savings 
for 2020/21 (in addition to savings of £480m already found over the last 11 
years from sharing and selling services, charges for services, and 
procurement).  The consultation runs from 5 June 2019 to 17 July 2019. 
Full details are available online.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet approves the Council’s response to Hampshire County 
Council’s ‘Balancing the Budget’ consultation at Appendix 1, with the 
inclusion of a comment to reflect that there was not an opportunity 
for those responding to say that they did not agree with the 
proposals.

51. CORPORATE PERFORMANCE & FINANCIAL MONITORING

Issue

6



5

This report presents the Council’s quarterly financial and performance 
position for the first quarter of 2019/20 and pulls out significant and 
emerging financial and performance issues (paper 11).

Consideration

The financial monitoring for the first quarter of 2019 is projecting 
favourable variances totalling £94,000 for 2019/20.  The Community 
Investment Programme budget for 2019/20 is £93.2m of which £3.75m 
had been spent as at 26 June 2019, as highlighted in appendix 3.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet notes the performance and financial position of the 
Council in Q1.

52. COUNCILLORS ALLOWANCES - ACTUAL AMOUNTS PAID 2018/19

Issue

The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) Regulations 2003 require 
that every authority publicise, within its area, the sum paid by it in that year 
under the scheme to each Councillor and co-opted councillor in respect of 
basic allowance, special responsibility allowance, dependents' carers 
allowance, travelling and subsistence allowance (paper 12).

Consideration

This report provides the details of these allowances paid in the year 
2018/2019.

RESOLVED – 

That Cabinet notes the allowances paid in 2018/2019 contained in 
Appendix A to this report subject to any necessary amendments.

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

53. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.

54. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2019 be agreed as a 
correct record.

7



6

55. EXEMPT BUSINESS

RESOLVED -

(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and

(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 
interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption.

56. CIP SCHEMES APPROVAL

Issue

To consider a CIP scheme (paper 14).

Consideration

The report set out matters relating to a CIP scheme.

RESOLVED – 

That the recommendation in the report be approved.

M6423

8



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL

22 October 2019

CABINET 
24 October 2019

COUNCIL 
7 November 2019

CLIMATE AND ENVIRONMENTAL EMERGENCY STRATEGY AND 
ACTION PLAN

Report of the Strategic Lead for Environment

Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel:

(1) note the contents of this report and make recommendations to Cabinet as 
appropriate.

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(2) note the content of this report and make recommendations to Council as 
appropriate

It is recommended that Council:

(3) Approve the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Strategy 

(4) Approve the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Action Plan

Summary

On the 18 July 2019 the Council unanimously declared a Climate Change and 
Environmental Emergency.  The approved motion was as follows:

Eastleigh Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change; throughout the 
life of its current Climate Change Strategy the Council has installed thousands of kWh of 
renewable energy, supported residents and community groups to reduce their greenhouse 
gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked with partners to improve the resilience of 
the Borough.
 

9

Agenda Item 4



Eastleigh Borough Council

Council reaffirms its existing commitment by joining other local authorities and institutions 
in declaring a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  In doing so it agrees to:

a)   put in place measures to ensure that the Council’s own operations and functions 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2025,

b)   work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough to 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2030,

c)   ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as one of 
the primary considerations,

d)   recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council,

e)   establish a cross-party working group to develop a plan for how the Borough of 
Eastleigh could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 
                 i.         to be chaired by the Cabinet Lead for the Environment and to include 
representatives from within the local community and businesses,
                 ii.        to report to Council within six months with a new Climate Change 
Strategy alongside immediate actions the Council will take to address this emergency,
                 iii.       to be followed by a detailed Action Plan to be developed to include 
reporting requirements and assessment of the associated resource implications; and

f)    include all of the recommendations above in a revised Climate Change Strategy to be 
completed and approved by Council in 2019/20.

This report sets out progress to date, baseline assessment and the strategy that the 
Council is taking to meet these targets.

Statutory Powers

Local Government Act 2001

Strategic Implications 

1. Climate change and negative environmental impacts are the biggest challenge 
facing the long-term future of residents and businesses of Eastleigh.  There is 
a direct link to all areas of the Corporate Plan.  The achievement of the Action 
Plan appended to this report will directly support the Council’s environmental 
objectives such as tackling congestion and creating an excellent environment 
for all.  Responding to the Climate Emergency is critical to secure the long-
term health and wellbeing for residents and the local economy. 

Introduction

2. Climate change is widely considered to be the greatest threat to global health 
in the 21st century.  In response to the October 2018 Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change (IPCC) report stating that there was less than 12 years to 
respond to this emergency a cross-party motion was unanimously agreed at 
the 18 July 2019 Full Council to address the issue locally.  

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

3. The declaration sets out the Council’s aim to be carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
support communities and businesses across the Borough to achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2030.

4. This report sets out progress to date, the Council’s Strategy for responding to 
the Climate and Environmental Emergency alongside an interim action plan.

Progress to date

5. The Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change and was 
awarded Beacon Status for its efforts in 2008. Building from this, over the last 
decade, the Council has installed thousands of kWh of renewable energy, 
generating over 300kWh per year, supported residents and community groups 
to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked 
with partners to improve the resilience of the Borough. During this time it has 
also supported hundreds of households to improve the efficiency of their 
homes and continued public engagement and with schools. The Council’s 
operational emissions have reduced by over 35% since 2008 and are ahead 
of the Government’s 2020 target. 

6. The Council’s 2011-2020 Climate Change Strategy expires at the end of 
December 2019; this new strategy builds upon the work over the last decade, 
taking into account new scientific information, policy developments and new 
technology to further respond to what has now become an emergency.

7. Since the unanimously approved Council motion, the cross party working 
Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Working Group (CCEEWG) 
has met five times, agreeing governance arrangements and the approach to 
be taken in developing a strategy and the approach to be taken by the 
Council.  The terms of reference for the Group have been included within 
amendments to the Constitution elsewhere on the 7 November 2019 Council 
agenda.

8. The Strategy has been drafted by the CCEEWG and is appended to this 
report for approval by councillors.

9. An initial Action Plan has been developed by CCEEWG which will be refined 
and developed over the period to 2030 to ensure carbon neutrality targets are 
achieved.

10. One of the elements of the Council motion was to ensure that consideration is 
given to climate and environmental issues during decision making.  All 
committee reports will in future contain a section titled “Climate Change and 
the Environment Implications”.  This will ensure that impacts on the 
environment are embedded within the way the Council works and takes 
decisions.  A training programme is under development for both staff and 
councillors to ensure that this is effective and will be fully implemented by April 
2020.

11



Eastleigh Borough Council

11. An internal working group has been setup, with staff from across all service 
areas. This has led a wide range of actions being put forward to respond to 
the emergency and the level of engagement is encouraging.

12. Detailed work has been carried out to assess the baseline level of emissions, 
both from Council operations and borough wide.  This is discussed in more 
detail in paragraphs 15 – 16.

13. The process of engaging with stakeholders, including residents and 
businesses, has begun, with further engagement planned throughout the term 
of the Strategy.  This includes business engagement events and also a 
resident survey.

14. A communications plan has been drafted to ensure that the Action Plan can 
be delivered and communicated to all and that the messaging will ensure 
maximum results for the achievement of the Strategy aims.

Baseline

15. The Council has a good record of tracking its own scope 1 & 2 emissions over 
several years and has been doing so as part of the previous climate change 
strategy and emission reduction targets.  The emissions stands at 1.8 ktCO2e 
for 2017/18 (latest compiled data).  Whilst this data is comprehensive it does 
not include the emissions from all areas of the Council’s activity and in 
particular the Council’s procurement activity.  An analysis of procurement 
activity has suggested that there is approximately a further 1.1 ktCO2e of 
emissions although this calculation is not as reliable.  In order to provide a 
baseline for the measurement of success it is proposed that the Council sets 
the operational target for 2025 to reduce or offset emissions by 2.9 ktCO2e. 

16. The Government produce area based CO2 emissions data. These figures 
include a broad range of data with the notable exceptions of aviation, 
shipping, military transport and lifestyle emissions.  To ensure that a prudent 
approach is taken, the Council has carried out an assessment of lifestyle and 
airport emissions and these are included within the area target.  This 
assessment has found that in order to reach Net Zero emissions by 2030 
there would need to be a borough wide reduction from 1046.1ktCO2e. This is 
based on 619.7ktCO2e Area, 378.4ktCO2e Lifestyle and 48ktCO2e Airport.  
Further detail as to how this data has been calculated can be found in 
appendix 4. 

Key Principles 

17. The following are the core principles that set out the Council’s approach to the 
climate change and Environmental strategy:

(a) All Council decisions will take into account the potential impact on 
climate change and the environment to achieve congruence with this 
strategy.

12



Eastleigh Borough Council

(b) The Council needs to take a strong approach to communications to 
increase awareness of the level of emergency;

(c) Wherever possible changes should be front loaded, the earlier 
reductions are made the better to meet global targets;

(d) As a last resort there will need to be offsetting to reach net zero 
emissions, local approaches which lead to local environmental 
improvements will be prioritised;

(e) There is a need to take the precautionary principle approach to ensure 
the Council does not do things that could have future negative 
consequences;

(f) Adaptation responses need to prioritise natural solutions first; such as 
trees for shading as opposed to physical structures;

(g) Whilst the upfront cost can be higher than “business as usual”, it is 
cheaper than the longer term costs of adapting at a later date.

Engagement

18. One of the core principles of the Strategy is that there needs to be “collective 
responsibility” for the Council, staff, residents and businesses to respond to 
the emergency.  Effective engagement is critical to ensure that stakeholders 
are engaged in the development of the strategy and the delivery of the action 
plan.

19. Since the declaration of an emergency, the Council has engaged with a wide 
range of residents, staff, businesses and key stakeholders.  Further 
engagement is planned over the coming months, both to further develop a 
more detailed action plan and to support residents and businesses to respond 
to the emergency. The engagement to date includes: 

(a) Residents survey, with over 320 responses from the public setting out 
a range of actions that they would like to see the Council carry out or 
provide 

(b) Business engagement: The Council facilitated a multi-local authority 
business engagement workshop at the Hilton Ageas, engaging with 
hundreds of business leaders.

(c) Key stakeholders: The Council has run two key stakeholder events, the 
first with a wide range of representatives from the community, lobby 
groups and businesses.  The second event focused on ecology and 
included representatives from key partners such as Natural England, 
Environment Agency, Hampshire and Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust. 

20. More than a third of area based emissions relate to residents “lifestyle” 
activities, therefore a critical element of the plan will be to develop detailed 
behavioural change programme.  Consideration is being made as to whether 

13



Eastleigh Borough Council

the Council should facilitate sessions such as ‘citizens’ assemblies’ to enable 
co-design of community responses.

Next Steps

21. The Council has committed to producing a more detailed action plan by the 
end of March 2020.  Further engagement with stakeholders will be carried out, 
alongside detailed business case development to ensure increase clarity over 
action delivery.

22. The working group will continue to meet regularly to oversee the development 
of the detailed action plan.  Once the action plan has been agreed, the 
working group will meet quarterly from March 2020 to oversee delivery of the 
actions.

Financial Implications

23. The activities set out in this report are either being carried out through existing 
allocated resources or require further investigation before funding is to be 
allocated.

24. It is clear that there will need to be significant investment for the Council to 
meet its operational Carbon Neutral target and put actions in place to support 
the borough towards reaching neutrality by 2030.  As the activities in the 
action plan are further developed detailed businesses cases, including 
sources of funding will need to be developed too. 

Risk Assessment

25. There are significant risks should the Council fail to mitigate climate change 
and ensure that the residents, businesses and the natural environment are 
able to adapt to the future climate.

Equality and Diversity Implications

26. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people in the following ways: The 
various impacts and responses to climate change are likely to 
disproportionally impact on people with protected characteristics.   

27. An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out, attached as an 
appendix to the report.  In summary the EqIA shows that care will be needed 
to ensure that actions to mitigate climate change do not lead to discrimination 
and that opportunities to reduce existing inequality are maximised. As the 
action plan is further developed there will need to be further engagement with 
key stakeholders and representatives of protected groups to ensure that 
actions are compliant and where possible reduce existing inequality

14



Eastleigh Borough Council

28. Actions linked to the review of procurement policy and increased training will 
support the Council’s efforts to eliminate modern slavery.  All activities 
considered in the action plan will need to take Modern Slavery into account.

29. Expanding upon the core equality considerations, this report sets out an 
approach for the Council to respond to the challenge of climate and 
environmental degradation to support the wellbeing of future generations.

Climate Change and the Environment Implications

30. Climate Change and the environment is relevant to the decision in this report 
as the decision relates to activities that release Greenhouse Gases, resilience 
to environmental impacts or impacting on ecology in the following ways: The 
report is setting out the Councils Strategy for reducing it’s contribution to 
climate change and negative environmental issues, providing a programme of 
activity to Carbon Neutrality from Council and a framework for borough wide 
activity.  A Sustainable Development Goals Impact Assessment (SDGIA) has 
been carried out, attached as an appendix to the report.  In summary the 
SDGIA shows that the strategy and action plan is likely to have a positive 
impact across 16 of the17 of the Sustainable Development Goals.

Conclusion

31. The Climate and Environmental Emergency presents significant risk to 
residents and businesses, this report recommends a Strategy and Action Plan 
that will enable the Council to respond effectively to this emergency. 

JASON LIGHT
STRATEGIC PLANNING LEAD FOR ENVIRONMENT

Date: 14 October 2019 
Contact Officer: Jason Light
Tel No: 023 8068 8077
e-mail: jason.light@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Seven: 

1) Council Motion, 2) Draft Strategy, 3) Interim Action 
plan, 4) Baseline assessment, 5) You Said we did, survey 
response, 6) Equality Impact Assessment, 7) 
Sustainability Impact Assessment 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers or state None.

15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

18 July 2019 

Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Council Motion

Eastleigh Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change; throughout 
the life of its current Climate Change Strategy the Council has installed thousands of 
kWh of renewable energy, supported residents and community groups to reduce 
their greenhouse gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked with partners to 
improve the resilience of the Borough.
 
Council reaffirms its existing commitment by joining other local authorities and 
institutions in declaring a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  In doing 
so it agrees to:

a)  put in place measures to ensure that the Council’s own operations and functions 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2025,

b)  work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough to 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2030,

c)  ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as one 
of the primary considerations,

d)   recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council,

e)   establish a cross-party working group to develop a plan for how the Borough of 
Eastleigh could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 

i.       to be Chaired by the Cabinet Lead for the Environment and to include 
representatives from within the local community and businesses,

ii.      to report to Council within six months with a new Climate Change 
Strategy alongside immediate actions the Council will take to address 
this emergency,

iii.     to be followed by a detailed Action Plan to be developed to include 
reporting requirements and assessment of the associated resource 
implications; and

f)   include all of the recommendations above in a revised Climate Change Strategy 
to be completed and approved by Council in 2019/20.

This report sets out progress to date, baseline assessment and the strategy that the 
Council is taking to meet these targets.

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1
Date updated 12 October 2019

Appendix 2

Climate change and Environment 
Emergency Strategy

2020 – 2030 

19



Page 2
Date updated 12 October 2019

Foreword

We recognise that climate change is a hugely important issue facing not just our residents, but also 
our environment, our wildlife and the planet.

It is clear that if action is taken now to address climate change and to halt damage to biodiversity, 
we can contribute significantly to reducing the impact of these issues locally and on a wider global 
level.

We care deeply about our environment and our wildlife and since the cross party motion at full 
council in July we have been working closely to develop this strategy and action plan. 

We must take every action possible to prevent the further effects of climate change before it is too 
late,  we believe that it is everyone’s responsibility to do whatever they can to reduce the effects of 
Climate Change and to help protect our precious planet, it’s environment and our wildlife for 
generations to come.

Any alternative is simply not an option.

Cllr Rupert Kyrle 
Liberal Democrat 
Cabinet member for 
Environment and Chair of 
the Climate change and 
Environmental Emergency 
Working Group

Cllr Gin Tidridge 
Independent Group 
member and Working 
Group Member 

Cllr Margaret Atkinson 
Conservative Group 
Leader and Working 
Group Member

20



Page 3
Date updated 12 October 2019

Introduction

The Borough Council has a long history of tackling Climate change including being 
awarded Beacon Status for its efforts in 2008. The Council’s 2011-2020 Climate 
Change Strategy expires at the end of December 2019; this new strategy builds 
upon the work over the last decade, taking into account new scientific information, 
policy developments and new technology to further respond to what has now 
become an emergency. On the 18 July 2019 the Council unanimously declared a 
Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  The approved motion was as 
follows:

Eastleigh Borough Council has a long history of tackling climate change; throughout 
the life of its current Climate Change Strategy the Council has installed thousands of 
kWh of renewable energy, supported residents and community groups to reduce 
their greenhouse gas emissions, lobbied Government and worked with partners to 
improve the resilience of the Borough.
 
Council reaffirmed its existing commitment by joining other local authorities and 
institutions in declaring a Climate Change and Environmental Emergency.  In doing 
so it agrees to:

a)   put in place measures to ensure that the Council’s own operations and functions 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2025,

b)   work with partners to aim for all projects and services delivered in the Borough 
to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030,

c)   ensure that the Council’s procurement policy recognises carbon neutrality as 
one of the primary considerations,

d)   recognise the urgency of action to mitigate and adapt to climate change in every 
decision taken by the Council,

e)   establish a cross-party working group to develop a plan for how the Borough of 
Eastleigh could achieve carbon neutrality by 2030, 
                 i.         to be Chaired by the Cabinet Lead for the Environment and to 
include representatives from within the local community and businesses,
                 ii.        to report to Council within six months with a new Climate 
Change Strategy alongside immediate actions the Council will take to address 
this emergency,
                 iii.       to be followed by a detailed Action Plan to be developed to 
include reporting requirements and assessment of the associated resource 
implications; and

f)   include all of the recommendations above in a revised Climate Change Strategy 
to be completed and approved by Council in 2019/20.

This report sets out progress to date, baseline assessment and the strategy that the 
Council is taking to meet these targets.

21



Page 4
Date updated 12 October 2019

Climate Emergency

Climate change is likely to have significant impacts on the borough, including:

 An increase in extent, depth and frequency of flooding from surface water, 
rivers and the sea due to sea level rise, storm surges and increasing intensity 
of rainfall. Although the trend is for drier summers, intense storms will also 
increase.

 Hotter summers will also lead to increased heat stress, particularly on 
vulnerable members of the community such as the elderly and on the 
environment as a whole.  With particular reference to stress on our water 
supply, tree and wildlife survival.

The UK Climate Change Act 2008 sets a statutory target to reduce UK greenhouse 
gas emissions by 80% from 1990 by 2050. In May 2019 the UK Committee on 
Climate Change recommended that the UK Government increase the statutory target 
to Net-Zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. The Government has now adopted 
this target. 

In parallel, the UK Climate Change Act established the National Adaptation 
Programme. The corresponding UK Climate Change Risk Assessment identifies 6 
priority risk areas: flooding, high temperatures, water supply shortages, natural 
capital, food production; and pest and diseases.

Environmental Decline

Climate change and other human activity is having a significant impact on the nature 
and the environment. An October 2019 State of Nature Report starkly set out the 
need for urgency to deal with environmental decline in the UK. Including the 
following headline figures:

 15 per cent of species under threat of extinction and 2 per cent of species 
have already gone for good

 Average abundance of wildlife has fallen by 13 per cent with the steepest 
losses in the last ten years 

 41 per cent of UK species studied have fallen and 133 species have already 
been lost from our shores 

 Butterflies and moths, down 17 per cent and 25 per cent respectively. 
Numbers of high brown fritillary and grayling butterflies, have fallen by more 
than three quarters 

 The average amount of mammals has fallen by 26 per cent and the wild cat 
and greater mouse-eared bat are almost extinct

22



Page 5
Date updated 12 October 2019

Key Principles 

The following are the core principles that set out the Councils approach to the 
climate change and Environmental Emergency, shaping actions to be taken forward.

All Council decisions will take into account the potential impact on Climate 
Change and the environment to achieve congruence with this strategy.

In order to appropriately respond to this emergency it is critical that all Council 
decisions take into account and respond to the potential impact that they will have on 
climate change and the environment. This will be embedded in decision making 
through updates to templates, policy, guidelines alongside a communications 
campaign and additional training. Through procurement and partnership this 
responsibility will be extended to suppliers and partners engaged in activities with the 
Council.

Need to take a prudent, proportionate and replicable approach to setting the 
baseline and understanding the impact of activities.

The Council has a good record of tracking its fleet and energy emissions (otherwise 
known as Scope 1 & 2) over several years and has been doing so as part of the 
previous climate change strategy and emission reduction targets. The emissions 
stands at 1.8 ktCO2e (All Greenhouse Gas emissions converted into Kiloton 
equivalent of Carbon Dioxide) for 2017/18 (latest compiled data). Whilst this data is 
comprehensive it does not include the emissions from all areas of the Council’s 
activity and in particular the Council’s procurement activity.  An analysis of 
procurement activity has suggested that there is approximately a further 1.1 ktCO2e 

23



Page 6
Date updated 12 October 2019

of emissions although this calculation is not as reliable.  In order to provide a 
baseline for the measurement of success it is proposed that the Council sets the 
operational target for 2025 to reduce or offset emissions by 2.9 ktCO2e. 

The Government produce area based CO2 emissions data.  These figures include a 
broad range of data with the notable exceptions of aviation, shipping, military 
transport and lifestyle emissions.  To ensure that a prudent approach is taken, the 
Council has carried out an assessment of lifestyle and airport emissions and these 
are included within the area target.  This assessment has found that in order to reach 
Net Zero emissions by 2030 there would need to be a borough wide reduction from 
1046.1ktCO2e. This is based on 619.7ktCO2e Area, 378.4ktCO2e Lifestyle and 
48ktCO2e Airport.

N.B Graph above, Solid segments are national data, hatched segments are 
estimated extrapolations from other national data sets. 

It is also critical that all forms of emissions are included and clearly communicated to 
residents and businesses leaders to ensure that they understand the various 
contributions and the required level of collective responsibility.

Need to take the precautionary principle approach

History is littered with examples of often well-meaning decisions made with 
environmentally damaging consequences, such as the rise in use of CFCs and the 
promotion of diesel vehicles increasing local air quality issues. Therefore it is critical 

24



Page 7
Date updated 12 October 2019

that decisions are made with a high degree of certainly over the full consequences. 
This approach is best defined as following the precautionary principle, which is 
enshrined in law. 

Where ever possible changes should be front loaded

The earlier reductions are made the better that will be for the environment and the 
local community. Manchester University and the Tyndall Centre produced a tool 
allowing Local Authorities to understand the area wide CO2e reductions required to 
meet the Paris Accord CO2e limit. The model which utilises UK government area 
data to calculate a CO2e “Budget” for the area indicates that at current rate of 
emissions, the entire budget to 2100 would be used up by 2027. 

An example of this approach could be for the Council to consider offsetting its 
operational emissions from year one, whilst activities are carried out to reduce 
emissions over time.

As a last resort there will need to be offsetting to reach Net Zero Emissions, 
local approaches which lead to local environmental improvements will be 
prioritised. 

It will not be possible for Council and borough wide activities to be carried out without 
causing some CO2e emissions. The Council will follow the mitigation hierarchy, with 
activities that avoid, prioritised over mitigation, restoration and then offsetting. As a 
last resort offsetting will need to be included in the approach. Local borough based 
offsetting activities will be prioritised; this will increase the benefit to local residents 
and wildlife. 

25



Page 8
Date updated 12 October 2019

Adaptation Reponses need to take a Natural solutions first approach

In order to respond to the Environmental Emergency, in particular species decline 
and local pollution nature must be a key part of climate mitigation and adaptation 
strategies. 

The Council needs to take a stronger approach to communications

A key theme throughout the consultation of this this strategy, is that the Council 
needs to prompt urgent responses by clearly setting out the brevity of the climate 
and environmental emergency. The Council will carefully consider language (such as 
using Climate Emergency/Breakdown as oppose to Climate Change). Alongside 
highlighting positive actions, the communication programme will need to support 
residents and businesses to fully understand that risks faced due to climate change. 

26



Page 9
Date updated 12 October 2019

In 2017 the Climate Change Committee reported that policies introduced internally 
by governments indicated that we are on a pathway to global temperature rise of 
between 3.3-3.9oC by the 2050’s. In 2019 the Environment Agency updated its 
advice that decision makers should plan for 4oC warming.

Resources

The upfront cost is higher than Business as Usual, but the longer term costs 
of adapting later are higher so it is cheaper to mitigate in the shorter term.

The 2008 Stern Review clearly set out the business case for urgent action on climate 
change both to mitigate and carry out activities to ensure physical adaptations are 
made to avoid much higher costs in the longer term. A whole life cost assessment 
will need to be made for decisions, particularly procurement to ensure that future 
savings are factored in.

Business cases will be developed for all activities within the action plan.  These will 
be prioritised by the Working Group and funding sought, where necessary in order to 
deliver on the strategy within agreed timescales. 

Governance

This strategy will be overseen by a Climate Change and Environment Working 
Group. This will act as the main Programme Board for activities across the 
organisation. The working group will meet quarterly to review the process of actions. 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 1

Appendix 3

Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Interim Action Plan - November 2019

Activities relating to Council Operations

No Theme Activity Action Impact Timescale
1 Communicati

ons
Behavioural 
Change 
Programme

Launch of a climate/environmental behavioural change 
programme for staff.

Support wider Council improvements. Programme to Launch 
in January 2020.

2 Ecology Carbon 
Sequestration 
Schemes

Work in partnership to develop proposals for large 
scale habitat creation projects and funding to deliver 
scheme that can sequester carbon and deal with 
Nitrate issues. 

Localised Carbon offsetting, habitat creation 
and reducing localised Nitrate issues.

First proposals by 
March 2020.

3 Ecology Monitoring 
ecological 
mitigation 
actions.

Review funding made available through planning 
conditions, including ensuring that it can allow the 
commissioning of independent monitoring of planning 
applications as a condition of approval.

To assess the impact of adopted mitigation 
measures on biodiversity through independent 
monitoring.

Review to be completed 
by March 2020.

4 Ecology Trees Development of a strategy to ensure that there is 
effective protection of existing trees through the use of 
TPO’s and effective enforcement, tree planting/ 
replacement programme including maintenance regime 
for tree stock across the borough. 

A robust tree planting programme will support 
habitat creation and offsetting.

By March 2020.

5 Ecology Trees Exploring the development of locally grown trees and 
plant stock with consideration of a peat free Council 
tree and plant stock nursery.

Early planting of trees reducing the cost and 
carbon footprint importing mature trees to 
improve coverage across the borough.

Business case 
developed by 
September 2020.

6 Ecology Wildflowers Introduction of more wildflower areas across the 
borough, including mixture between ornamental/native 
wildflowers and areas which are left with minimal 
maintenance to increase bio-diversity.

Reduction in operational emissions and 
increased areas for bio diversity.

Plan developed by April 
2020.

7 Energy Additional 
Renewables

Review previous Solar businesses cases, including the 
potential for installing large scale schemes

Increased local renewables will reduce demand 
for Fossil fuel power.

Business cases currently 
under review, 
completion by March 
2020.

29



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 2

8 Energy Asset 
Management

Develop plan for improving energy efficiency and 
sustainability for operational buildings.   

Improve environmental performance 
throughout whole life cycle of operational 
buildings

Report by end April 
2020.

9 Energy Green Energy 
Supply

All Council purchases of electricity will be Green. Utilising purchasing power to shift the UK 
power supply to renewable energy, reducing 
GHG emissions nationally.

100% Green Electricity 
by April 2020.

10 Energy Green Gas 
Supply

Investigate the potential for the Council to move to a 
Green gas supplier.

Utilising purchasing power to shift the UK 
power supply to renewable energy, reducing 
GHG emissions nationally.

Investigation by April 
2020

11 Offsetting CarbonFREE Investigate the use of a Carbon Trust accredited 
scheme to immediately offset the Councils emissions. 
Then develop a plan to locally offset the Council’s 
operational and outsourced emissions, including from 
energy consumption and Council development projects

Ensure that Council responds to its emissions 
whilst work is carried out to reduce the impact 
of operations.

Initial offsetting 
proposal by November 
2019, local scheme 
developed by 
September 2020.

12 Procurement Review existing 
procurement

Detailed appraisal of the Council’s procurement to 
identify opportunities to reduce the impact of spend

Council procurement is estimated to equate to 
a third of the Councils emissions. 

Updated Procurement 
Policy and guidance by 
April 2020.

13 Resources/St
reetscene

Grey water for 
road sweepers

Investigating potential to move to grey water 
harvesting for use in mechanical and compact sweepers

Reduction in operational emissions, 
improvement in air quality and reduction in 
water consumption

Investigation completed 
by June 2020.

14 Streetscene Hand Held 
Electrical 
Equipment

All hand held petrol driven Streetscene equipment will 
transition to Electric, 50 separate items of equipment 
by 2021. 

Reduction in GHG emissions and decrease in 
local air pollution.

By end 2021

15 Training Staff training 
programme

Development and delivery of a comprehensive training 
programme to support all staff and Councillors to 
embed Climate and Environmental considerations into 
all decisions.

Improved decision making will lead to positive 
impacts across the board.

Programme to begin in 
December 2019.

16 Transport Council Fleet Develop an action plan to transition the Streetscene 
fleet to Electric or Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) 
by 2025.  

Moving to electric fleet will contribute to 
improvement in local air quality issues and 
lower operational and area wide emissions.

Plan by April 2020.

17 Waste Anaerobic 
Digestion

Eastleigh is the only Council in Hampshire to collect 
food waste; a business proposal will be developed for 
building an anaerobic digestion facility within the 
borough.

This activity will reduce council vehicle 
movements and facilitate further uptake of 
food waste across Hampshire.

Study to be completed 
by June 2020.  

18 Waste Facilities Develop a waste management plan for the Council’s Waste reduction, recycling and responsible Plan completed by June 

30



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 3

Management estate. waste management. 2020.

31



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 4

Activities relating to the borough wide targets

No Theme Activity Action Impact Timescale
19 Communications Business 

engagement 
programme

Development of a climate / environmental behavioural 
change programme for businesses and local employees

Lowering business emissions from the 
business sector.

Programme to Launch 
in September 2020.

20 Communications Public Reward 
scheme

Working with Southern Water to launch a pilot of the 
Green Redeem, positive environmental behaviour 
reward scheme

Reduction in water consumption, alongside 
other positive environmental behaviour.

Pilot area to launch by 
January 2020.

21 Communications Residents 
engagement

Launch of a climate/environmental behavioural change 
programme for residents with the community 
engagement. 

Lowering lifestyle emissions across the 
borough.

Programme to Launch 
in January 2020.

22 Communications Partner 
organisation 
engagement

Working with partners, including parish, county and 
neighbouring councils, to encourage positive 
environmental behaviour.

To support the ambitions of Eastleigh Borough 
Council.

Programme to Launch 
in June 2020.

23 Energy Green Lease 
Clauses

Development and phasing in Green Clauses into the 
Councils rental leases.

Improve environmental performance of 
buildings throughout whole life cycle of 
buildings by working collaboratively with 
occupiers/businesses

New Clauses to begin 
introduction by April 
2020.

24 Ecology Establish 
ecological 
baseline

In partnership with key bodies, establish an ecological 
baseline for the borough.

Enable the Council to measure the impact of 
activities.

By mid 2020.

25 Ecology Produce a 
Biodiversity 
Strategy and 
Action Plan

Creation of a comprehensive Biodiversity strategy and 
action plan which will identify responses to species at 
risk.  This will supersede the less broad Biodiversity 
Action plan and sit alongside the other Climate and 
Environmental sub strategies.

Strategy and Plan will provide a coherent long-
term response to environmental degradation. 

Consultation by end 
2020.

26 Environmental Pollution 
Strategy

Development of a Pollution Strategy, including 
Noise/Nuisance, Dust, land and overarching the Air 
Quality plan which will be completed by March 2020. 

Reduction in local pollution issues. Strategy by September 
2020.

27 Offsetting Relaunch 
CarbonFREE

Relaunch of the Councils CarbonFREE programme to 
facilitate Businesses and Residents to locally offset their 
emissions

Local offsetting programme will support 
further mitigation and adaptation aims.

By September 2020.

28 Planning Supplementary 
Planning 

Developing Council Supplementary Policy Documents 
(SPD)s relating to biodiversity and environment net 

Policies will support Environmental and 
Climate mitigation/adaptation improvements.

First policies by mid 
2020.

32



Date updated 12 October 2019 Page 5

Policies gain,  Efficiency of development sites, Climate 
Adaptation and strengthening the councils position on 
tree replacement planting including numbers, species 
and sizes of trees

29 Resilience Assessment of 
resilience to 
climate impacts

Carry out a Social Justice and Climate Change 
assessment of the borough to increase the level of 
understanding of residents’ exposure and potential 
responses to future climate impacts.

Improved resilience to future climate impacts. Assessment carried 
out by end September 
2020.

30 Transport Business 
transport

Develop a plan to increase take-up of zero carbon “last 
mile” sustainable delivery services used by local 
businesses. Increasing the number of final deliveries 
from distribution centres to businesses and from 
businesses to local customers that are made by zero 
emission transport.

Work with local transport organisation to 
expand scheme into Eastleigh to reduce local 
fuel consumption and improve air quality.

Plan by September 
2020.

31 Transport Electric Vehicle 
Charging

Install further public electric vehicle charging points in 
the borough.

Supporting businesses and residents to move 
to electric vehicles will lead to a reduction in 
local and national pollution.

The first rapid charger 
will be installed by 
April 2020.

32 Transport Sustainable 
Transport 
Strategy

Development of a Sustainable Transport Strategy to 
include the Council’s approach for Public Transport, 
Travel Plans, Commercial Fleet, Taxis, Low Emission 
vehicles, Cycling and Walking, which will then inform 
the action plan.

To reduce fuel consumption and air quality 
issues in the area, through modal shift to 
more sustainable travel.

Cycling and Walking 
element of the 
strategy completed by 
June 2020. Overall 
strategy by June 2021.

33 Waste Commercial 
Food Waste 
Collections

Council to assess the potential and develop a plan to 
introduce food waste collections for businesses in the 
borough

Reduction of waste to incineration, creation of 
green gas from waste.

Plan development 
during 20/21.

34 Waste Waste Strategy Develop a strategy to reduce waste and improve 
recycling throughout the Borough.  To include domestic 
and commercial activities.

Waste reduction, recycling and responsible 
waste management.

By August 2020.

33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4

Methodology and baseline assessment of Greenhouse Gases attributed to 
Council Operations and the wider Borough of Eastleigh

This document is intended as a technical background report setting out the 
methodology and subsequent baseline chosen to support the Councils response to 
the Climate Change and Environmental Emergency. 

Whilst most of the data and numbers around CO2 emissions in this document are 
based on sound and reliable sources, it has been necessary to use some that it is 
harder to validate. This data and the subsequent extrapolations should be viewed 
with some caution.

CO2 Emissions Baseline

For the purposes of reducing CO2 in the Eastleigh Borough Council strategy, the 
baseline CO2 emissions are essentially split into two broad areas:

 Emissions related to the operations of Eastleigh Borough Council’s own 
operations

 Emissions for the area of Eastleigh Borough as a whole

Emissions from the Council’s Own Operations

The Council has a good record of tracking its own emissions over several years and 
has been doing so as part of the previous strategy and emission reduction targets. 
This stands at 1.8 ktCO2e for 2017/181. The summary is included in Table 1 (see 
Appendix 1). Whilst this is pretty comprehensive it does not include the emissions 
from some of the other areas of the council’s activity and in particular its 
procurement activity. An analysis of procurement activity by council officers has 
shown that there is approximately a further 1.1 ktCO2 that could be attributed to this 
area, but further work is required to understand the accuracy of the emissions from 
procurement activity, due to the method of calculation.

Emissions for the whole borough of Eastleigh

Government via the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory compiles data for 
CO2 emissions. This includes a broad range of data with the notable exceptions of 
aviation, shipping and military transport, as there is no obvious way to allocate these 
to local areas. Given the complexity of the data sets it takes some time to compile 
and therefore there is always a time lag to the most recent set of data, currently this 
is for 2017.

There are two subsets of this data which are of particular interest. These are a full 
data set and a more refined set which is those emissions considered to be under the 
influence of actions by a local authority. The latter further excludes data from large 
industrial processes (of which there are currently none in Eastleigh anyway), 

1 Due to the complicated nature of calculating CO2 emissions at large scale the last full year currently 
available for comparison is 2017, therefore for comparison in this document this years emissions will 
be used across all measurements.

35



motorways, diesel rail transport and LULUCF (Land Use, Land Use Change and 
Forestry), both are split into three broad categories of Industrial & Commercial, 
Transport and Residential.

Table 2 includes the most recent set of the “full” and “local authority” data sets. 

Table 2: National Published CO2 Emissions Data for Eastleigh Borough, 2017

ktCO2
Industrial & 
Commercial

Transport Residential Total

Full Data Set 138.3 305.6 175.8 619.7
LA Data Set 138.0 115.4 175.8 429.2
Difference 0.3 190.2 0.00 190.5

As with the Council’s own emissions there are still some notable omissions. This 
data set does not reflect those emissions that would be regarded as lifestyle choices 
e.g. diet, retail consumption patterns etc, in a manner that can be directly attributed 
to Eastleigh Borough.

The average person’s carbon footprint in the UK is around 5.8 tonnes per year2. Of 
this around half is related to domestic fuels, and transport, the remainder is related to 
other lifestyle choices. Therefore, if you were to take this average at face value, 
almost-half3 is included in the national data, but the remainder isn’t directly counted. 
For Eastleigh with a current population of 130,4984 individuals this represents in the 
region of a further 378 ktCO2.

This is further complicated by the fact that some of this lifestyle choice is accounted 
for elsewhere in the carbon calculations of other areas, as production of goods etc. 
will appear in their industrial and commercial calculations.

Data which is specifically omitted from the national data includes aviation, shipping 
and military transport. For Eastleigh, shipping and military transport are of minimal 
direct impact however aviation from Southampton International Airport is not 
included.

In 2011 it was calculated that Southampton Airport’s emissions from flights5 were 
around 42 ktCO2 (this source has not been updated more recently). By adjusting for 
growth in passenger numbers6 this would now be around 48 ktCO2 in 2017 / 18. 
Note: By adjusting this for number of flights7 this would show a decrease in total 
emissions to around 36 ktCO2.

2 http://www.globalcarbonatlas.org/en/CO2-emissions 
3 Aviation is included in the average CO2 footprint but excluded from the national data
4 https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/facts-figures/population/estimates-forecasts
5 http://www.awsw.co.uk/allco2/SOU_co2.html
6 2011 passenger numbers were 1,743,676 in 2017 and 2018 they were reported to be over 2 million - 
https://www.southamptonairport.com/news/news-press/southampton-airport-once-again-tops-two-
million-passengers/
7 2011 flights 45, 700, 2018 flights 39,651 – data from Civil Aviation Authority

36

http://www.globalcarbonatlas.org/en/CO2-emissions
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/facts-figures/population/estimates-forecasts
http://www.awsw.co.uk/allco2/SOU_co2.html
https://www.southamptonairport.com/news/news-press/southampton-airport-once-again-tops-two-million-passengers/
https://www.southamptonairport.com/news/news-press/southampton-airport-once-again-tops-two-million-passengers/


There are some obvious caveats that must come with calculating these figures for 
aviation.

 Source data has not been verified.
 The increase in emissions does not factor in changes to aircraft which will 

have improved fuel efficiency and have lowered emissions during that period.
 Not all the passengers travelling are residents of the borough, but as with 

other travel data sets this is also a factor i.e. cars driving through the borough 
are not necessarily driven by residents of it.

 Lifestyle data (see above) includes an average calculation for aviation, and 
therefore there is potentially some double counting of emissions where 
passengers are residents of Eastleigh who are flying from the airport but 
conversely the lifestyle calculation considers all flights regardless of origin. 

 The 2011 figures and proxy 2017 / 18 figures do not include other flights e.g. 
freight, so the number may be higher.

It is also worthy of noting that the airport has made significant carbon savings from 
its own operations in recent years and these will be reflected in the industrial figures 
at a point in the future, when that data becomes available.

Grand Total

Table 3 gives the summary of these 
figures, and the caveats over data, and 
proxy calculations should be noted. Many 
of these emissions sources, particularly the 
lifestyle areas are beyond the direct control 
of the Borough Council, but there is some 
anecdotal evidence that residents would 
welcome help and support in lowering their 
emissions – they are willing to try, they just 
don’t know how. To what extent this would 
extend to changing their behaviour patterns 
and the way they live is unclear, but worthy 
of further work / research to understand.

Table 3: Grand Total of Eastleigh Borough Area Emissions

Data Set ktCO2
National Data Set 619.7
Lifestyle Emissions 378.4
Airport 48.0 (36)
Total 1046.1 (1034.1)

37



Appendix 1: Eastleigh Borough Council Greenhouse Gas Reporting
EBC Green House Gas Reporting

Weather Corrected (WC) No

Year 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e tCO2e

Scope 1 Gas 989.36 1084.11 916.80 935.16 794.47 866.07 615.17 660.08 687.53 674.13 572.78 672.07
Oil 28.66 37.92 30.67 28.98 10.47 19.85 11.42 5.08 3.80 3.80 3.80 3.80
Fuel 1017.49 1025.84 1083.13 1024.01 1021.25 1012.76 1043.30 1061.09 1004.54 1111.70 1002.13 1098.26
Total 2035.50 2147.87 2030.59 1988.15 1826.19 1898.67 1669.89 1726.25 1695.87 1789.64 1578.71 1774.14

Scope 2 Electricity 741.74 736.54 675.39 702.21 657.02 821.22 901.01 984.26 880.35 782.82 639.50 452.77
Street Lighting (HCC) 43.38 27.73 21.84 18.98 15.02
Gas (Heat) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Water 10.88 11.51 3.35 11.07 11.46 11.84 11.95 16.22 15.42 14.56 15.56 16.43
Total 752.63 748.06 678.75 713.28 668.48 833.06 912.96 1043.86 923.50 819.22 674.05 484.22

Scope 3 Business Travel 104.26 90.35 85.34 71.28 73.28 65.45 57.36 52.25 45.88 39.02 19.76 34.65
Total 104.26 90.35 85.34 71.28 73.28 65.45 57.36 52.25 45.88 39.02 19.76 34.65

Total Gross emissions 2892.39 2986.28 2794.68 2772.71 2567.95 2797.18 2640.20 2822.37 2665.25 2647.88 2272.53 2293.00
Yearly Change 3.25% -6.42% -0.79% -7.38% 8.93% -5.61% 6.90% -5.57% -0.65% -14.18% 0.90%
Against Base Year 3.25% -3.38% -4.14% -11.22% -3.29% -8.72% -2.42% -7.85% -8.45% -21.43% -20.72%

Credits Green Tariff (382.57) (422.55) (527.58) (595.87) (506.39) (468.67) (389.98) (271.70)
PV Export Only (19.88) (42.72) (61.94) (99.90) (92.65) (80.77) (60.29) (60.88)
Total (402.46) (465.26) (589.52) (695.78) (599.04) (549.44) (450.27) (332.58)

Total Net emissions 2892.39 2986.28 2794.68 2772.71 2165.50 2331.92 2050.68 2126.59 2066.21 2098.44 1822.25 1960.42
Yearly Change 3.25% -6.42% -0.79% -21.90% 7.69% -12.06% 3.70% -2.84% 1.56% -13.16% 7.58%
Against Base Year 3.25% -3.38% -4.14% -25.13% -19.38% -29.10% -26.48% -28.56% -27.45% -37.00% -32.22%

Out of Scope Biomass 3.30 13.19 11.51 8.67 4.45 14.72 9.81
Total 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.30 13.19 11.51 8.67 4.45 14.72 9.81

Intensity FT Equivalent Employees 483 458 473 448 425 444
tCO2e per FTE 4.25 4.64 4.37 4.68 4.29 4.42

Income £m 66.30 73.20 69.00 70.20 68.30 59.92 85.91 69.00
tCO2e per £m income 43.63 31.86 29.72 30.29 30.25 35.02 21.21 28.41

38



Table 1: Eastleigh Borough Council CO2 Emissions from its own operations

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5

You said: We did

Introduction

Engagement and co-design between the Council, residents and local businesses is 
critical for there to be an effective collective response to the Climate and 
Environmental Emergency. This document sets out the engagement approach to 
date, summarises responses received and identifies where the council has been 
able to swiftly develop a response.

At the beginning of September a simple resident’s survey was circulated through 
Council channels, receiving over 300 responses. In addition to this a two key 
stakeholder events have been held and the Council engaged with hundreds of 
businesses at an event in October. 

This document only highlights linkages between engagement to-date and the initial 
Interim Action plan. Work is still being carried out to consider proposals relating to all 
suggestions put forward. As this work is under development the Council is not 
currently in a position to include them all in the initial plan, they are likely to feature in 
the more detailed plan to be produced in March 2020. 

Summary of Residents Responses

Theme
Number of 
comments Council response through actions In the plan

Biodiversity   
Advice 3 19,21 & 22 Communications
Policy 5 25 Strategy & 28 Planning policies

Rewilding 5 25 Strategy & 28 Planning policies

Trees 19
5,6  Trees, 11 Offsetting, 25 Strategy & 28 
Planning policies

Wild Flowers 10
6 Wildflowers, 25 Strategy & 28 Planning 
policies

Wildlife 19

2 Carbon Sequestration, 5,6  Trees, 6 
Wildflowers, 11 Offsetting, 25 Strategy & 28 
Planning policies

Climate Change   
Education 5 19,21 & 22 Communications

Engagement 4 19,21 & 22 Communications
Help 1 19,21 & 22 Communications & 29 Resilience

Other 10 No Current Response
Policy 4 12 Procurement & Strategy

Population 1 No Current Response

41



Council   
Asset 1 8 Asset Management

Finance 1 No Current Response
Fuel 1 13,14 Streetscene & 16 Council Fleet

Green Supply 1 9, 10 Green Energy Supply
Reduction 4 8 Asset Management

Renewables 1 7 Additional Renewables
Energy   

Green Supply 6 9, 10 Green Energy Supply
Insulation 3 11 Offsetting

Policy 1 12 Procurement & Strategy
Reduction 4 28 Supplementary Planning Policies

Renewables 13
7 Additional Renewables & 29 Supplementary 
Planning Policies

Social Housing 1 28 Supplementary Planning Policies
Food   

Allotments 9 No Current Response
Local Shops 4 No Current Response

Other 2 No Current Response
Vegetable Diet 9 21 Residents Engagement

General   
Advice 42 19,21 & 22 Communications

Comment 3 19,21 & 22 Communications
Education 1 19,21 & 22 Communications
Incentives 61 20 Public Reward Scheme

Other 1 19,21 & 22 Communications
Partners 1 12 Procurement & 22 Partner Engagement 

Penalties 1 No Current Response
People 1 19,21 & 22 Communications

Research 1 24, 25 Ecology & 29 Resilience
Planning   

Cycling & Walking 1
28 Supplementary Planning Policies & 32 
Sustainable Transport Policy

Energy 1 28 Supplementary Planning Policies
Local Plan 39 28 Supplementary Planning Policies

Policy 20 28 Supplementary Planning Policies

Transport 1
28 Supplementary Planning Policies & 32 
Sustainable Transport Policy

Pollution   

Air Pollution 4
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

42



Fly-Tipping 4
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Litter 10
19,21 & 22 Communications & 34 Waste 
Strategy

Noise 1
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Wood Fires 2
19,21 & 22 Communications & 27 Pollution 
Strategy

Transport   

Air Travel 14
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Business 1
30 Business Transport, 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Car Share 1
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Congestion Charge 1 32 Sustainable Transport Policy

Cycling & Walking 54
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

eBikes 1
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

EVs 39 31 EV Charging
Park and ride 1 No Current Response

Parking 3 No Current Response

Public Transport 76
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Roads 7
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Traffic 11
21 Residents Engagement & 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Waste & Recycling   
Education 15 21 Residents Engagement & 34 Waste Strategy

Policy 1 34 Waste Strategy

Prevention 31 21 Residents Engagement 7 34 Waste Strategy
Recycling 111 22 Residents Engagement 7 34 Waste Strategy

Water   
Reduction 4 20 Public Reward Scheme

43



Summary of Business Responses

Theme
Number of 
comments Council response through actions In the plan

Biodiversity   

Trees 2
5,6  Trees, 11 Offsetting, 25 Strategy & 28 
Planning policies

Business   
Investment 1 No Current Response

Procurement 1 12 Procurement
Climate Change   

Engagement 5 19,21 & 22 Communications
Policy 2 12 Procurement & Strategy

Council   
Advice 3 19,21 & 22 Communications

EVs 1 31 EV Charging
Policy 1 12 Procurement & Strategy

Energy   
District Heating 1 No Current Response

Green Supply 1 9, 10 Green Energy Supply
Insulation 1 23 Green Leases
Reduction 3 23 Green Leases

Renewables 7 23 Green Leases
Food   

Vegetable Diet 1 19,21 & 22 Communications
Planning   

Local Plan 1 28 Supplementary Policies
Policy 4 29 Supplementary Policies

Pollution   
Air Quality 1 26 Pollution Strategy

Transport   
Cycling & Walking 2 32 Sustainable Transport Policy

EVs 3 31 EV Charging
Public Transport 2 32 Sustainable Transport Policy

Traffic 1
30 Business Transport, 32 Sustainable 
Transport Policy

Waste & Recycling   
Prevention 5 34 Waste Strategy

Recycling 6
33 Commercial Food Waste & 34 Waste 
Strategy

Waste 1
33 Commercial Food Waste & 34 Waste 
Strategy

Water   
Reduction 1 20 Public Reward Scheme

44



Appendix 6
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

Title of EqIA: Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan

Brief description of  
the Proposal:

Climate change and Environmental degradation are the two 
biggest threats facing the Health and Wellbeing of humanity. This 
report sets out the Councils approach to responding to the 
emergency, by measuring the local contribution to the matter and 
developing responses to reduce this contribution and respond to 
the impacts.

For all of categories below please consider:
1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination?
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it?

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people with 
protected characteristics. 

Age: The strategy and plan is focused activities that limit the 
environmental decline for young people and future generations. 
Impacts of climate change are considered to disproportionally 
impact older people/very young people, particularly those with 
pre-existing health issues. Fuel reduction activities such as those 
targeted at eliminating Fuel Poverty are likely to specifically 
improve the lives of older people in this characteristic. 

Disability: The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group, however as actions are developed 
consideration will need to be made, particularly around transport 
and design of homes. 

Gender: The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group. 

Gender reassignment: The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 

45



on this characteristic group.

Pregnancy and 
Maternity:

The actions in the plan do not currently have a direct local impact 
on this characteristic group. More broadly research is emerging 
identifying the negative impact that heatwaves and pollution 
issues such as poor air quality have on pregnant women and 
their unborn children. 

Race: Activities are unlikely to locally impact on people based on this 
characteristic group, although effort will be needed to ensure that 
the group is represented in the co-design of actions and 
consultation. Responding to the Climate emergency is intended 
to reduce severe weather impacting humans across the globe, 
limiting the rise in the health and wellbeing issues due to extreme 
weather, particularly populations in the southern hemisphere. 
This is also critical as research is emerging identifying a 
correlation between recent extreme weather events (Particularly 
those causing water shortages) and conflict and mass migration. 

Religion or belief: At present no activities set out in the strategy and action plan are 
considered to have a specific impact on people due to religion or 
belief. Consideration of religious beliefs will need to be made 
when discussing the Carbon Intensity of diet and a move away 
from meat consumption.

Sexual Orientation: At present no activities set out in the strategy and action plan will 
have a specific impact on this characteristic.

Marriage and civil 
partnership:

At present no activities set out in the strategy and action plan will 
have a specific impact on this characteristic.

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
experiencing social deprivation.

Social deprivation: Areas of deprivation are often those most exposed to the impact 
of severe weather, both due to geographic location and lower 
financial capacity to respond and recover from incidents. A local 
social justice and climate change assessment will need to be 
carried out to identify the exposure of people in social deprivation 
to severe weather and what actions can be taken.

46



What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out?

Public and Business consultation has been carried out, further 
consultation will be carried out as the work programme is 
developed, this will include consulting with stakeholder groups 
such as One Community and potentially setting up “citizen” 
groups representative of the borough. 

What could reduce any 
adverse impact on 
these groups?

The activities themselves are aimed at dealing with issues that 
could lead to adverse impacts. Careful consideration will need to 
be made for all future actions to ensure that they do not 
adversely impact upon characteristic groups.

Action Plan 

Activity Outcome Timeframe Person responsible

Local Social Justice 
and climate change 
assessment

Identify exposure of 
people in deprivation 
to severe weather 
and develop 
responses.

Completed during 
20/21.

Head of Environment

Lead Officer: Jason Light

Manager: Sarah King

Date completed; 10 October 2019

47



This page is intentionally left blank



Decription

Eastleigh Borough Council declared a climate and environmental emergency on the 18 July 2019. This report sets out 

the Councils strategy for responding to the emergency and some interim actions.

Strategic choices 

The result reflects your current status. Now identify and prioritize the SDGs that you can take action on. Tick one or 

several of the questions you want to base your strategy on:

Which positive impacts can you strengthen even further?

Which negative impacts can you eliminate or minimize?

What is needed and who can help you to fill the knowledge gaps?

Climate and Environmental Emergency 
Strategy and Action Plan

 

Direct positive

Indirect positive

No impact

Indirect negative

Direct negative

More knowledge needed

1 3 6 7 8 11 12 13 14 15

2 4 9 10 16 17

5

Page 1 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

49



Impact Motivation

1.5 Activities around Fuel Poverty will support activities that build 

resilience to environmental, economic and social disasters. 

Impact Motivation

2.4 Sustainable food production and resilient agricultural 

practices. 

Impact Motivation

3.1 Activities around air quality have a link to the maternal 

mortality. 3.6 Sustainable Travel Strategy will have a focus on 

reducing road injuries and deaths. 3.9 Pollution strategy will have 

a focus on reducing illnesses and death from hazardous chemicals 

and pollution 

NO POVERTY
End poverty in all its forms everywhere

DIRECT POSITIVE

ZERO HUNGER
End hunger, achieve food security and improved 
nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture

INDIRECT POSITIVE

GOOD HEALTH AND WELL-BEING
Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all at 
all ages

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 2 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

50



Impact Motivation

4.7 EcoSchools programme and wider Behavioural Change 

schemes will support education for sustainable development and 

global citizenship.

Impact Motivation

5.5 The strategy and action plan has been developed in an 

inclusive manor, with women involved in the decision making 

process. Should citizens panels be taken forward every effort will 

be made to ensure that they match the demographics of 

Eastleigh and all panel members are able to equally contribute.

QUALITY EDUCATIONEnsure inclusive and equitable quality education and 
promote lifelong learning opportunities for all

GENDER EQUALITY
Achieve gender equality and empower all women and 
girls

NO IMPACT

Page 3 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

51



Impact Motivation

6.1 Water availability at Council sites means that it will be 

available for free to residents and visitors. 6.2 Adaption plans are 

likely to include activities that protect and restore water-related 

ecosystems within the borough. 6.3 Activities that reduce the level 

of water consumed through and following development and 

increase in Grey water systems will minimise the release of 

hazardous chemicals. 6.4 Water efficiency on the Council estate 

and in partnership with residents and businesses 6.5 Water 

management plans will be considered 6.B Efficiency programmes 

will Support the participation of local communities in improving 

water management.

Impact Motivation

7.1 - 7.3 The strategy include rapidly expanding Local and 

supporting national renewable energy generation. 

CLEAN WATER AND SANITATION
Ensure availability and sustainable management of 
water and sanitation for all

DIRECT POSITIVE

AFFORDABLE AND CLEAN ENERGY
Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and 
modern energy for all

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 4 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

52



Impact Motivation

8.1 Business engagement will focus on sustainable economic 

growth. 8.4 Business and Council efficiency programme will help 

improve resource efficiency in consumption and production. 8.6 

Engagement is likely to be carried out with Schools and Colleges 

which should help promote youth employment, education and 

training. 

Impact Motivation

Business Engagement schemes and the development of 

programmes to directly support local businesses around 

efficiency and environmental performance support the following 

SDGs. 9.2 Promote inclusive and sustainable industrialisation 9.4 

Upgrade all industries and infrastructures for sustainability

DECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC 
GROWTH
Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic 
growth, full and productive employment and decent 
work for all

DIRECT POSITIVE

INDUSTRY, INNOVATION AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE
Build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and 
sustainable industrialization and foster innovation

INDIRECT POSITIVE

Page 5 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

53



Impact Motivation

10.2 Public engagement through a citizens panel should promote 

universal social, economic and political inclusion. 10.4 

Consideration of Social justice, equalities and deprivation in 

conception of actions will support the adoption of fiscal and 

social policies that promote equality.

Impact Motivation

11.1 Safe and affordable housing - Council Supplementary 

Planning Documents 11.2 Affordable and sustainable transport 

systems - Sustainable Transport Policy and associated actions 

11.5 Reduce the adverse effects of natural disasters - Resilience 

and Biodiversity strategy 11.6 Reduce the environmental impact 

of cities - Renewable Energy, Pollution Strategy and Sustainable 

Transport Strategy 11.7 Provide access to safe and inclusive green 

and public spaces - Biodiversity Strategy, Tree schemes and 

adaptation responses 11.A Strong national and regional 

development planning - Planning Policies 11.B Implement policies 

for inclusion, resource efficiency and disaster risk reduction - 

Resilience and Planning Policies

REDUCED INEQUALITIES
Reduce inequality within and among countries

INDIRECT POSITIVE

SUSTAINABLE CITIES AND 
COMMUNITIES
Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, 
resilient and sustainable

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 6 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

54



Impact Motivation

I wide range of actions support the Resource SDGs, particularly 

the waste strategy, procurement and communications 

programmes. 12.2 Sustainable management and use of natural 

resources 12.3 Halve global per capita food waste - Food waste 

and communications programme 12.4 Responsible management 

of chemicals and waste - Waste Strategy and Council own Waste 

Management plan, alongside communications supports this goal. 

12.5 Substantially reduce waste generation 12.6 Encourage 

companies to adopt sustainable practices and sustainability 

reporting 12.7 Promote sustainable public procurement practices 

- Procurement Policy and training 12.8 Promote universal 

understanding of sustainable lifestyles - Communications and 

Reward scheme.

Impact Motivation

13.1 . The strategy includes activities designed to strengthen the 

borough's resilience and adaptive capacity to climate-related 

hazards and natural disasters. 13.2 Both the strategy, actions and 

policies are designed to integrate climate change measures 

throughout. 13.3 The Communications and training programme, 

alongside business and school engagement are designed to 

improve education, awareness-raising and human and 

institutional capacity on climate change mitigation, adaptation 

and impact reduction.

RESPONSIBLE PRODUCTION AND 
CONSUMPTION
Ensure sustainable consumption and production 
patterns

DIRECT POSITIVE

CLIMATE ACTION
Take urgent action to combat climate change and its 
impacts

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 7 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

55



Impact Motivation

14.1 Reduce marine pollution - Waste policy 14.2 Protect and 

restore ecosystems - Biodiversity Strategy responding to Nitrate 

Issues alongside schemes in the solent SPA. 14.5 Conserve coastal 

and marine areas - Biodiversity Strategy responding to Nitrate 

Issues alongside schemes in the solent SPA. 

Impact Motivation

Tree Policy & Biodiversity Strategy with associated schemes, 

alongside additional Supplementary Planning Policies will support 

the following objectives: 15.1 Conserve and restore terrestrial and 

freshwater ecosystems 15.2 End deforestation and restore 

degraded forests 15.3 End desertification and restore degraded 

land 15.5 Protect biodiversity and natural habitats 15.9 Integrate 

ecosystem and biodiversity in governmental planning 15.A 

Increase financial resources to conserve and sustainably use 

ecosystem and biodiversity 15.A Finance and incentivise 

sustainable forest management

LIFE BELOW WATER
Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and 
marine resources for sustainable development

DIRECT POSITIVE

LIFE ON LAND
Protect, restore and promote sustainable use of 
terrestrial ecosystems, sustainably manage forests, 
combat desertification, and halt and reverse land 
degradation and halt biodiversity loss

DIRECT POSITIVE

Page 8 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

56



Impact Motivation

16.7 Integrating Community and Business engagement with Co-

Design of actions and community engagement programme will 

ensure responsive, inclusive and representative decision-making. 

This may be further improved should the Council move forward 

with Citizens Panels or a Community Climate Change Board.

Impact Motivation

17.14 By assessing the Strategy on the SDGs the Strategy and 

action plan will enhance understanding of sustainable 

development. 17.17 The Council has been taking a pro-active 

approach to developing the strategy by promoting effective 

public, public-private and civil society partnerships, building on 

the experience and resourcing strategies of partnerships. 17.19 

The actions will be measured locally allowing the Council to 

assess performance.

PEACE, JUSTICE AND STRONG 
INSTITUTIONS
Promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable 
development, provide access to justice for all and build 
effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all 
levels

INDIRECT POSITIVE

PARTNERSHIPS FOR THE GOALS
Strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize 
the global partnership for sustainable development

INDIRECT POSITIVE

Page 9 of 9SDG Impact Assessment Tool

14/10/2019https://sdgimpactassessmenttool.org/assessment/climate-and-environmental-emergenc...

57



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

24 October 2019

PAY ON FOOT CAR PARKS CRITICAL UPGRADE

Report of the Local Operations and Parking Manager

Recommendation

It is recommended that  £55,400 is allocated for an upgrade to the existing Pay on 
Foot machines at the Swan Centre and Mitchell Road Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP), 
This will be comprised of £ £40,000 from the Ticket Machine Reserve and £5,300 Car 
Parks  revenue budget, £4,100 from an underspend in the Swan Centre Roof capital 
scheme and £6,000 from the Eastleigh Local Area Committee (ELAC) revenue 
reserve.

Summary

This report sets out an important payment security issue with our current Pay on Foot 
machines in Eastleigh town centre and makes recommendations for addressing this.

Statutory Powers

Traffic Management Act 2004 Part 6 and associated Statutory Instruments.

Strategic Implications 

1. Improvements to the Council’s management of parking infrastructure will 
support the Council’s priorities to tackle congestion, support the town centre 
economy, create an excellent environment for all and support the health and 
well-being of residents.

Introduction

2. This report highlights an area of concern relating to Pay on Foot parking 
machines that requires timely intervention. Following a review of data security 
implications, an area of non-compliance has been identified with the “Chip and 
Pin” payment element of the Pay on Foot car parks in Eastleigh town centre. 
This only affects those machines in the Swan Centre (roof top only) and the 
Mitchell Road MSCP.

Chip and Pin payment security issues

3. Both Mitchell Road MSCP and Swan Centre are controlled by Pay on Foot 

59

Agenda Item 5



Eastleigh Borough Council

technology.  This is where barriers control entry and exit; with users paying for 
parking at the end of their stay at a pay station (11 pay stations are located 
across the two sites). 

4. The payment hardware, supplied by Designa, is managed by a computer 
server located at the Eastleigh Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) Control 
Room.  The contract for parking support staff is held by the contractor Enigma, 
who also provides the wider CCTV monitoring for the town centre. The parking 
support staff deliver a 24-hour service to deal with customer enquiries and 
equipment issues.

5. The Designa payment hardware is no longer supported by a Designa 
maintenance agreement.  While spare parts can be acquired, the electronic 
payment path (handled by the payment contractor, 3C), will no longer be 
compliant with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS).  
This means the system is vulnerable to third-party attack and unwanted 
interrogation/release of personal payment data. 

6. Whilst the threat is relatively low – there have been no recorded breaches – it 
means that the Council would be operating outside of any supported industry 
service standard. The machines continue to function but the critical upgrade 
programme is essential. 

7. Both Designa and 3C have stated that the Chip and Pin system will cease to 
work in December 2019. If this were to happen the machines would only be 
able to accept cash payments. 

8. RingGo, the Council’s cashless car park payment system provider, operates 
within Pay and Display car parks only. It is not possible to operate RingGo at 
either the Mitchell Road MSCP or Swan Centre car park

9. The solution requires an upgrade to both the hardware and software for the 
Chip and Pin units, together with a new Designa server. Designa have quoted 
£55,400 for the upgrade, but this will have the additional and incidental benefit 
of allowing contactless payment (not currently fitted), which will extend the life 
of the pay stations and improve the customer experience. 

3. Financial Implications

10. During the last financial year, payments in excess of £430,000 were 
transferred to the Council via Chip and Pin technology. The shift from cash to 
cashless payment is a growing trend, which must be supported through the 
Council car parks. 

11. It is therefore proposed that £55,400 is allocated for an upgrade to the existing 
Pay on Foot pay stations at the Swan Centre and Mitchell Road MSCP. This 
will be funded by £ £40,000 the ticket machine reserve and £5,300 car parks 
revenue budget, £4,100 from an under-spend in the Swan Centre Roof capital 
scheme and £6,000 from ELAC revenue reserve.

60



Eastleigh Borough Council

12. Using the existing supplier demonstrates good value as they are able to 
upgrade the specific payment components quickly, rather than replacing the 
entire parking control hardware at both sites. 

Risk Assessment

13. Due to the nature of the risk of continued operations, the situation requires 
immediate attention to ensure the car parks operate as normal with no loss of 
service to the users, or a significant data breach.

Equality and Diversity Implications

14. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people because of the incidental 
introduction of contactless payment technology which many users will find of 
benefit. 

15. A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because 
while there are some equalities impacts, it is not proportionate to carry out a 
full EIA.

Conclusion

16. This report identifies a significant risk to the Council and recommends a way 
forward to address this. It is recommended that the proposed way forward is 
approved.  In order to facilitate a decision before the chip and pin technology 
ceases to work; Cabinet will make this decision rather than the Eastleigh 
Local Area Committee (ELAC) whose meeting falls too late in the cycle.  
ELAC have been consulted on the decision.  

ROBERT SAUNDERS
LOCAL OPERATIONS & PARKING MANAGER

Date: 1 October 2019
Contact Officer: Robert Saunders
Tel No: 023 8068 3818
e-mail: robert.saunders@eastleigh.gov.uk

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None.

61



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

AUDIT & RESOURCES COMMITTEE

Wednesday 16 October 2019

CABINET

Thursday 24 October 2019

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
2019/20 TO 2024/25

Joint Report of the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer 

RECOMMENDATION TO AUDIT & RESOURCES COMMITTEE

It is recommended that the Audit & Resources Committee considers the 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2019/20 to 2024/25 and makes any 
recommendations for amendments to Cabinet for their consideration.

RECOMMENDATIONS TO CABINET

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(1) recommend the Medium Term Financial Plan to Council for approval 

(2) approve the implementation of the Continuous Improvement Strategy

And recommend that Council approve:

(3) the Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix A) for 2019/20 to 2024/25 and

(4) the parameters for the formulation of the 2019/20 revised and 2020/21 
Budget 

Summary

The Medium Term Financial Plan outlines the Council’s Budget projections for the 
period 2019/20 to 2024/25.

Underpinning the Strategy is the need to preserve the minimum level of General 
Fund Reserve at 10% of net revenue expenditure which is approximately £1M.

The Strategy is based on prudent assessments of both income and expenditure, 
although as the report highlights there are a number of uncertainties which could 
have a significant impact on the final budget position.

63

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

Statutory Powers

Local Government Act, Section 151 and Local Government Act 2003

Introduction

1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is produced annually, taking 
account of known issues and applying a number of assumptions to the 
Council’s finances.  The Plan provides, on a rolling basis, a projection of the 
Council’s revenue finances over a 5 year period and in doing so establishes 
the broad financial principles around which Councillors can develop their 
Portfolio Plans.  The Plan also develops the Continuous Improvement 
Strategy to ensure that the Council remains efficient and effective into the 
future.  

Strategic Implications

2. Over many years continued progress has been made to ensure that the 
Budget process reflects the financial capacity to support the delivery of the ten 
objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan.  These objectives are grouped 
around four strategic themes of:  

 Health and Wellbeing
 Greener Borough
 Housing 
 Economy

3. Compiling the Plan relies upon a number of assumptions which have a 
significant impact on the Council’s current and future financial position.  Any 
such impacts will be reported to Councillors with revisions as appropriate.  As 
part of the Council’s redesign of services, Officers and Councillors are now 
using the annual cycle of Council-wide Strategy and Performance Review 
alongside Budget and Business Planning.  To date, Councillors have been 
involved in a number of Strategic meetings and reviews to determine the key 
priorities included within this Plan.  

4. The overall position is detailed in Table 1 – Appendix A.  The summary 
forecast to 2024/25 represents a longer term view and clearly there are many 
unknowns in the later years.  The length of the Strategy is necessary to 
introduce the impact of higher interest rates and draw attention to the need for 
a phased efficiency strategy which is now termed the Continuous 
Improvement Strategy.  

Medium Term Financial Plan

5. The full Plan at Appendix A shows the forecast financial position over the 
forthcoming 5 years based on current knowledge and educated estimates.  
The key points to note are detailed in the following paragraphs.

6. This year the detailed MTFP is supplemented by a brief, user-friendly 
document which summarises an “at a glance” insight into the plan (Appendix 
B).  This document details how the plan will enable the Council to deliver 

64



Eastleigh Borough Council

strategic ambitions whilst acknowledging key pressures, assumptions and 
opportunities.  

General Fund Reserve

7. The Council has a policy of setting a minimum General Fund Reserve of 10% 
of the Council’s net revenue spend to deal with unforeseen financial issues.  
For the period of this plan, the minimum level of reserves is approximately 
£1M.  Councillors should also be aware that there are also a number of 
earmarked reserves with a combined balance of £18.6M as at 31 March 2019 
to meet specific liabilities if and when they fall due, for example and most 
significantly, the Interest Reserve (Figure 5).  The adequacy of all reserves is 
reviewed each year as part of the Budget process.

Council Tax

8. The Council Tax income budget is set at £6M for 2019/20 and in accordance 
with Council policy, the Council Tax increase in 2019/20 was approved and 
implemented at 1.1%. 

9. The Council sets the actual increase in Council Tax at its Budget meeting in 
February.  The MTFP assumes that the Council will maintain its commitment 
of setting increases at 1% below inflation (CPI) for the life of this plan.  

10. Council Tax income will also increase depending on the growth in the Council 
Tax Base.  This arises principally from new hereditaments being built in the 
Borough.  

Service Budgets

11. Although costs will increase in line with inflation, Service Managers are 
required to absorb this within existing budgets.  The exception to this is 
contractual commitments for which full budget provision will be made. 

12. The MTFP is based on a number of key assumptions which are detailed within 
Appendix A.

Local Government Funding 

13. As we knew when accepting the fixed 4 year Local Government Settlement 
the Revenue Support Grant will be zero by 2019/20.  

14. This Strategy shows the Business Rate income decreasing in 2021/22.  This is 
due to the anticipated re-base of the scheme announced by Government 
which will negate much of the growth in business rate income which Councils 
have benefited from.  

Interest Rates and Investments and Borrowing

15. As in previous years the interest rates has been a key area of focus in the 
plan.  A combination of prudent budgeting and use of the interest reserve 

65



Eastleigh Borough Council

leaves the Council in a strong position for the future ensuring it can afford the 
longer term impact of any future interest rate rises.

16. In April 2019 the Treasury Management Group approved a new strategy which 
included switching £300m to fixed rate long-term borrowing the benefits of this 
change are included within the plan.

New Homes Bonus

17. Since 2010 the Council has received the New Homes Bonus Grant which is 
linked specifically to additional housing being built in the Borough.  This Grant 
is earmarked for expenditure on affordable homes and community projects 
within the Community Investment Programme (CIP) and therefore has no 
direct revenue effect.  

Continuous Improvement Strategy

18. The Council has always endeavoured to work in the most effective and 
efficient way.  A revised strategy is being developed as part of the ongoing 
Annual Cycle and will be presented to Councillors alongside the Budget in 
February 2020.  This Strategy will focus on the three key delivery areas of:

 Commercial Development
 Service Improvement
 Strategic Realignment

Risk Management

19. As with any longer term plan there is a degree of risk and uncertainty, arising 
from both internal and external factors, which could have a significant impact 
on the key assumptions made within the MTFP.  It is important that the key 
risks which could have a material effect on the financial position of the 
Council, are identified and understood in terms of the potential impact (positive 
or negative) and the likelihood of occurrence.  The risk log is shown at 
Appendix C.

Budget Process

20. The implications of this Plan will be reflected in the forthcoming Budget 
process and Councillors are requested to approve the parameters it 
establishes. 

21. The overall Budget timetable is as follows:-
Action Date

Corporate Fees & Charges Report to Cabinet                       Nov 2019

Treasury Management & Capital/Investment Strategy to 
Cabinet

 Nov 2019

Pre-decision scrutiny of the Budget – Joint Committee and 
Scrutiny Panel

 Jan 2020

66



Eastleigh Borough Council

Cabinet to consider final Budget  Jan 2020

Approval of Budget and setting of Council Tax  Feb 2020

Chief Financial Officer’s Statement

22. The Local Government Act 2003 (Section 25) requires the Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) to report to the Council, when making Budget related decisions, 
on:

 The robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of setting the 
Council Tax and

 The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

23. The Medium Term Financial Plan is a crucial part of the Budget process and 
the Chief Financial Officer’s statement is included in Appendix D.

Equality and Diversity Implications

24. There is no formal Equal Opportunities Assessment as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Plan but in developing service strategies assessment will be 
carried out where required.

Conclusion

25. The projection of the Council’s financial position shows that:

 Based on the current Budget and rolling it forward, the Council’s 
finances are in a very healthy position with balances for 2019/20 
onwards at the agreed level.

 There are still many uncertainties and complexities with issues such as 
interest rates and NDR as such it is difficult to forecast with total 
certainty. 

 There are a number of underlying pressures and making provision for 
the future is essential.

 The new Continuous Improvement Strategy will be key to the 
achievement of the Medium Term Financial Plan.

NICK TUSTIAN SARAH KING 

Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Date: 23 September 2019
Contact Officer: Sarah King
Tel No: 023 8068 8011
E-Mail:- sarah.king@eastleigh.gov.uk 

67



Eastleigh Borough Council

Appendices: 4

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None.

68



Ea
st

le
ig

h 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
C

ou
nc

il

E A S T L E I G H  H O U S E

Ea
st

le
ig

h 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
C

ou
nc

il

E A S T L E I G H  H O U S E

Medium 
Term 
Financial 
Plan
2019/20 – 2024/25

69



2  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

1  Purpose of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan

7 Performance Monitoring

9 Executive Summary

14 Key Assumptions

15 Council Tax

19 Government Funding

24 Interest Rates and Borrowing

28 New Homes Bonus

39 Reserves

31  Services Pressures and 
Opportunities

35 Continuous Improvement Strategy

38 Key Risks

41 ConclusionC
O

N
TE

N
TS

 paragraph 
number

70



3  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

PURPOSE OF THE  
MEDIUM TERM  
FINANCIAL PLAN
1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of 

the Council’s annual planning process and plays a significant part in 
enabling the delivery of the Council’s Strategic Objectives.

2. The MTFP sets out the Council’s financial position for the next 
five years and considers issues which impact the Council’s 
finances, including international, national and regional economic influences 
as well as local factors and the delivering of Strategic Priorities. This Plan 
also sets the base assumptions for setting the annual Budget, together with 
unavoidable service pressures and opportunities agreed by Cabinet which 
need to be taken into account. 

3. The MTFP has been developed with the Corporate Strategic 
Planning Manager, Lead Specialists and Operational Managers 
in order to secure a forward looking approach and long term 
sustainability to deliver Strategic Objectives. An overarching MTFP is not 
only good practice, but is required to provide the strategic financial 
framework for the Council to enable delivery of key Strategic Priorities, the new 
Continuous Improvement Strategy, closer Budget scrutiny and management of 
wider financial pressures. 

4. The overall aim of the MTFP is to provide a financial framework 
with long term prudence and stability to enable the delivery of the 
Council’s key Strategic Objectives.

In addition the MTFP has 6 key objectives to: 

• Ensure the long term financial health of the Council;

• Ensure value for money for our residents; 

• Set the parameters within which Budget and service planning takes place; 

71



4  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

• Enable effective allocation of resources to deliver Strategic Priorities;

• Enable a balanced and effective Budget can be set and set a base line for the 
Council to effectively financially manage its resources;

• Ensure the long term security of borrowing and investments.

5. This MTFP aims to support services to move from the historical position of 
setting short-term annual Budgets to integrate strategic and service 
planning over the medium term. A sustainable MTFP is therefore 
key to the effective delivery of the Council’s overall aims of 
achieving better outcomes for residents. The resulting MTFP presents 
an overall commitment and framework to enable effective future service 
provision.

6. The diagram below aims to aid understanding of where the MTFP sits 
in relation to the Council’s overall strategic planning and other relating key 
strategies and plans.

Figure 1 – Strategic Structure

Portfolio Plans

Corporate Action Plan 2015-2025

Corporate and Local Area Strategy  
and Action Planning 

Medium Term Financial Plan

Annual Revenue  
Budget 

Treasury Management 
Strategy

Capital Strategy

Quarterly Performance 
Reporting

72



5  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

Performance Monitoring

7. To ensure the success of this Plan it has to be clearly articulated to Staff and Councillors and regularly 
monitored and reviewed. This is achieved through improved internal communication at key times of the 
year alongside formal Quarterly Performance Reporting to Cabinet, Policy & Performance Committee and 
Management Team.

8. Quarterly performance meetings hosted by Finance and the Performance & Governance Team are held 
with all service leads to review operational performance against service plans, understand the root cause 
of service pressures and identify opportunities. Budget variances, resourcing issues, risk and current 
position on Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are reviewed, along with the current and future mitigations 
required to rectify any performance concerns. The conclusion of this process is a quarterly Performance 
and Financial Monitoring report prepared for Policy and Performance Scrutiny committee and Cabinet.

Executive Summary

9. The Plan underpins the Strategy to preserve the minimum level of General Fund Balance at 10% of net 
revenue expenditure which equates to approximately £1M. The Plan is based on prudent assessments of 
both income and expenditure, although there are a number of uncertainties discussed in this report which 
could have a significant impact on the final Budget position.

10. The Council is well-placed over the medium term to continue with current service levels for customers and 
a programme of both Housing and Community Infrastructure projects. The Council’s continuing ambitions 
and leadership around environment, health and wellbeing, the economy and housing are represented in 
the MTFP.  The challenge is to ensure that where the Council wants to pursue new initiatives that resources 
are released either through reduced spending or becoming more efficient. The Council recognises that 
some important further steps need to be taken to ensure the operations of the Council are as efficient as 
possible.

11. Over the Plan period the Council is presenting a secure financial position. Table 1 shows the overall net 
budget.

73



6  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

Budget Summary Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2019/20 to 2022/23 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
       
Net continuing services 3,586 2,209 2,481 2,735 2,334 2,932

Other:       
External Interest Payable 6,000 5,531 5,532 5,812 6,720 7,729
External Interest Receivable (3,450) (3,271) (1,827) (586) (511) (561)
Contribs to / (from) Reserves 3,314 3,822 784 (1,221) (1,796) (3,166)
Capital Financing from Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0
Minimum Revenue Provision 4,413 5,143 5,180 5,563 5,728 5,826
Depreciation (3,014) (3,014) (3,014) (3,014) (3,014) (3,014)

TOTAL COST 10,849 10,419 9,135 9,289 9,460 9,746

Transfer To/(From) General Fund (995) (0) (1) (1) (1) (1)

Total Budget Requirement 9,853 10,419 9,134 9,287 9,459 9,745

AVAILABLE FINANCE:       
Aggregate External Finance       
RSG (128) 0 0 0 0 0
NDR (3,714) (4,147) (2,662) (2,715) (2,759) (2,845)

 (3,842) (4,147) (2,662) (2,715) (2,759) (2,845)
Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit (72) (72) (72) (72) 0 0
Council Tax - Base (5,939) (6,200) (6,400) (6,500) (6,700) (6,900)

Financed Budget Requirement (9,853) (10,419) (9,134) (9,287) (9,459) (9,745)
       
BUDGET DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 0 0 0 0 0 0
 
GENERAL FUND BALANCES 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Balance at 1st April (1,995) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)
Appropriations (to)/from Reserve 995 0 1 1 1 1
(Surplus)/'Deficit in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance at 31st March (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

Table 1 – Overall Financial Position

74



7  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

12. This Financial Plan supports the Corporate Strategic Priorities as detailed below:

 Environment (Greener Borough)

• The Council will respond to the Climate Change Emergency declared in July 2019. The Strategy and initial 
Action Plan will be reported to Council in November 2019.

• Increases in hereditaments in the Borough necessitates an increase in Direct Services budgets to ensure 
waste and recycling collections are completed efficiently.

• Air quality continues to be a public health concern nationally. Whilst the increase in the use of electric 
vehicles is expected to address this challenge in the longer term, over the MTFP period the Council is 
investing in new monitoring equipment (funding agreed in 2019/20) and staff to tackle this issue. This will 
also help address high levels of noise nuisance service requests.

 Health and Wellbeing

• The Council will continue to provide a range of local ‘safety-net’ services which underpin basic health and 
wellbeing needs for residents and help meet the Council’s Tackling Deprivation objective: housing and 
homelessness, Council Tax Benefit, Disability Facilities Grants to enable people to continue living in their 
own home.

• The Council will continue to provide and support high quality opportunities for leisure: cultural activity at 
the Point and Berry theatres, formal leisure provision at Places Leisure Eastleigh and other facilities, Itchen 
Valley and Lakeside Country Parks and the many neighbourhood-level open spaces the Council and the 
Borough’s parish and town councils maintain for informal leisure use.

 Economy

• The Council will continue to play its part in supporting business, by determining future accommodation to 
attract business to come or stay in the Borough.

• The Council will enlarge its role as ‘Primary Authority’ providing income-generating Environmental Health 
support to a number of businesses in Eastleigh and further afield.

• A programme of community projects in town centres will regenerate key sites and improved information 
about town centre constraints and opportunities will mean the Council is able to respond to the needs of 
the different town centre areas.

 Housing

• The Council will continue to meet its ambitions to correct market failure in delivering homes, for market 
sale or rent and affordable homes to help meet this basic human need for a roof over one’s head, to 
ease homelessness challenges and reduce excessive waits on the Hampshire Homechoice Register.  The 
maintenance of a good supply of housing (currently over 6 years’ supply) also helps defend the borough 
from inappropriate development. 

• As Planning Authority the MTFP ensures the Council can work with developers efficiently to secure a 
steady stream of high quality developments.  The Council will continue to oversee development of homes, 
communities and neighbourhoods and not just houses; the MTFP increases the specialist environmental 
and ecological capacity of the Council to add value to all planning permissions. 

75



8  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

• The MTFP process, and in particular its prudent approach to Treasury Management and maximising 
the use of New Homes Bonus, supports the overall Housing Programme which will build on recent 
completions (e.g. Leah Gardens) to intervene where delivery has stalled and where opportunities arise, 
with an aspiration to deliver around 100 new market rental homes each year over the MTFP period – a 
significant contribution to the overall housing supply.  

• The Council’s Housing Programme not only promotes housing delivery overall, but also will continue to 
ensure the right mix of tenures to meet demand including the supply of affordable homes.  The MTFP 
supports the Council’s innovative approach and consolidates the partnership of agencies that work 
together in the Aspect Building Communities Ltd vehicle.

13. The MTFP also supports the launch and delivery of a new Continuous Improvement Strategy to develop 
the ongoing transformation programme. The internal initiatives will be included in a comprehensive 
Organisational Action Plan so that the organisation is focused internally on efficiency improvements 
(see Continuous Improvement Strategy at paragraph 36). This Plan provides a stable base for services 
to deliver these Corporate Priorities by giving assurances on key issues and setting a clear allocation of 
resources.

Key Assumptions

14. There are a number of key assumptions included over the life of the Plan. These relate to figures where it 
is known there will be a change over time. The figures below highlight which key assumptions have been 
made (figures in brackets represent a reduction).

Budget Item 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Pay Award 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Fees & Charges 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Council Tax 1.1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%
Revenue Support Grant (50%) (100%) - - - -
Superannuation 13.9% 14.1% 14.1% 16.1% 16.1% 16.1%
Pension Past Service Costs 8.8% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9%
Contract Inflation £100k £100k £100k £100k £100k £100k
Consumer Price Index (CPI) 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

Table 2 – Summary of Key Assumptions

Council Tax

15. Council Tax income amounts to £6M for 2019/20 and was set in accordance with Council policy at an 
increase of 1.1% over 2018/19. This set the average Band D Council Tax at £129.52 for 2019/20.

16. The Council sets the actual increase in Council Tax at its Budget meeting in February. This Plan assumes 
that the Council will maintain its commitment of setting increases at 1% below inflation (CPI) for the life of 
this plan. The actual increases can be seen in Table 3 below. For information a 1% increase in Council Tax 
generates approximately £60,000 additional revenue for the Council.

17. Council Tax income will also increase depending on the growth in the Council Tax Base. This arises 

76



9  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

principally from new hereditaments being built in the Borough. The estimated Tax base included within this 
Plan is detailed in Figure 2.

Tax Base Change

46,552

47,939

48,888

49,602

50,386

44,000

45,000

51,000

49,000

48,000

47,000

46,000

50,000

0.0%

0.5%

3.5%

2.5%

2.0%

1.5%

1.0%

3.0%

2022/232021/222020/212019/20 2023/24

Change % Band D Taxbase

Figure 2 – Council Tax Base

18. The estimated Council Tax due to be received over the period, taking into account the percentage 
increase (1% below CPI) and projected increase in the tax base is shown below:

(£’000s) 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Council Tax 5,939 6,200 6,400 6,500 6,700 6,900

 

Table 3 – Council Tax Receipts

Government Funding

19. As previously reported, 2019/20 is the final year of the Revenue Support Grant with the Council receiving 
£128,000. The current Government funding forecast is as follows:

(£’000s) 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Revenue Support Grant 128 - - - - -
Business Rates 3,714 4,147 2,662 2,715 2,759 2,845
Total 3,842 4,147 2,662 2,715 2,759 2,845

Table 4 – Government Funding

77



10  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

20. The Business Rate Retention scheme continues to offer little certainty over funding due to the complexities 
of the scheme, the significant sums involved and the need to provide against possible costs of future 
appeals. Although Central Government announced plans for local authorities to retain 75% of Business 
Rates income (the aim being to encourage economic growth as there is a direct financial benefit), this has 
not been implemented and there is still no clarity over the future scheme.

21. Councils are able to retain a proportion of their growth in Business Rates and will also be taking the risk 
for reductions in Business Rates, although there are ‘safety net’ arrangements in place to protect against 
very large reductions. The scheme, as it currently stands, means whilst the Council has no influence 
over the rateable value, rates charged or the percentage increase each year, it does retain almost half 
the risk from the volatile nature of the receipts. The one element that the local authority can influence is 
the economic growth within the region which may result in increased revenues from Business Rates. The 
Council plans to support and develop existing businesses in the Borough and take opportunities to attract 
new business to the Borough.

22. Businesses can appeal against the rateable value given and under the new scheme the Council carries 
approximately half the risk if values are reduced. Appeals can be backdated and as a consequence of this 
the Council has set aside a provision to deal with this element of the financial impact.

23. Previously the Plan has shown the Business Rate income decreasing in 2020/21. This was due to the 
anticipated re-base of the scheme announced by Government which will negate much of the growth in 
Business Rate income which councils have benefited from. The Government’s Spending Review announced 
in September has slipped to 2021/22 which is reflected in the figures above.

Interest Rates and Borrowing

24. Current market uncertainty around the implication of leaving the European Union has meant that interest 
rates have remained low and are now estimated to remain lower for longer. Based on advice from the 
Council’s Treasury Management Advisors (Arlingclose) the rate is now held at 0.75% for the entirety of 
their forecast up to September 2022. It has then been determined prudent to add a 0.25% increase every 
6 months after that date. The estimated rates included with this Plan are shown below:

Average Interest Rate Forecast

2022/232021/222020/212019/20 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26
0.00

2.00

1.50

1.00

2.50

0.50
0.75 0.750.75

0.88

1.38

1.88

2.38

 

Figure 3 – Interest Rate Forecast

78



11  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

25. To minimise exposure to interest rate increases, business cases for future income generating capital 
projects are constructed using the long term rate at that time. Any surplus generated from the use of lower 
short term rates is set aside in the interest equalisation reserve. The aim of this reserve is to mitigate the 
effect of interest rate rises for continuing short term borrowing should rates increase more rapidly than 
forecast.

26. In April 2019 the Treasury Management Group unanimously approved switching £300M from short-
term to long-term borrowing. This had the dual impact of securing a low long-term interest rate and 
reducing the level of exposure to variable interest rates. The figure 5 shows the breakdown of the Council’s 
borrowing portfolio before and after the debt restructure, which highlights the significantly reduced 
exposure to variable interest rates:

Long Term

£352m

£96.5m

£392.5m

£52m

Short Term

Figure 4 – Borrowing Portfolio Detail

27. There is no requirement to take additional long-term borrowing as rates are estimated to remain low and 
a number of schemes will generate a Capital Receipt during the period.

New Homes Bonus

28. Since 2010 the Council has received the New Homes Bonus Grant which is linked specifically to 
additional housing being built in the Borough. This Grant is earmarked for expenditure on affordable 
homes and community projects within the Community Investment Programme (CIP) and therefore has no 
direct revenue effect. The scheme is still under review by Government and therefore there is uncertainty 
around the future of the funding. Any commitment to funding projects from New Homes Bonus income is 
approved as part of the regular CIP reports to Cabinet and the forecast commitment (including any known 
changes to the scheme) is outlined in the table on the following page.

2018/19 
Year end 

borrowing 
profile 

August 2019 
borrowing 
profile 

79



12  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

 
NEW HOMES BONUS 2011 - 

2019
2019/20 2020/21- 

23/24
Total

Affordable Housing Grant -   -   5,840,000 5,840,000 
Woodside Ave & Hatch Farm Housing 324,181 -   -   324,181 
Bursledon GP Surgery 3,797,432 -   -   3,797,432 
Hamble Library 200,000 -   -   200,000 
Romsey Road Community Facilities 200,000 -   -   200,000 
Lakeside Country Park 1,000,000 -   -   1,000,000 
Hiltingbury Lakes Countryside Site 18,861 1,139 -   20,000 
Ramalley Countryside Site 7,582 2,418 -   10,000 
Fryern Pavilion 288,777 11,224 -   300,001 
Hiltingbury Pavilion & Cycle Path 382,000 20,826 -   402,826 
Hiltingbury Tennis Courts 37,065 -   -   37,065 
Ramalley Guides Grant 41,000 -   -   41,000 
Ramalley Guides HQ/Scout Hall 98,592 45,517 45,000 189,109 
Wildern Leisure Centre - Swimming Pool -   800,000 115,000 915,000 
Places Leisure Centre 3,751,639 -   -   3,751,639 
St Johns Phase 2 & 3 Affordable Housing -   700,000 -   700,000 
Town Centre Affordable Housing Sites -   960,000 -   960,000 
Restoration of Hiltingbury Lakes -   62,500 62,500 125,000 
Hedge End/Horton Heath Cycle Route -   40,000 -   40,000 
IVCP Highwood Barn -   120,000 -   120,000 
Bishopstoke Community Facilities -   -   1,000,000 1,000,000 
Road Infrastructure -   -   900,000 900,000 
New Homes Review 27,850 -   -   27,850 
TOTAL ALLOCATED 10,174,979 2,763,624 7,962,500 20,901,103

Table 5 – New Homes Bonus

Reserves

29. Due to the nature of the activity a number of services represent a financial risk to the Council. One way 
to manage these risks is by using reserves which will fund future costs should they arise. A particular 
example of this would be the Council’s Property Portfolio where the risk of void periods and maintenance 
obligations exist. Funds are set aside annually from the income generated to fund any potential future 
costs.

80



13  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

30. The current balance of earmarked reserves is approximately £18.6M and these are reviewed annually to 
ensure they remain necessary and appropriate. The balance can be classified into the main areas below:

Estimated reserves balance at 31 March 2020

Capital (S106)
3,286,900

Local Area
727,700

Services
4,140,800

Interest
6,634,200

General Fund
999,980

Property
2,845,000

Figure 5 – Reserve Balances

Service Pressures and Opportunities

31. As highlighted in Table 2 there are a number of issues which are corporately funded as part of the wider 
Budget, these include:

• Corporate Fees & Charges 

• National Pay Award & Living Wage

• Pension Costs

• Contract Inflation

32. As part of the Quarterly Performance Process both financial and operational performance issues are 
monitored throughout the financial year with the key pressures and opportunities being included as part of 
this Plan.

33. The key pressures included in this plan are (note these figures only indicate the annual revenue Budget 
impacts unless stated):

• £560K impact of Hampshire County Councils Waste and Recycling review. This includes the reduction of 
recycling credits, material sales income and the increased cost of contaminated waste.

• £100K for an extra waste round to recognise the increased demand from additional housing.

• £150K to support the Climate Change and Environment emergency for Pollution, Biodiversity and Trees.

• £60K for fly-tipping enforcement and education.

81



14  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

• Up to £40K to recognise the 100% increase in External Audit fees.

• additional £1.2M over three years included to support the Continuous Improvement Strategy.

34. Along with pressures, Service Leads also identify opportunities and savings and the key elements included 
in this Plan are:

• £1.5M gross income from housing.

• £150K reduced Treasury Management costs from the revised Treasury Management Policy.

• £550K increase rental yields from the existing Property Portfolio.

• £30K from reduced costs of the Liquor Licencing Programme. 

Continuous Improvement Strategy

35. This Financial Plan is based on an additional savings requirement. As the 2019/20 Base Budget includes a 
saving requirement of £200,000 the full saving requirement is shown below (figure shown is cumulative):

(£’000s) 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
Council Tax 200 500 900 1,500 2,500 2,500

Table 5 – Total Saving Requirement

36. Up to 2020/21 the target is likely to be accommodated within existing service underspends and natural 
business improvements, so does not therefore represent a significant risk to this Plan. However, all Services 
and Staff need to make a cultural change towards delivery of this.

37. This Strategy is being developed as part of the ongoing Annual Cycle with a new Strategy being presented 
to Cabinet for approval by the Chief Financial Officer along with the Budget in February 2020. Three key 
delivery areas have been identified to focus the Strategy;

• Commercial Development – This will conduct a commercial review of all services seeking to ensure 
that they offer value for money to residents and run in a business like way.

• Service Improvement – Led by the a new Continuous Improvement Board, the aim of this function is 
to identify areas for process and service improvement which will lead to financial and non-financial benefit 
and make the organisation operate more efficiently, whilst providing a better service to customers. This will 
be the key focus area for improvements across the Council.

• Strategic Realignment – Future Eastleigh has changed the way the Council operates to ensure it 
focuses resources on its key strategic goals. This process will ensure regular review of priorities and align 
service spend to corporate objectives. 

82



15  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

Key Risks

38. As with any longer term plan there is a degree of risk and uncertainty, arising from both internal and 
external factors, which could have a significant impact on the key assumptions made within the MTFP. It 
is important that the key risks which could have a material effect on the financial position of the Council, 
are identified and understood in terms of the potential impact (positive or negative) and the likelihood of 
occurrence. 

39. Factors that can have a material effect on the financial position of the Council include:

• Changes in statutory functions;

• Changes in Council priorities; including climate change

• Level of future pay awards, National Living Wage and general inflation;

• Services pressures such as changes in funding or increased demand;

• Business Rates volatility and uncertainty;

• Changes to interest rates;

• Non achievement of Efficiency Plans;

• Changes in legislation;

• Changes in the economy;

• Impact of exiting the European Union;

• Impact from National Politics and

• Changes in partnership across the public sector e.g. agreements with Hampshire County Council.

40. It is important to note that the revised forecast represents the most realistic forecast position moving 
forward. However, there are a number of risks associated with these revised forecasts, the main risks being 
as follows:

• Financial Risk – the majority of the future years’ Plan is based on a series of assumptions and 
estimates, the further into the future you look the higher the risk that these assumptions are inaccurate. 

• Political Risk – The Government has provided more certainty about Government grant levels. However, 
with the announced Spending Review and Fair Funding Review not happening there still leaves much 
uncertainty for the future. In addition the outcome of potentially leaving the European Union in October 
2019 is unknown and the outcome of this could have a significant impact on pressures on services.

• Treasury Risk – The MTFP is based on a forecast interest rates based on best estimates provided by 
Advisors. However, a change to this rate could lead to a change to Interest Rate Reserves or potentially a 
debt restructure.

• Continuous Improvement Strategy – The MTFP is based on achieving a £2.5M ongoing efficiency 
savings by 2024/25. This places a significant burden on the way services are delivered. Whilst considered 
achievable in the context of the overall Budget and the way the Council is strategically delivering this 
saving a degree of risk will always exist as many external factors will impact services during this time.

83



16  |  Medium Term Financial Plan

Conclusion

41. The MTFP is a significant strategic plan that provides the resourcing framework to enable the Council 
to further its mission: ‘Supporting Communities and Improving Lives’.   The Plan supports internal 
improvements the Council can achieve which will then lead to improved service provision for the 
Borough’s residents and businesses. The Plan gives a clear message to residents of financial competence 
and prudence from their Council, when many other councils are known to be experiencing greater 
financial challenges.  The MTFP and in particular, the forthcoming Continuous Improvement Strategy 
sets challenging ambitions for the organisation to continue to evolve and change so that the Council can 
continue to deliver efficient and high quality services for residents in line with the Corporate Plan. 

84



Key Objectives
* Ensure the long term financial health of the Council
* Ensure value for money for our residents
* Set the parameters for Budget & Service Plans
* Enable allocation of resources to meet priorities
* Enable a balanced and effective budget
* Set a baseline for efficient financial management

Priority areas include:

* Tackling Climate Change

* Tackling Ccongestion

* Meeting the challenge of ageing population

* Promoting cultural & physical activity

* Meeting a mix of housing needs

* Accelerating housing delivery

2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Pay Award 2% 2%

Fees & Charges 3% 3%

Council Tax 1.10% 1%

Revenue Support Grant -50% -100%

Superannuation 13.9% 14.1%

Past Pension Costs 8.8% 3.9%

Contract Inflation £100k £100k

Consumer Price Index 2% 2%

Key Assumptions in the Plan

Revenue Support 

Grant

£'000's

--

Council Tax Estimates

4,147 2,662 2,7153,714

This Plan assumes that the Council will 

maintain its commitment of setting increases 

at 1% below inflation (CPI) for the life of this 

Plan.  For information a 1% increase in 

Council Tax generates approximately £60,000 

additional revenue. Council Tax income will 

also increase depending on the growth in the 

Council Tax Base. The estimated Tax base 

included within this Plan is detailed on the left.

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

2019/20 - 2024/25

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2025 includes 10 longer term  objectives to reflect the Council’s 

own priorities and challenges it faces across service delivery and through partnerships.  In 2018, 

Councillors approved four strategies focused on achieving these wider Council objectives. These can 

be found online at www.eastleigh.gov.uk/council/strategies-and-policies which highlights key issues 

facing the Borough under each of the following themes:

* Ensuring the Borough is seen as a

* desirable location for new and relocating 

* businesses

* Income received from Business Rates falls in 2021/22 

as  the "baseline" for the scheme will be reset.

Council Tax 5,939 6,200 6,500

Corporate Plan 2015-2025

Net Business 

Rates Received*

128 -

6,400

Core Funding

Portfolio Plans

Corporate & Local Area Strategy and Action Planning

Treasury Management Strategy Quarterly Performance Reporting

Medium Term Financial Plan

Capital StrategyAnnual Revenue Budget

Corporate Action Plan 2015-2025

85



This Plan is based on the savings target listed below:

£'000's 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 ongoing

Target 200 500 900 1,500 2,500

Three key areas of focus have been identified:

3. Strategic Re-alignment - Conduct a review of 

priorities and align service spend to objectives.

The key service issues included within this 

Plan are:

* The Impact of the County's Waste and 

* Recycling Review.

* Additional resources to meet the growing

* demands on Waste Collection services.

* Increased rental yields from the existing 

* Property Portfolio.

* Reduced costs from the new Treasury

* Management Strategy.

2. Service Improvement - Improve and develop service 

process and functionality to produce operational 

efficiencies.

* Funding for a 100% increase in External 

* Audit fees.

* Additional resources to  support the Climate

* Change and Environmental  Emergency.

Interest Rates & Borrowing

Service Pressures & Opportunities Continuous Improvement Strategy

* Funding for 3 years to assist with the

* Continuous Improvement Strategy.

* Additional income from housing revenue.

1. Commercial Development - A commercial review of 

all services to operate in a more business like way and 

offer better value for money to residents

Based on advice from the Council’s Treasury Management Advisors (Arlingclose) the rate is now held 

at 0.75% for the entirety of their forecast up to September 2022.  It is then determined prudent to add a 

0.25% increase every 6 months after that date. 

In April 2019 the Treasury Management Group unanimously approved switching £300M from short-term 

to long-term borrowing. This had the dual impact of securing a low long-term interest rate and reducing 

the level of exposure to variable interest rates

Reserves

Due to the nature of the 

activity a number of 

services represent a 

financial risk to the Council.  

These risks are mitigated 

using reserves which will 

fund the implications should 

any of the costs arise.  The 

current reserves stand at 

approximately £18.6M and 

are reviewed annually to 

ensure they are 

appropriate.

 2,845,000  

 3,286,900  

 727,700  
 4,140,800  

 6,840,200  

 999,880  Property

Capital

Local Area

Services

Interest

General Fund

Estimated Reserves Balance at 31 March 2020 

0.75 0.75 0.75 

0.88 

1.38 

1.88 

2.38 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26

Average Interest Rate Forecast 

86



 Appendix C 
 

MEDIUM TERM BUDGET STRATEGY 2019/20 –2024/25 RISK ASSESSMENT 
 

Assessment of risks for the year 2019/20 and future years 
 
Please note: 
 
The probability (prob) and impact (imp) of identified risks adversely affecting the Budget are each addressed on a scale of 1 to 5,  
where 1 = very low, 2 = low, 3 = medium, 4 = high and 5 = very high. 
 

Risk 2019/20 Future  

 Prob Imp Prob Imp Comments 

1. Strategic 
 

     

(i).  Balances less than 10% of 
Net Revenue Spend. 

1 2 2 2 Balances are forecast to be in excess of the 10% 
minimum.  However, given the future uncertainty of 
grant settlements, inflation etc there is a greater risk 
of it falling below this level in future years. 
 

(ii).  Impact of new legislation and 
Government initiatives 
(including exiting the 
European Union). 

4 4 4 4 There will inevitably be future legislation and 
initiatives that may result in additional financial 
implications.  (e.g. Business Rates Review). 
 

(iii).  Additional borrowing to 
finance the CIP. 

5 1 5 1 Capital Receipts are earmarked for projects which 
have a direct benefit to the public.  For other capital 
expenditure borrowing is the main source of finance 
particularly for income generating projects. 

(iv).  Development of Local Plan 
and implications of non-
adoption 

3 3 3 3 Potential costs of defending planning appeals for 
sites not supported in the submitted local plan.  A 
reserve has been established to fund any associated 
costs and the adequacy of this reserve will be 
reviewed regularly. 

87



 

Risk 2019/20 Future  

 Prob Imp Prob Imp Comments 

Strategic      

 

(v).  Failure to achieve the 
Continuous Improvement 
Strategy 

0 0 2 2 The Continuous Improvement Strategy will require 
regular management to ensure that targets are met 
and financial stability for the Council is assured.  The 
phased approach to meeting the target means that 
the risk of non-achievement and the resultant impact 
is low. 

(vi).  Economic environment 
adversely impacts on Council 
finances. 

2 4 5 3 The Council is vulnerable to macro economic factors 
beyond its control: 
- Interest rates 
- Cuts in Public Sector spending  
- Falling consumer spend  

(vii).  
  

Income generated does not 
meet Budget target. 

2 3 2 3 The Council has relatively few high income earners 
but is vulnerable to a downturn in the significant 
areas of Car Parking and Planning Fees. 

2. Operational      

(i).  Staff Turnover – High levels of 
staff turnover disrupt the 
budget process and reduce 
effective budget management. 

3 1 3 1 Staff turnover is currently low and the impact on the 
Budget is reviewed quarterly. 

(ii).  Unforeseen service issues 
that have a significant impact 
on the Council’s finances. 

3 3 3 3 Given the variety and range of services there will 
always be unexpected service issues that arise.  The 
Corporate Financial Monitoring is designed to 
assess, on a quarterly basis, whether there are any 
significant issues that need to be brought to 
Management Team and Councillors’ attention.  
The Control Assurance Framework also 
demonstrates that the Council has a comprehensive 
network of internal controls designed to prevent and 
alert managers of unforeseen problems. 

 

88



         APPENDIX D 
 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
 

Chief Financial Officer’s Report 
 

 
Robustness of the Estimates 
 
The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is prepared each year and in 
projecting the Council’s finances over the forthcoming five years it is a crucial 
element of the Council’s financial management regime.  It comprises a range 
of estimates and in some cases best guesses about what the future may hold 
and always contains an element of uncertainty particularly in the latter years.  
 
Although every effort is made to identify emerging pressures there may be 
other issues arising throughout the year which will feed into the overall Budget 
process.  There is continuing uncertainty about further plans the Government 
has to cut public spending and this strategy reflects the removal of Revenue 
Support Grant funding.  One of the main uncertainties is the business rate 
retention income and the upcoming rebase. 
 
The Continuous Improvement Strategy proposed within this report will enable 
the Council to remain financially stable into the longer term.  The continuing 
prudent financial approach has enabled the latest efficiency proposal to be 
phased slowly over a number of years whilst still retaining a healthy level of 
General Fund reserves 
 
The Council’s extensive capital programme, including both property and 
housing interests continues to provide a very beneficial revenue income.  The 
forecast is that interest rates will slowly increase and the medium term 
financial plan reflects these assumptions.  The carefully timed introduction of 
long-term borrowing for future capital projects and the setting aside of 
additional revenue income from these should mitigate the increasing cost of 
interest payments.   
 
Based on the efficiency plans and our prudent approach to financial 
management I believe we can have confidence in the short-medium term.  
However, the MTFP makes it clear that the development of an emerging 
efficiency strategy is important for the long term financial stability of the 
Council’s finances.   
 
My personal view is that the estimates as reflected in the MTFP are as robust 
as they can be at this stage given the uncertain economic climate we are in.  
It also emphasises the importance of ensuring that our financial management 
processes are working effectively, both in terms of Budget preparation and 
financial monitoring. 
 
 

89



Adequacy of Reserves 
 
The level of reserves is something that often provokes debate; if they are too 
high the Council can be accused of not spending enough on delivering 
services whereas too low could mean we are not protected against the risk of 
something unexpected happening.  The Council maintains two types of 
reserve: 
 

 Earmarked – those that are there to meet a specific loss should it arise 
for which the timing and amount are uncertain e.g. uninsurable losses. 

 

 General Reserve – to meet an unexpected loss.  The only reserve that 
fits this category is the General Fund Revenue which we maintain at 
10% of net revenue expenditure equating to approximately £1.0M 

 
A comprehensive risk assessment of the earmarked reserves is made each 
year and I am therefore satisfied that the earmarked reserves are currently at 
an adequate level. 
 
The General Fund Reserve has been maintained at 10% of net expenditure 
for many years and Councillors, Officers and External Audit have always felt 
comfortable with this level of reserve.   
 
Our current reserve continues to exceed the minimum and our strong financial 
position to date is the envy of many of my fellow Chief Financial Officers in 
Hampshire with whom I meet regularly.  However, we are not immune from 
the financial pressures facing the public sector and we must use our current 
strong position to continue to plan for the future. 
 
 

Sarah King 
Chief Financial Officer 

90



CABINET 

Thursday, 24 October 2019 

WRITE OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS 2018/19

COUNCIL TAX, NATIONAL NON DOMESTIC RATES, HOUSING 
BENEFIT & SUNDRY DEBTORS

Report of the Chief Financial Officer

Recommendations

It is recommended that Cabinet:  

(1) note debts of £5,000 or under, and debts relating to bankruptcy or liquidation 
proceedings, approved for write off by the Health and Wellbeing Lead 
Specialist with a net total of £7,821.10;

(2) note debts of £5,000 or under, and debts relating to bankruptcy or liquidation 
proceedings, approved for write off by the Economy Lead Specialist with a 
net total of £366,104.27;

(3) note debts of £5,000 or under, approved for write off by the Corporate Director 
– Support Services (CFO) totalling £26,183.66;

(4) approve the write-off of debts in respect of three debtors in excess of £5,000 
totalling £146,054.78 relating to Housing Benefit Overpayments, Council Tax 
and National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) as detailed in Appendix A; and

(5) approve the write-off of debts of one debtor totalling £13,656.25 in excess of 
£5,000 in relation to Sundry Debtors;

Summary

The Health and Wellbeing and Economy Lead Specialists have exercised delegated 
powers to write-off certain debts and approval is sought for three debts over £5,000 to be 
written off.

The Director of Support Services (CFO) has exercised delegated powers to write-off 
certain debts and approval is sought for one debt over £5,000 to be written off.

Statutory Powers

Statutory authority under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 has been 

91

Agenda Item 7



Eastleigh Borough Council

exercised and the delegated powers stated in Financial Regulations 6.6.1 utilised.

Strategic Implications 

1. This report relates to the financial management and sustainability of the 
Council, operating in a business-like way which underpins the delivery of all of 
the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015-2025) objectives.  The issues detailed in 
the report do not represent any significant variance in the Council’s delivery to 
meet these objectives.

Introduction

2. Councillors are aware that under Financial Regulations the Head of Health 
and Wellbeing and Head of Economy and Business are authorised to write-off 
debts of £5,000 or less and debts over this amount where bankruptcy or 
liquidation proceedings have been instituted.  The Chief Finance Officer is 
authorised to write-off debts of £5,000 or less.  Anything above £5,000 should 
be approved by Cabinet.

3. As previously reported there is an increasing number of Debt Relief Orders 
(DRO) and Individual Voluntary Arrangements (IVA) being entered into and 
therefore the figures in relation to these cases have been included with 
bankruptcy and liquidation totals as there are similar restrictions on collecting 
these debts.

4. This write-off report is produced annually and details of the write-offs are 
given in the following paragraphs of this report.

Summary of Revenue and Benefits Debts under £5,000 or in 
Bankruptcy/Liquidation/Debt Relief Order/IVAs

5. Detailed below is a summary of written-off debts authorised by the Health and 
Wellbeing and Economy Lead Specialists.  

92



Eastleigh Borough Council

DEBTS £5,000 or less 
and Credits 
Written Off 

(£)

Bankruptcy 
Liquidation
Debt Relief 
Orders & 

IVAs
 (£)

TOTAL

(£)

Reversed 
or 

Recovered 
Debts 

(£)

NET TOTAL 

(£)
COUNCIL TAX
Amount (£) (inc 
costs)

£ 28,419.37    £61,593.48 £90,012.85 -£2,429.30 £87,583.55 

No. of Accounts 399 70 469 4 473

NNDR
Amount (£)
(inc costs)

£1,474.97 £274,616.45 £276,091.42 -£0.00 £276,091.42

No of Accounts 25 62 87 0 87

HOUSING 
BENEFITS
Amount (£) (inc 
costs & interest)

£7,821.10 £0 £7,821.10 -£374.52 £7,446.58

No. of debtors.  
No. of invoices 
shown in ()

19 (19) 0 (0) 19 (19) 1 (1) 20 (20)

TOTALS
Amount (£) 

(inc costs)

£37,715.44 £336,209.93 £373,925.37 -£2,803.82 £371,121.55

Summary of Sundry Debtors under £5,000

6. Detailed below is a summary of written-off debts authorised by the Chief 
Finance Officer.

DEBTS £5,000 or less 
and Credits 
Written Off 

(£)

Reversed 
or 

Recovered 
Debts 

(£)

TOTAL 

(£)
SUNDRY 
DEBTORS
Amount (£) (inc 
costs)

£26,183.66    0 £26,183.66 

No. of Debtors 45 0 45

Debts Over £5,000

7. In addition to the above debts approval is sought to write-off the following 
debts above £5,000 in relation to Housing Benefit, Overpayment, NNDR and 
Sundry Debtors.

93



Eastleigh Borough Council

Housing Benefit 
Overpayments 

NNDR & Council Tax Sundry Debtors           

Amount (£) 
(inc costs) 

No. of debtors Amount (£) 
(inc costs)

No. of debts Amount (£) 
(inc costs)

No. of debtors

£47,082.46 1 £98,972.32 2 £13,656.25 1

Performance against Previous Year

8. One of the key areas of effective debt monitoring is to look back on the 
previous year to assess how the debt portfolio has been managed.  
Comparator tables can be found at Appendix 2.

9. The comparison shows that whilst the amount of sundry debtors debts being 
written off has substantially reduced from 2017/18 to 2018/19, the amount of 
debts relating to Council Tax, NNDR and Housing Benefits has increased 
from 2017/18 to 2018/19.

10. The increase in Housing Benefits debts being written off was due to a single 
occurrence of the death of a debtor during the debt recovery process.

11. The large increases in NNDR debts being written off is due to seven 
companies in the leisure and retail sectors failing.  In light of this the Head of 
Economy and Business has instructed a new enforcement agent, with a 
proven track record of recovery rates, to ensure that arrears are kept to a 
minimum. 

12. The increase in Council Tax debts being written off was due to inefficient post 
enforcement recovery.  The instruction of a new enforcement agent that will 
carry out additional post enforcement recovery from October 2019 will help to 
ensure that once arrears start to accumulate, timely enforcement is carried out 
to ensure efficient recovery of debts.

13. Alongside the issues highlighted above, the Head of Economy and Business 
has implemented regular reviews of debts with enforcement agents to ensure 
the proactive chasing of debts going forward, in order to mitigate and reduce 
the Council’s exposure to companies and individuals amassing high levels of 
debt.

14. Additionally, soft recovery techniques have been introduced, including text 
messaging, to provide extra encouragement to customers to pay their Council 
Tax before enforcement becomes necessary.

Risk Assessment 

15. With any debt collection facility the risk of not taking full recovery action prior 
to writing off debts leads to bad publicity and more customers failing to pay 
the amounts owed leading to an increase in Council Tax for the Borough.

94



Eastleigh Borough Council

16. Staff within both Revenue & Benefits and Support Services continually 
monitor debts to ensure that they are collected in the most efficient and 
economical manner and only written off where all means of recovery have 
been exhausted.

Equality and Diversity Implications

17. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out as service 
delivery is not affected by the report.

Financial Implications

18. The financial implications of write-offs for Council Tax and Housing Benefit 
debts falls on the General Fund Revenue Account and  every reasonable 
effort to recover debts is made before this action is taken.  When setting the 
level of Council Tax each year provision is made for bad debts relating to 
Council Tax.  

19. National Non Domestic Rate Debts that are written off are offset against the 
payments made in relation to the business rate retention scheme and 
therefore 40% of written off debts falls on the Borough’s Council Tax Payers.

20. All amounts shown in this report are net of VAT.  Any VAT linked to these 
write-offs can be recovered and therefore do not represent a loss to the 
Council.

Conclusion

21. The Council’s Financial Regulations currently delegates authority to the 
Health and Wellbeing and Economy Lead Specialists to write off debts not 
exceeding £5,000 and debts where bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings 
have been instituted provided the Health and Wellbeing and Economy Lead 
Specialists are satisfied that all appropriate recovery action has been pursued.  
The debts detailed in this report have all been assessed on an individual basis 
and are now considered irrecoverable, as any further recovery action would 
be counter-productive and uneconomical.

22. The Council’s Financial Regulations currently delegates authority to the Chief 
Financial Officer to write off debts not exceeding £5,000.  The debts detailed 
in this report have all been assessed on an individual basis and are now 
considered irrecoverable, as any further recovery action would be counter-
productive and uneconomical.

23. Councillors are reminded that the fact that a debt has been written off does 
not prevent action to recover the debt subsequently being taken if a debtor is 
traced, provided such action is not statute barred through lapse of time

SARAH KING
Chief Financial Officer

95



Eastleigh Borough Council

Date: 04th October 2019
Contact Officer: Declan Kelly/Kerrie Thomas/Tom Andrews
Tel No: 023 8068 8047/8065/8259
e-mail: declan.kelly@eastleigh.gov.uk

kerrie.thomas@eastleigh.gov.uk
tom.andrews@eastleigh.gov.uk

Appendices Attached: 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers or state None.

96



Appendix 1

WRITE-OFF DEBTS OVER £5,000

HOUSING BENEFIT OVERPAYMENTS

Details Amount (£) 
(including costs)

Reason

Housing Benefit 
Overpayment Debtor
Customer Ref: 50636

£47,082.46 Debtor Deceased

NDR

Reference No & Area Amount (£) 
(including costs)

Reason

NDR Account Ref: 
701495817 £92,769.31

Dispute in liability on an 
unoccupied 
hereditament

COUNCIL TAX

Reference No & Area Amount (£) 
(including costs)

Reason

CTAX Account Ref: 
90157938X £6,203.01

Debts were secured by 
charging orders 
however, after sale of 
property there were 
insufficient funds to clear 
the arrears

SUNDRY DEBTORS

Details Amount (£) 
(including costs)

Reason

Debtor Number:
51306
HTS Studios Ltd £13,656.25

Settlement of historical 
rental dispute when 
renegotiating lease 
terms

97



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Council Tax, NNDR, Housing Benefits

Debts under £5k and 
liquidation 2017/18 2018/19

Year on Year 
Movement

Council Tax
     

60,085.66 
     

87,583.55 46%

NNDR
     

77,315.45 
   

276,091.42 257%

Housing Benefits
       

5,099.13 
       

7,446.58 46%
 

Debts over £5k 2017/18 2018/19
Year on Year 

Movement

NNDR & Council Tax
     

61,391.90 
     

98,972.32 61%

Housing Benefits
     

34,127.27 
     

47,082.46 38%
 

Sundry Debtors

Debts under £5k 2017/18 2018/19
Year on Year 

Movement

Sundry Debtors
   
126,141.09 

     
26,183.66 -79%

Debts over £5k 2017/18 2018/19
Year on Year 

Movement

Sundry Debtors
   
285,988.23 

     
13,656.25 -95%

99



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 

Tuesday, 22 October 2019 

CABINET

Thursday, 24 July 2019

QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING 
REPORT (Q2 2019/20)

Report of the Head of Performance and Governance and

 Head of Finance

Recommendations

For Policy and Performance:

It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 
performance of the Council for the first half of the year and the financial position of 
the Council (including the forecast for the year) making any necessary 
recommendations to Cabinet based on this data and information.

For Cabinet:

It is recommended that Cabinet note the performance of the Council for the first half 
of the year and the Council’s financial position including the forecast for the year 
and consider any recommendations from Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel.

Summary

This report presents the Council’s financial and performance position up to the second 
quarter (Q2) of 2019/20 and highlights significant and emerging financial and performance 
issues. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas are outlined in Appendix 1 of 
the report.  

It is pleasing to report that all services, both statutory and discretionary, are being 
delivered to customers; although there is always opportunity to improve efficiency. The 
Financial Monitoring demonstrates a forecast saving on services of £133,000 for 2019/20 
with investment in the Community Investment Programme continuing to deliver a number 
of regeneration and housing schemes within the Borough.

101

Agenda Item 8



Eastleigh Borough Council

Statutory Powers

Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Sections 41 and 42

Local Government Act 1972, Section 151

Strategic implications 

1. This report concerns all of the Council’s ten Corporate Plan objectives 
showing levels of progress towards achieving those objectives and highlights 
emerging performance and financial issues and variances.    

Introduction

The performance of the Council is assessed in two main ways:

 How the Council is performing in relation to the achievement of its 
corporate aims and objectives (as outlined in the Corporate Action Plan) 
and how the Council is delivering services for its customers and the health 
of those operational service areas

 How the Council is performing in terms of its overall budget position

The report gives an outline of cumulative performance since the start of the 
financial year, as well as more specific insight into performance within the Q2 
period. Suggested solutions to performance concerns are included where 
appropriate.

This approach to combined financial and performance reporting follows the 
Council’s aspirations to be more data and performance-led and results in 
quarterly reporting to Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel and Cabinet. 
The report provides performance information by theme (broken down into 
portfolio responsibilities).  There is also a corporate section which considers 
performance issues which span more than one portfolio, or are Council wide 
issues. Information contained within this report has been reviewed by 
Management Team and relevant information sent to portfolio leads.

Appendix 1 shows the Council’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) at 
operational (service) level, with data from Q2.  

Appendix 2 is the summary financial monitoring summary forecast for the 
year.

Appendix 3 is forecast Community Investment Programme summary for the 
year.

Appendix 4 outlines the latest performance and financial monitoring risk 
assessment for 2019/20.

Appendix 5 gives an overview of the recent Residents’ Survey.

102



Eastleigh Borough Council

Executive summary 

2. The financial performance for Q2 of 2019/20 is projecting a net favourable 
variance on services totalling £133,000.  The overall forecast position for the 
General Fund of £996,000 (Appendix 2) includes forecast transfers to the 
Interest Reserve in recognition of surplus funds in the General Fund at the end 
of 2019/20 in order to maintain the 10% target surplus.

3. The Council is continuing to deliver all of its statutory services to its 
customers.  However some areas of the Council would benefit from process 
improvement and service redesign work to improve service delivery and better 
manage demand.  A new Continuous Improvement Strategy has set key 
priorities which are detailed in the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
(elsewhere on the Cabinet agenda) and will be launched alongside the budget 
in February.

Q2 performance summary 

Economy (including the Skills and Business portfolio)

4. The Council’s Local Plan underpins economic as well as residential 
development in the Borough to 2036 and the plan has made further progress 
this quarter in preparation for examination hearings starting in November. 
Planned activity to support skills and business has been completed and the 
Council has coordinated strategic discussions with parties to increase 
employment on the Riverside site east of Eastleigh town centre.  

5. The Council has funded, provided or supported a range of summer events in 
Eastleigh Town centre which all play a part in maintaining an attractive offer 
for residents, visitors and businesses. Vacancy rates in Eastleigh town remain 
well below regional (8.2%) and national rates (10.3%) at 5.4% and statutory 
services in relation to businesses are working well. Encouragingly, the Swan 
Centre has also seen evening footfall increase in the leisure complex. The 
performance of the Council’s Business Centre (Wessex House) remains 
stable with occupancy rates averaging around 84% and Wessex House 
recently achieving a market rental for the former TecHub space.  A backlog in 
Council Tax administration within this theme is being actively addressed (see 
below).

6. The financial performance for this theme is forecasting a break-even position 
for 2019/20.  Key performance issues, including financial implications, are 
detailed in the paragraphs below.

7. Council tax:  As reported in the First Quarter (Q1), this service has 
experienced some processing delays resulting in a high backlog of work 
(approx. 6,000 items at the start of the financial year). This issue was 
recognised and additional resource was allocated to the Service Delivery 
Case Management team to enable additional staffing and training to ensure 
that this demand could be managed proactively. As a result, performance in 
Q2, after this investment in additional resource, saw a reduction in the backlog 
of work reducing to 3,700. Workloads are being monitored on an ongoing 

103



Eastleigh Borough Council

basis and this will continue until the backlog has been addressed. The 
timeframe for complete removal of the backlog is by March 2020, in time for 
the next round of annual billing. The Service is confident they will clear the 
backlog by the end of the financial year given the number of planned process 
improvements, together with the current increased number of staff. However 
there are risks (including maintaining head count and speed of benefits being 
realised from process improvements) which will be constantly monitored by 
the Service Delivery Case Management team.

Greener Borough (including Environment and Transport portfolios)

8. Q2 has seen progress on a range of strategic actions. Recycling rates overall 
are improved due to take-up of food waste collections. The Council has 
invested in air quality equipment and launched a borough-wide consultation 
for a new Air Quality Action Plan.  Capacity issues in this theme have been 
assessed and plans prepared for resolving performance issues (with provision 
made in the MTFP – see details below). The Council’s adoption of a Climate 
Change Emergency motion signals a renewal of a raft of measures for the 
Council and the Borough’s communities to meet future targets set by Council.  
The effect of successful delivery of new dwellings on key waste and recycling 
services is discussed below. There has been an increased number of visitors 
to the country parks, which helps to support Health and Wellbeing strategic 
objectives. The financial performance for this theme is forecasting an adverse 
position of £293,000 for 2019/20. Key performance issues and explanations 
for significant financial variances against budget are detailed in the 
paragraphs below.

9. Direct services: Performance and financial monitoring concerns were raised 
in Q1 in relation to a number of areas including overspends in the vehicle fleet 
budget, volume of missed bins, complaints going outside of service level 
agreement and difficulties in coping with waste and recycling demand.

10. Hampshire County Council’s decision as part of their T21 savings to remove 
recycling credits, retain all of the income from the sale of recycling collected by 
district councils, as well as charging districts for the disposal of contamination 
will come into effect from April 2021. This will have a significant budget impact 
for the Council with the projected overall cost of over £560,000. Funding has 
been allocated to deal with this shortfall in the Medium Term Financial Plan.

11. Q2 has continued to be a challenging period for Direct Services. However, 
plans are being implemented which will tackle a number of infrastructure and 
operational issues. One improvement is the introduction of an additional waste 
collection round to address the increase in demand (3,200 additional 
properties built in the last 4 years). This additional collection round is 
estimated to cost an additional £100,000 in 2019/20 and will give capacity to 
better deal with current demands on the service. This is included as an 
overspend in the financial monitoring and forecast as an ongoing pressure 
within the Medium Term Financial Plan elsewhere on this agenda.  A review of 
waste and recycling services will commence in March 2020.  Business analyst 
work is planned and funding allocated for key improvements (listed below) 
which will future- proof the service and maximise efficiency.  A route 

104



Eastleigh Borough Council

optimisation project will also aim to rebalance workloads evenly across rounds 
(to be implemented in 2020).  

 Review of the fleet management system

 Review of the Waste and Recycling system

 Review of the Garden Waste system

 Review of the tree management and the potential replacement of the 
tree management system.

12. The Direct Service’s tree team is currently carrying a vacancy and this post is 
being advertised. The filling of this post will ensure essential tree work 
continues and further funding has been allocated in the MTFP to enable 
additional resourcing in this area moving forward.  Focus is also being given to 
ensuring an up to date Tree Risk Management plan is in place for all 
countryside sites and a complete audit of all countryside sites (including 
smaller nature reserves) is undertaken with countryside site inspections 
programmed in and recorded regularly to ensure safety. The tree works 
budget is reporting £20,000 additional necessary spend due to maintenance 
work that has been identified by the team.

13. There is a forecast £65,000 additional spend relating to the forthcoming bulky 
waste campaign. This will seek to save materials in a sustainable way and 
improve the environment whilst reducing instances of fly tipping. The 
associated costs have been included within the MTFP elsewhere on the 
Cabinet agenda.  

14. Combined heat and power and renewable energy is reporting £25,000 
unfavourable forecast variance over budget which reflects the current loss on 
charging gas/heat to Places Leisure Eastleigh. The maintenance of the plant 
and equipment has now been brought in-house and the performance and 
functionality of the engine is being reviewed. It is hoped that once further data 
for the demand from the new Hendy site is known, this shortfall will decrease. 
The impact of this unfavourable position includes a favourable variance on 
Solar PV installations. In particular, as Places Leisure Centre now directly 
consumes the energy rather than being exported to the grid, this makes an 
increased level of return for the Council.

15. Specialist Services - Environment:  The Specialists delivering Ecology and 
Pollution Control services and activities have highlighted performance 
concerns this quarter at a time of year where there is an increased demand in 
dealing with nuisance cases (which make up a significant percentage of the 
overall workload) and where there is a steady demand for processing planning 
applications. Current staffing levels have resulted in slower response times 
and this is having an impact on managing demand (specifically responding to 
planning application deadlines and discharge of planning conditions).

16. Both service areas are statutory consultees in the planning process. In July 
and August 60% of ecology responses to planning application deadlines were 

105



Eastleigh Borough Council

late due to insufficient resources in this area due to competing demands for 
processing planning applications against the need for ecological expertise in 
the delivery of conservation management and management of the Biodiversity 
Action Plan (BAP). Statutory consultees also now face a reduced 14 day 
consultation period in which to respond. However, difficulty with meeting this 
deadline is not delaying the full statutory planning decision period (8 – 13 
weeks) for planning applications.  A statutory decision period can also be 
formally extended by a Planning Performance Extension (PPE) in agreement 
with the applicant.

17. The Council is addressing these concerns by increasing headcount for the 
remainder of this financial year in these areas. The MTFP includes the 
proposal to permanently increase Ecology and Pollution resource and this will 
enable the Council to also have a greater focus on the delivery of a new 
Biodiversity Action Plan by the end of this financial year.   

18. Itchen Valley and Lakeside Country Parks are forecasting a net 
unfavourable variance of £61,000 for 2019/20. There has been growth in 
visitor numbers over recent months leading to a favourable increase in car 
parking revenue, however this is offset by staffing and purchasing costs in the 
Café at Itchen Valley. To mitigate this work is being carried out to improve 
profit margins within the Café. There will also be a number of initiatives over 
the Halloween and Christmas periods to attract further visitors to the parks. 
Anti-social behaviour issues, particularly at Lakeside Country Park, remain an 
issue and automated number plate recognition technology is being explored 
and could address issues at the site. 

19. Other - Highways Agency Services are forecasting under-recovery of 
income of £19,000 as a result of a reduction in work for the Engineering Team 
from HCC Highways.  Recent discussions with HCC may deliver additional 
income in the future with the potential that the Council could deliver minor 
works relating to local authority CIL funded projects. To mitigate the loss of 
income, vacancies are not being filled and agency staff only being used as 
and when there is work. The previous backlog of permanent Traffic Regulation 
Orders (TROs) is now being addressed through the use of a contractor.

20. Decriminalised parking and car parking are forecasting a shortfall of 
£40,000 in income mainly due to reduced enforcement as a result of vacant 
posts. This is offset currently by savings from staff vacancies of £100,000 as 
detailed in paragraph 45  It is anticipated that income will increase with full 
establishment in place (where resources will be able to meet the requirements 
of the on-street enforcement agency agreement with Hampshire County 
Council). Increased TROs throughout the Borough also need enforcement 
officers to meet the growing demand. 

21. Food waste campaign: Efforts to increase recycling across the Borough 
through a coordinated, multi-channel, food waste campaign is achieving real 
results. In August the Council collected the highest amount of food waste 
since January 2011 with a 37% (110 tonnes) increase in July and August 
compared to May/June (pre-campaign) and a 30% increase on the amount of 
food waste collected in the same period last year. 

106



Eastleigh Borough Council

22. Roadside verges and roundabout displays:  The Council’s social media 
channels were buzzing with positive feedback about our beautiful roadside 
wildflower displays in Q2 and we are already planning to increase the number 
of areas that will be planted with wildflower seeds for 2020.  

23. Green flag for Itchen Valley Country Park:  The Council received an 
impressive 11th annual Green Flag award in July; beginning a second decade 
of success in the scheme which is a nationally recognised mark of quality. 
Green Flag Awards are run by the Keep Britain Tidy charity: a green flag flying 
from a pole is a sign to visitors that the space boasts the highest possible 
environmental standards, is beautifully maintained and has excellent visitor 
facilities 

24. Borough to be carbon neutral by 2030:  At a meeting of Full Council in July 
a cross-party motion was approved outlining our aim to be carbon neutral by 
2025 and to support communities and businesses across the Borough to 
achieve carbon neutrality by 2030. The push for carbon neutrality is the focus 
of the Council’s new cross-party working group and we are already ahead of 
the Government’s 2050 target on greenhouse gas emissions.

Health and wellbeing (including Health and Social Policy portfolios)

25. The Council’s strategy includes outward-facing partnership work as well as our 
own health-promoting services and facilities. The Eastleigh Health and 
Wellbeing Board has developed a set of partnership actions this quarter 
including more facilities now promoting the ‘Passport to Leisure’ discount card.  
A new wellness café will open in 2020 following refurbishment by Hedge End 
Town Council and the Council is tackling physical inactivity through a new 
“Step up for you” campaign. Although slightly down on target, over 90,000 
people are now visiting Places Leisure Eastleigh each month and there has 
been an increase in people benefitting from Accessible Cinema at The Point.

26. Council spending in relation to this theme is in excess of budget with the 
theme forecasting an adverse position of £109,000 for 2019/20.  However, 
these overspends are either one-off items that could not be planned for, or are 
being actively addressed. The Council’s service planning process will help 
improve financial planning and control and alignment to strategic objectives.  
Key performance issues and explanations for significant financial variances 
against budget are detailed in the paragraphs below.

27. Arts and Culture: As outlined in Q1, the service is reporting a forecast net 
overspend of £60,000 related to staffing. However, additional income from 
grant applications, fees and other income will fund the over spend.  A 
business case was submitted for the proposal of a new staffing structure to 
complement the emerging business plan, creating resilience and stability to 
core and casual staff over the lifetime of the business plan. The new structure 
will not be fully staffed until December 2019 and therefore existing pressures 
will continue through the transitional period. The Arts and Culture Manager is 
reviewing all areas of the business in order to determine impact/output and 
financial success. 

107



Eastleigh Borough Council

28. Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support is forecasting a favourable 
variance of £80,000. This is due primarily to the lower take-up of Universal 
Credit which means that the Housing Benefit caseload is currently static. This 
will continue to be regularly monitored by the service lead. The service has 
also looked at methods of recovery of outstanding Housing Benefit debt due to 
the difficulty and uncertainty of the recovery of these monies once the debtors 
transfer across to Universal Credit. As a result of this proactive work the 
current recovery rates are slightly higher than initially predicted.

29. The Licensing Service is forecasting an under spend of £23,000 for 2019/20.  
The service is supported by a chargeable advice service from Southampton 
City Council and as there as likely to be fewer calls for this advice, the costs 
for 2019/20 will be lower.

30. There is a potential overspend of £156,000 on Places Leisure Eastleigh 
relating to rating costs. This is a one-off cost which is due to the increased 
rateable value of the new leisure centre. The contract with the leisure centre 
operator has been renegotiated to ensure that this overspend does not recur. 
It is anticipated that this additional cost will be offset by profit share income 
however, as this cannot be guaranteed, it is prudent to inform Councillors.

Housing and Development (including Planning and Property portfolios)

31. The Council, as the Local Planning Authority, continues to perform well 
against statutory targets, ensuring a good supply of permissions for 
sustainable development; not least with the new challenge of nutrient 
budgeting which has delayed or stopped permissions being issued elsewhere 
(see paragraph 39). Specialist internal consultee capacity is now being 
addressed with resourcing through the MTFP (see below). 

32. The financial performance for this theme of the corporate plan is forecasting a 
favourable position of £535,000 for 2019/20.  Key performance issues and 
explanations for significant financial variances against budget are detailed in 
the paragraphs below.

33. The Council’s housing programme has reported a positive position for Q2.  
The programme currently consists of eleven housing sites and the Council’s 
financial assistance and investment through its Aspect housing company is 
supporting the delivery of 3,183 dwellings.  The housing stock now held in the 
Aspect Building Communities vehicle totals 281 dwellings of Private Rented 
Sector (PRS) stock. Data from August 2019 shows 148 units were completed 
at North Stoneham Park, The Willows and Leah Gardens. Marketing and 
letting of these units reported some difficulties (e.g. some void periods) 
following handover and this can be attributed to initial market saturation in 
Eastleigh and the accelerated pace of construction and handover speeds.  
However, despite these market influences, Leah Gardens (Woodside Avenue) 
were fully let in August with all market rented homes occupied. 

34. Vivid are appointed as the marketing, letting and development agent for North 
Stoneham Park. In October, VIVID reported that 40% of the completed PRS 
stock at North Stoneham remained unoccupied (void), and in response an 

108



Eastleigh Borough Council

external agency has now been appointed to market these properties. As a 
result take up of these rented units has now improved and pleasingly some of 
the homes handed over in August 2019 are taking less than two weeks to let.  

35. At Q2, two of the sites in the housing programme are complete and occupied; 
three are under construction and demolition is due to start on land at Romsey 
Road by the end of 2019. Contracts are under negotiation to bring forward the 
other four sites including three EBC-owned assets to be transferred to VIVID 
for the delivery of 16 social rented town centre homes.  

36. The Development Management service is forecasting £56,000 additional 
income for 2019/20 in excess of the budget (due to a continued increase in the 
number of applications). 

37. Asset Management: The Corporation Estates budget is forecast to exceed its 
income target by £160,000 in 2019/20.  This positive position is predominantly 
due to the team’s renewed focus on prioritising lease events (including rent 
reviews). This income is partly offset by additional expenditure being forecast 
(including an increase in rents payable on ‘leased in’ properties following rent 
reviews), as well as external specialist consultant fees for reviewing rates 
assessments within the Council’s property portfolio.

Other corporate performance and emerging financial issues

38. Democratic Services: Performance concerns were reported in Q1 in relation 
to loss of specialist/technical, knowledge in this area having an impact on 
meeting Key Performance Indicators and disruption to service standards. It is 
pleasing to report that following the appointment of a new Democratic 
Services Officer into the Performance and Governance team and four new 
Case Management Officers in Support Services, the service is now performing 
in excess of its targets.

39. Nitrates: Since April 2019, a challenge for the Council, along with a number of 
neighbouring authorities, is ensuring each new dwelling or development with 
overnight accommodation does not increase nitrate levels within the Solent. 
Each development must demonstrate how nitrate neutrality is achieved and 
this is predominantly being delivered through ceasing agricultural use of 
selected land and eliminating nitrates associated with agricultural practices 
from draining to the Solent. This will offset the impact of new development and 
helps to achieve nitrate neutrality. To enable planning permissions still to be 
issued, the Council has developed an interim strategy using its own land 
holdings to mitigate the increase in nitrates associated with new development. 
A long term and permanent strategy needs to be developed through water 
companies and government agencies working in partnership, the absence of 
which currently places responsibility and significant pressure on local 
authorities to ensure new housing and overnight accommodation development 
can still be delivered. To continue our proactive approach in resolving the 
issue locally, a Council working group has been set up to identify potential 
solutions and a report will be taken to Cabinet in March 2020.

109



Eastleigh Borough Council

40. Strategic Planning is reporting a net favourable position of £102,000. Staffing 
within this area is reporting a £33,000 underspend due to a reduction in staff 
hours. In addition to this, as previously approved, the Council’s contribution to 
parish precepts has further reduced in 2019/20 leading to a saving of £69,000.

41. Internal services is reporting £157,000 favourable variance; primarily due to 
the restructuring of £300m of borrowing from short term to long term. This is 
due to brokerage charges from the PWLB (long term) being cheaper than 
brokerage costs from the money markets (short term). This budget also 
contains variances relating to insurance, pension costs, audit fees and the 
staffing vacancy factor which overall come to a net breakeven position. 

42. Health and Safety: In Q2 the Council’s Health and Safety team reported 
some concerns in relation to delays in reporting of health and safety incidents 
in some of the council’s services and delays in investigations being completed 
in a timely manner by line managers. There is also an emerging concern in 
relation to the increase in the number of RIDDOR incidents/accidents/injuries 
compared to previous years with 7 RIDDOR incidents year to date (5 in Direct 
Services and 2 in Countryside).  In 2018/19 there were 2 RIDDOR reportable 
incidents. The Council is actively involved in investigating incidents with the 
aim of supporting and providing additional guidance to service managers.  It 
has been recognised that additional training in investigation reporting needs to 
be increased and this is being sourced through the Institute of Occupational 
Safety and Health (IOSH). In addition, a three year action plan has been 
designed which will focus on the Council’s highest risk areas with an emphasis 
on culture, management training, assessing risk and implementing robust 
controls.  

43. Support Services is forecasting a £29,000 underspend in 2019/20 
predominantly due to staff vacancies. This is currently under review with 
vacancies due to be filled and is not materially impacting performance.

44. Service Delivery Case Management: As reported in paragraph 7, whilst 
performance has improved, this has had a direct impact on the Case 
Management team (who provides operational support for the council tax 
service). A delay in being able to appoint to vacancies within the team has led 
to the use of more expensive agency staff and currently the team are 
forecasting a staffing overspend of £57,000 for the full year. The Case 
Services Manager is currently on a recruitment drive to bring in permanent 
staff with the necessary skill set to cross cover the variety of case 
management staffing requirements, as well as to see a reduction in agency 
staff which, if successful, should reduce this overspend. 

45. Local Area Services (parking): The service is reporting a £100,000 
underspend due to Civil Enforcement Officer vacancies. The first phase of a 
recruitment drive has been undertaken to fill the vacant posts. Another 
recruitment process will be undertaken in October\November to fill the 
remaining roles. Good use of resources has meant that this has not yet had an 
adverse effect on decriminalised parking and car parking but this is not 
sustainable in the medium-long term due to commitment to the revised on-
street enforcement agency agreement with Hampshire County Council. 

110



Eastleigh Borough Council

Additional TROs are now being implemented throughout the Borough due to 
an increase in resources in Traffic and Engineering and these restrictions 
need to be enforced.

46. FOI requests: The Council has developed an FOI system within the 
Salesforce IT platform which is proving to be far more efficient.  The Council is 
also publishing more open data and information across its website and this 
increase in the amount of open data has led to a >25% increase in the number 
of FOI requests being redirected to information already available on our 
website and is resulting in significant savings in officer time. Since the FOI 
process has moved into Salesforce it has proven much quicker to deal with 
the enquiry. It offers the ability to add in target dates, send to multiple users 
and view all correspondence relating to the case in one place. This is 
especially helpful when the FOI concerns multiple service areas and is far 
more efficient compared to the old manual process. 

47. Despite the successful redirecting of enquires through the publication of  
extensive open data, improvement  does need to be made in terms of service 
areas responding to the FOI and EIR requests they receive, within statutory 
timescales. The KPI for this area is currently showing red. 

Residents Survey

48. The Council undertook a short survey in January/February 2019. The results 
are summarised in Appendix 5. For most indicators most respondents were 
fairly or very satisfied.  Satisfaction was highest in relation to respondents’ 
local area and lowest in relation to the Council acting on residents’ concerns. 
The appendix examines the reliability of the data and the survey provides a 
baseline for future surveys and an improved approach to using customer 
insight.

Additional performance considerations

49. Brexit:  Last year the Council set up a Cabinet and Senior Manager BREXIT 
working group to discuss political developments and manage the various risks 
and opportunities relating to the UK Exiting the EU. Alongside maintaining and 
responding to the BREXIT risk register, the group has overseen a range of 
communication activity and information. There has been some notable 
success in relation to the Council raising awareness of Settlement Scheme 
registration. June’s Home Office data indicates that around 40% of Non UK 
EU Nationals in our Borough had registered; significantly higher than other 
local authority areas in Hampshire. 

50. European Accessibility Act: New EU legislation came into effect in 
September 2018 for public sector bodies and makes specific reference to 
ensuring all websites and mobile applications are made accessible for 
everyone. This is likely to have council-wide impact and affect a range of 
service areas. Fortunately, the new website was designed using accessibility 
guidelines from gov.uk and work to the main site is likely to be minimal. 
However, the legislation is likely to affect some of the forms and documents 
that are uploaded to the site.

111



Eastleigh Borough Council

51. The Council has asked its web development company to review our website to 
see if it complies with new legislation and will be discussing with them what 
improvements may be required. Further research to ensure we meet 
accessibility standards is also being carried out. 

52. The 2018 regulations build on existing obligations to people who have a 
disability under the Equality Act 2010 (or the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
in Northern Ireland). These say that all UK service providers must consider 
“reasonable adjustments” for disabled people.

Financial Performance

53. There have been significant improvements in the way engagement with 
managers has taken place during 2019/20 enabling a more open culture of 
performance monitoring. This, along with the continuation of the successful 
financial monitoring process, means the Council is projecting net favourable 
service variances for the full year totalling £133,000. The reasons for these 
variances are detailed in the paragraphs above. The table below gives a 
summary of the variances by service:

£000's

Economy: 0
Environment:
Countryside Management (61)
Tree Works (20)
Combined Heat and Power and Renewable 
Energy (25)

Depot (100)
Fly Tipping (60)
Highways Agency (19)
Car Parking (40)
Other 32
Health and Wellbeing:
Places Leisure Eastleigh (156)
Licensing 23
The Point (60)
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support 80
Other 4
Housing:
Development Management 56
Service Delivery Case Management (57)
Strategic Planning 102
Corporation Estates 160
Internal Services 157
Support Services 29
Local Area Services 100
Other (12)

112



Eastleigh Borough Council

Area Committees 0

Position of Services 133

Non Service Related Items (964)

Total (831)

54. Overall financial performance also includes non service related items and 
these are forecasting a net adverse variance of £964,000 for 2019/20 leading 
to a net overall adverse position against the budget of £831,000. The key 
variances included within this figure are detailed below.

 An increase in interest payable of circa £1.433m due to the 
restructuring of £300m of borrowing from short term variable rate 
borrowing to long term fixed rate borrowing. This increased cost is to be 
offset by reduced costs in future years, as short term variable rates are 
currently forecast to increase above the long term fixed rates achieved 
in April 2019.  

 Net transfers to reserves is forecast to be £339,000 lower for 2019/20 
which recognises the General Fund surplus transferring to the Interest 
Reserve and additional transfers from reserves to fund service and 
local area initiatives. 

 Decrease in MRP of £278,000 is due to an updated reflection on the 
timing on completion of spend on projects. This does not have an effect 
on the total amount of debt repaid over the 50 year life of these assets.

Continuous Improvement Strategy

55. The 2018/19 Financial Outturn Report approved the allocation of £524,000 
from the General Fund, as well as the continued use of capital receipts into 
2019/20 which will be used to support Service Delivery Case Management to 
release some staff to focus on process redesign work. This work will drive out 
process efficiencies to address Council tax backlogs and relieve existing 
pressures. The support to the Case Management team is the biggest staff-
based improvement project at the current time, but there are also a number of 
smaller process improvement projects underway as part of the Council’s 
approach to continuous improvement. 

56. In addition to the funding highlighted above, further service redesign has been 
supported by use of capital receipts throughout the Council’s continuing 
transformation programme. The MTFP process has identified a requirement 
for additional resources (specifically to support the successful implementation 
of a case management approach across the Council). A number of key roles 
will be appointed to seek to implement this Strategy. A Continuous 
Improvement Strategy will be drafted for approval in February 2020 which will 
realise the £2.5m savings and implement the Case Management Systems 

113



Eastleigh Borough Council

over five years as detailed in the MTFP. The Strategy will support improved 
commercial approaches and financial management; more efficient processes 
(and the case management approach) together with a review of services to 
ensure that all activity is strategically aligned and having maximum positive 
impact to support communities and improve lives of people in the Borough.  

Community Investment Programme

57. The Community Investment Programme (CIP) has a rolling budget of £68.7m 
for 2019/20.  The budget has reduced by £8.2m since originally set which is 
primarily due to slippage on schemes that are now no longer due to complete 
in 2019/20 including Upper Northam Road, Romsey Road, and some works 
on the former Civic Site. 

58. As at 6 October 2019, £11.18m had been spent representing 17% of the total 
budget. The progress of CIP schemes are reported as part of the highlight 
reports completed by Project Managers monthly and reported back to the 
relevant boards. As with revenue budgets, project managers are asked to 
identify forecast spend for the year in order that total CIP budgets can be 
monitored effectively and also profiled into the most appropriate financial year. 
This is an iterative process with adjustments to budgets between financial 
years being made as and when reported to the relevant boards.

Chief Financial Officer’s Statement

59. As the Council’s Statutory Finance Officer, the Chief Financial Officer is 
required to advise the Council on all pertinent financial matters including the 
level of balances and, in particular, to alert Councillors to any concerns she 
may have regarding the financial well-being of the Council.  

60. The financial monitoring process is a very important element of the Council’s 
financial arrangement as it assesses how effective the day to day 
management of budgets has been throughout the year. Any unforeseen 
overspends and underspends can distort the Council’s financial position and 
financial planning process. 

61. A key element of the financial process is accurate budgeting and forecasting. 
Historically there are underspends in revenue budgets and it is important that 
these are identified by service managers as soon as they are foreseen. There 
are continued efforts to improve identification of budget variances and ensure 
these are reflected within the rolling budget (as can be seen within the detail of 
this report). The financial position is reassuring and the Council continues to 
move forward with service provision and an extensive housing and capital 
programme with financial security. 

Risk assessment

62. The purpose of this monitoring process is to give Councillors the assurance 
that the Council is performing broadly in line with the Budget. This report is 
also integral to the risk management process in respect of the Council’s 

114



Eastleigh Borough Council

finances.  Appendix 4 contains the current performance and financial risk 
assessment.

Equality and diversity implications

63. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

64. This performance report, as well as providing a comprehensive snapshot of 
the Council’s finances, provides the opportunity to advise Councillors of 
significant financial issues that may impact on the Council’s service 
performance. Financial performance continues to be positive. The Council 
continues to effectively deliver a dynamic range of services however there are 
some performance areas needing attention and rectification of these issues is 
important in ensuring the Council is continuing to meet customer need. 

GAETANA WISEMAN
HEAD OF PERFORMANCE AND GOVERNANCE

Date: 14 October 2019 
Contact Officer: Gaetana Wiseman & Emma Pearce 
e-mail: gaetana.wiseman@eastleigh.gov.uk

emma.pearce@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 5

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

List Background Papers: None.

115



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 1 – Corporate KPI Spreadsheet 
D

ir
e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

D
e
li

v
e

ry
 

Arts & Culture Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green >= 55% 
Amber <= 50% 

Red < 40% 

60% (National 
target) 

Total Attendance 
(The Point & Berry 
Theatres) 
audience figures 

71% 47% 64% 55% 48% 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Case 
Management 

(Delivery) 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

Green < 30 
Amber < 50 
Red > 50  

0 

Council Tax - 
number of 
customers with 
outstanding 
account queries 
older than 5 days 
(backlog) 

    
New KPI 
from July  

1967 
(down 
from 

2,732 at 
end June) 

1,312 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green > 100% 
Amber > 97% 

Red < 97% 
100% 

Council Tax - 
Percentage of 
work items 
completed vs. 
received 

    
 New KPI 
from July  

115% 
(9,498 / 
8,241) 

115% 
(10,503/ 
9,099) 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Country Parks 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  95% of target 

IVCP visitor 
numbers  

25,205 22,350 19,115 
24,490 
(+6.5% 
2018) 

68,082 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  95% of target 

Car park takings 
IVCP 

£25,579 £22,124 £15,680 £23,037 £28,082 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  95% of target 

Lakeside 
conference 
takings 

£2,554 £3,053 £3,690 £3,657 £1,544 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

 Customer 
Services 

Processes 
Provided 

for 
context 

Not applicable Not applicable 
Average number 
of calls handled 
per working day 

527 503 425 464 469 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

Green > 10% 
Amber > 5% 

Red < 5% 
10% 

% of customer 
interactions (calls) 
routed to self-
service 

11% 10% 11% 11% 9% 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

Green > 60% 
Amber > 55% 

Red < 50% 
60% 

% of all customer 
interactions (calls) 
resolved at first 
point of contact 

61% 60% 60% 58% 63% 

117



2 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

Green > target 
Amber within 
5% of target 

Red > 5% from 
target 

80% 

% of calls 
answered vs 
offered (taking 
into account peak 
times during the 
year) 

79% 

Target = 
80% 

Actual = 
80% 

Target = 
85% 

Actual = 
83% 

Target = 
85% 

Actual 
=85% 

Target = 
90% 

Actual = 
81% 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

Green > 55% 
Amber > 50% 

Red < 50% 
55% 

% calls answered 
in less than 60 
seconds 

36% 41% 50% 49% 37% 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Direct Services - 
Domestic waste 

& recycling 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  £705k 

Accumulative 
Garden Waste 
Revenue 

£381,058 £720,823 £749,516 £759,060 £761,901 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  £850k 

Accumulative 
Trade Waste 
Revenue 
(quarterly) 

£203,076 
  

£241,816 
 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  

45% -                                           
42.4% (EBC 

18,19) 

Percentage of 
total domestic 
waste collected 
sent for recycling 
(monthly) National 
target 50% by 
2025 

43.5% 45.2% 44.7% 46.7% 45.8% 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

  

440kgs per year                     
426 (EBC18/19)  
<36.7 kgs per 
month <35.5 
(EBC 18/19) 

Kilograms of 
domestic residual 
waste collected 
per household 
(monthly) 

36 35 33 35 34 

Direct Services - 
StreetScene 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

  5% or less 

LAMs (Land Audit 
Management 
System) score 
(inspections with 
C rating) 

6.17% 
(5/81) 

6.38% 
(6/94) 

7.41% 
(6/81) 

8.45% 
(6/71) 

1.33% 
(1/75) 

Direct Services - 
Technical 
Services 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
  80% 

Overall client 
satisfaction score 
for construction 
and maintenance 

91% 80% 91% 91% 91% 

118



3 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Direct Services - 
Technical 
Services 

(workshops) 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

Green = Low 
risk operator              

Amber – 
Medium risk 

operator              
Red – High risk 
operator (DVSA 

Intervention) 

Based on OCRS 
scoring criteria 
1.roadworthiness                
2.traffic 
3.combined score 

(Fleet) Operator 
Compliance Risk 
Score (OCRS)  

Low risk 
operator 

Low risk 
operator 

Low risk 
operator 

Low risk 
operator 

Low risk 
operator 

Direct Services - 
Domestic waste 

& recycling 
Processes 

Lower = 
better 

  <300 

Total missed bins 
– Residual waste 
& recycling 
(includes depot 
fault, customer 
fault & not proven) 

378 433 330 404 345 

Direct Services - 
StreetScene 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

95% - target time 
within 5 working 

days  

Number of 
Flytipping cases 
cleared on time  

96% 97% 100% 96% 99% 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Local Area 
Services 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Amber within 
50% of target; 
Red more than 
50% of target 
(not yet set) 

% change on 
previous year 

Number of on and 
off street PCNs 
issued 

542 
577 (27% 
down from 

2018) 

436 (44% 
down from 

2018) 

459  (24% 
down from 

2018) 
447 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Amber up to 5% 
negative                        

Red over 5% 
negative 

Growth on 
previous year (by 

month) 

Cashless parking 
trend (currently 
RingGo) 

9,315 10,200 9,605 10,082 9,456 

Local Area 
Services - 
Parking 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Amber up to 5% 
negative                        

Red over 5% 
negative 

% change on 
previous year 

Off Street revenue 
current budget 
(£,000) (KPI being 
revised) 

N/A £625 TBC £808 TBC 
£1,038 
TBC 

£1,150 
estimate 

Local Area 
Services 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

Amber within 
5% of target                                              

Red over 5% of 
target 

100% response 
within SLA 

Salesforce 
revenues 
inspection cases 
(% responded to 
within SLA) 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 

D
e
li

v
e

ry
 

Specialist 
Services -
Economy 

(Business Rates) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
< 95% amber 

Annual target 
99.2% 

% of NDR 
collected. 
Cumulative 
annual target 
100% 

Target = 
9.8% 

Actual = 
9.4% 

Target = 
18.9% 

Actual = 
19.1% 

Target = 
28.8% 

Actual = 
28.7% 

Target = 
37.1% 

Actual = 
37.8% 

Target = 
45.6% 

Actual = 
46.5% 

119



4 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Specialist 
Services -
Economy 

(Council Tax) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
< 95% amber 

Annual target 
97.3% 

% of Council Tax 
collected annual 
target 97.3% 

Target = 
9.7% 

Actual = 
9.6% 

Target = 
19.2% 

Actual = 
19.2% 

Target = 
28% 

Actual = 
27.9% 

Target = 
37.8% 

Actual =  
36.9% 

Target = 
47% 

Actual = 
45.9% 

Specialist 
Services -
Economy 

(Economic Devt) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Within 10% of 
YTD target - 

green 

Annual target 100 
(baseline for 1

st
 

year)  

Number of 
businesses 
supported 

No KPI in 
place 

6 39 2 6 

Specialist 
Services -
Economy 

(Wessex House) 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

< 3% amber             
<1% red 

 

Annual target 100 
(baseline for 1

st
 

year)  

Number of 
businesses 
supported in 
Wessex House 

No KPI in 
place 

11 8 3 25 

Specialist 
Services -
Economy 

(Commercial) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

< 90% amber              
< 75% red 

  

Annual target 90% 

% of 
establishments 
inspected this 
month achieving 
>3 

100% 100% 94% 100% 100% 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

< 90% amber              
< 75% red 

 

Annual target 90% 

New food 
establishments 
inspected within 
28 days 

    89% 92% 92% 

Specialist 
Services - 
Economy 

(Wessex House) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

< 84% amber            
< 80% red 

  

84% occupancy 

Occupancy rate = 
number of tenants 
(excluding 
Techhub and 
virtual) 

83% 86% 86% 86% 86% 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Specialist 
Services -

Environment 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
< 85% amber  < 

80% red 
85% 

Air Quality - 5 
data capture 

99.2% 99.7% 90.4% 96.6% 99.2% 

Customer  

Quarterly 
Lower 
no. = 
better 

Higher % 
= better 

> or =15% green 
< 15% amber 

< 10% red 

Using 2018 
figures as 

baseline figure 
aim for: 15% 
reduction in 

carbon intensity 
by end of financial 
year 2019/20; and 
25% reduction by 
end of financial 

year 2023/4. 

Carbon intensity 
of EBC utility 
supply (reducing 
carbon footprint) 
in tCO2e 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

2019 Q2 = 
297.67 

(2018 Q2  
= 350.18) 

= 15% 
reduction 

120



5 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
< 90% amber 
  < 75% red 

Respond =<3 
days  Monthly 
average 90% 

Flytipping 
enforcement 
cases responded 
to within specified 
time periods 

3/3 = 
100% 

2/2 = 
100% 

2/4 = 50% 1/5 = 20% 
3/5 = 60%  
YTD 48% 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

< 90% amber  
< 75% red 
concerns 
reported 

indicator data 
unreliable due to 

SF set up / 
development 

need 

% Requests within 
response target      

- Monthly average 
% 

Other Nuisance 
requests (excl 
noise) responded 
to within target 
(variable across 
request type 1 - 3 
days) 

20/26 = 
77% 

14/37 = 
38% 

18/28 = 
64% 

32/49 = 
65% 

28/46 = 
61%   

YTD 61% 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  10 days 

% and number of 
Temporary TROs 
received and 
completed within 
target time 

100% (4) 100% (3) 100% (2) 100% (5) 100% (2) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  5 working days 

[Changed in June 
from "Highway 
enquiries needing 
investigation" to]  
% and number of 
Engineering 
department 
enquiries 
answered within 5 
working days 

115 (75 - 
100% 

answered) 

114 (88 - 
100% 

answered) 

100% 
(129) 

100% 
(147) 

100% 
(100) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
< 90% amber 
 < 75% red 

90% <= 3 days 

 Noise nuisance 
requests 
responded to on 
time (3 working 
days) 

36/39 = 
93%  

37/49 = 
76% 

43/49 = 
88% 

79/91 = 
87% 

55/65 = 
85%   

YTD 85% 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  < 13 weeks  

No of planning 
applications 
commented on by 
an Ecologist 
within a specified 
time  

8 apps out 
of 15 

responde
d to = 
53% - 

10 apps 
out of 15 - 

66% 

4/10 
=40% 

4/10 = 
40% 

4/10 = 
40% 

                        

121



6 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Specialist 
Services - Health 

& Wellbeing 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green = 85%+ 
Amber =85-65% 
Red = 65% or 

less 

Healthworks 
annual target 

21,000 or 1750 
per month  

Total throughput 
for HealthWorks  

 1,587   1,724    1,771     1,775     1,661  

Customer 
Higher – 

better 

Green = 85%+ 
Amber =85-65% 
Red = 65% or 

less 

Sportworks 
annual target 

7165 

Total throughput 
for SportsWorks 
programmes 

283 324 325 750 3970 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green = 
100,000 visits 

per month, 
Amber = 

90,001-99,999, 
Red <90,000 

1,150,000 visits 
per annum 

Total visits per 
month to Places 
Leisure 

99,195 93,385 94,250 92,446 

87,030 
(being 

checked 
as may 
have 

missed 
school 
holiday 

program-
me). 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

 N/A 

Not a specific 
target as 

dependent on 
number of 

applications, 
eligibility etc. 

(Average from Apr 
2018 - Mar 2019 

is 1845) 

Total number of 
households on 
housing register 
(monthly) 

1,830 1,704 1,698 1,730 1,752 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 
 N/A 

Based on average 
from previous 

year (16) 

Number of 
homeless cases 
prevented through 
the intervention of 
housing advice 

16 22 25 20 18 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

N/A  

Based on average 
from previous 

year (36.7 months 
for 2018/19) 

Average waiting 
time all properties 
(band 2 and 3) 

32.7 32.4 31.9 31.8 31.6 

Processes 
Lower = 
better 

Green < 22 
Amber 22-26  

22 days 

Time taken to 
process Housing 
Benefit (HB) new 
claims (average 
days based on 
South region 
average) 

24 24 23 23.2 19.59 

122



7 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Processes 
Lower = 
better 

Green < 9 days 
Amber 9-11 

9 days 

Time taken for 
processing new 
HB change events 
(average days) 

7.33 7.93 7.2 7.04 5.00 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

> 85% green 
80%-85% amber 

< 80% red 
85% 

% of complex 
DFGs completed 
within 300 day 
(% of all 
completed DFGs 
that were complex 
adaptations). 

100% 
(16%) 

100% 
(25%) 

80% 
(63%) 

100% 
(24%) 

67% 
(23%) 

Processes 
Lower = 
better 

Red > 93                                      
Amber > 89                             
Green < 85 

No outstanding 
after 10 working 

days, (target 
based on average 
from Apr 2018 - 
Mar 2019 = 85) 

Number of new 
housing 
applications 
(online complete 
or pending) over 
10 working days 
since application 

94 40 41 41 63 

Processes 
Lower = 
better 

Red > 237                                  
Amber > 226                            
Green <215 

No outstanding 
after 28 working 

days  (target 
based on average 
from Apr 2018 - 
Mar 2019 = 215) 

Number of 
suspended 
housing 
applications over 
28 days since 
suspension 
(snapshot figure 
monthly) 

37 93 126 123 57 

                        

S
e

rv
ic

e
 D

e
li

v
e

ry
 

Specialist 
Services -
Housing & 

Development 
(Development 
Management) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

60% statutory 
target  

Major applications 
processed within 
13 weeks or 
agreed time 

1 of 1 - 
100% 

0% (0 of 
0) 

1 of 2 
(50%) 

1 of 2 
(50%) 

0 of 0 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

65% statutory 
target  

Minor applications 
processed within 
8 weeks or agreed 
time 

13 of 15 - 
86% 

84% (9 of 
11) 

8 of 8    
100% 

14 of 19 
(73%) 

9 of 13                   
(69.2%) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

80% statutory 
target  

Other applications 
processed within 
8 weeks or agreed 
time 

52 of 59 - 
88% 

98% (56 
of 57) 

49 of 51    
96% 

52 of 59 
(88%) 

56 of 60              
(93.3%) 

123



8 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  70% 

Combined non-
major 
development 
within 8 weeks or 
agreed time 

N/A 
95% (65 

of 68) 

187 of 
201    
93% 

66 of 78 
(84%) 

65 of 73                  
(89%) 

Processes 
Lower = 
better 

  < 10%  

% Planning 
appeals allowed 
as % of all 
planning 
application 
decisions 

2 of 6 
appeals 
allowed 
1.52% 
(131 

decisions) 

2 of 3 
appeals 
allowed 
1.56% 
(113 

decisions) 

0 of 3 
appeals 
allowed 

0% 

0 of 0 

2 of 9 
appeals 
allowed.                                 

(2.73% - 2 
out of 73 

decisions) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  100% 

Number of land 
charge requests 
responded to 
within 10 working 
days 

280 of 
282 - 
99.6% 

280 of 
282 - 
99.6% 

247 of 
247    

100% 

317 of 
319 

(99.6%) 

251 of 
253            

(98.7%) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
 N/A   

Number of 
enforcement 
notices served (All 
type of formal 
notices) 

0 3 8 2 3 

                        

S
tr

a
te

g
y

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 Performance & 

Governance 
(Democratic 

Services) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

80%+ green         
70-79% amber     

<69% red           
  

5 hours training 
delivered with a 

satisfaction rate of 
80% 

Provide an 
average of five 
hours of learning 
and development 
to elected 
members per 
month with a 
satisfaction rate of 
80%  

in Purdah 
period -
training 

not 
provided 

Over 5 hrs 
delivered. 
Satisfactio

n score 
84% 

Over 5 hrs 
delivered. 
Satisfactio

n 85% 

5 hours 
achieved 

but 
satisfac-

tion 
measure 

not 
complete 

due to 
staffing 
change 

No 
training in 

Aug as 
Council in 

recess 

Performance & 
Governance 
(Democratic 

Services) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

90%+ green            
80-90% amber             

< 80% red 
  

100% of reports 
published on time 

Number of reports 
published on time. 
Target 100% <90 
= Red > = Amber 

  100.0% 100% 90% n/a 

124



9 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Performance & 
Governance 

(Performance) 
Customer  

Lower = 
better 

  
100% should be 

resolved within 15 
working days 

% Corporate 
Complaints 
received in month 
that go outside of 
SLA of 15 working 
days response 
time 

63% 
answered  

outside  
SLA  

46% 
answered  

outside 
SLA 

43% 
answered 

outside 
SLA 

based on 
53 

complaint
s (approx 
22 over 

SLA) 

35% 
answered 

outside 
SLA 

based on 
28 

complaint
s (approx 

9 over 
SLA) 

68% 
answered 

outside 
SLA 

based on 
95 

complaint
s (approx. 
65 over 

SLA) 

Communications, 
Engagement & 

Marketing 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

Increase by 30 
per month 

Increase 
Facebook page 
likes/followers by 
30 per month 

1,653 1,733 
1786 
(+53) 

1887 
(+101+ 

1949 
(+62) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

Increase by 50 
per month 

Increase Enews 
subscribers by 50 
per month 

7,049 7,291 
7417 

(+126) 
7779  

(+362)  
8054 

(+275) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 
  

Increase by 50 
per month 

Increase 
customers with 
MyEastleigh 
accounts by 50 
per month 

15,312 15,877 
16467 
(+590) 

17368 
(+901) 

17750 
(+382) 

Performance & 
Governance 

(Governance) 
Processes 

Higher = 
better 

100%  100% return rate 

Completion of 
statutory 
government 
returns across 
Council (as 
defined by the 
Single Data List) 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Performance & 
Governance 
(Democratic 

Services) 

Processes 
Higher = 

better 

90%+ green            
80-90% amber             

< 80% red 
  

100% return rate 
within 10 working 

days and 1 
working day for 

Cabinet 

Ensure 100% 
publication of 
agendas and 
minutes for all 
committees within 
10 working days 
(Cabinet minutes 
within 1 working 
day) 

100% 

80% (1 
out of 5 

not 
completed 

in 10 
days) 

2 sets of 
minutes 
out of 9 

published 
late 88% 

100% 100% 

125



10 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Performance & 
Governance 

(Projects) 
Processes 

Higher = 
better 

95–100% 
Green 

85–95% 
Amber 

< 85% Red 

100% compliance  

100% compliance 
with highlight 
reporting across 
all strategic 
projects  

91.80% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

                        

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

Directorate ROI Customer  

Higher 
case / 
lower 
cost = 
better 

Green < £10 
Amber < £50 

Red > £50 
£10 per case 

Total number of 
cases processed 
against the total 
staff Monthly 
actual cost for 

Support Services 

3,355 
cases 

against 
£187,184 
= £55.79 

3,398 
cases 

against 
£191,321 
= £56.30 

3,433 
cases 

against 
£246,969 
= £71.94 

3,183 
cases 

against 
£659,574 
= £207.22 

2,562 
cases 

against 
£243,985 
= £95.23 

IT Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green 100% 
Amber > 95% 

Red < 95% 
100% 

Service availability 
(i.e. email, www 
group by 
criticality) 

100% 100% 100% 100% 99.95% 

Legal Services 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green > 90% 
Amber > 85% 

Red < 85% 
100% 

To provide 
completion 
memos in respect 
of transactions 
within 48 wkg hrs 
of completion 

0 out 0 = 
N/A% 

0 out 0 = 
N/A% 

100% 100% 100% 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green > 90% 
Amber > 85% 

Red < 85% 
100% 

Number of 
Certificates of 
Lawful Use 
(Proposed or 
Existing) falling 
due to be 
determined this 
month and 
determined within 
statutory or 
agreed timescales  

 6 out of 6 
= 100% 

7 out of 7 
= 100% 

1 out of 1 
= 100% 

4 out of 4 
= 100% 

3 out of 3 
=100% 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green > 90% 
Amber > 85% 

Red < 85% 
100% 

FOI/EIR requests 
(including 
reviews) 
responded to 
within statutory 
timescales 

75% 77% 74% 75% 78% 

126



11 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

Finance Financial  
Lower = 
better 

Green > 5%  
Amber < 5% 

Red < 3% 
Reduction 

Sustained pattern 
of reduction in 

debt owed to the 
council 

Debt Collection - 
Measured by 
overall council 
debt, amount of 
invoices 
outstanding for 
more than 100 
days. 

    

£830,408.
98 - % 

movement 
captured 

next 
month 

£930,953.
51 - 

11.4% 
increase 

£996,345.
4 

7% 
increase 

Human 
Resources 

People  
. Lower = 

better 

Green < 15% 
Amber < 18% 

Red > 18% 
(National 
average 

<20%.  For 
EBC, during 12 
month period 
15/11/17 to 
15/11/18, 
‘voluntary 

resignation’ 
turnover rate 

was just under 
18%.  Aim for 

below 10% 
within 2 years 

<15% 
Turnover (no of 
people resigned / 
headcount) 

YTD 
Corporate 

16% 
 

YTD 
Corporate 

15% 
 

YTD 
Corporate 

- 15% 
 

YTD 
Corporate  

13% 
 

YTD 
Corporate  

14% 
 

People  
Lower = 
better 

Green < 7 days 
Amber < 7.5 

days 
Red > 7.5 days 

7 days 

Corporate 
Sickness (number 
of days lost per 
person) 

7.8 8 7 6 7 

People  
Lower = 
better 

Green < 7 days 
Amber < 10 

days 
Red > 10 days 

7 days 

Time to recruit - 
Date of 
resignation to the 
date of advert 
going live 

27.5 days 
- KPI now 
amended 

63 days - 
KPI now 
amended 

10.5 days 6.3 days 17 days 

Internal Audit Processes 
Lower = 
better 

Red > 10% 
Amber > 5% 
Green < 5% 

Various 

No of Grade 1 and 
2 accepted 
recommendations 
outstanding/ not 
fully implemented 
on time 

65% 50% 17% 28% 

25% - 
2018/19 
100% - 
2019/20 

                        

127



12 

D
ir

e
c

to
ra

te
  

Team & service 
area 

KPI 
category 

KPI 
polarity 

KPI thresholds 
(for RAG 
status) 

KPI target KPI definition April May  June  July  August 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

Property 
Services 
(Asset 

Management) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Red < 60% 
Amber 60% to < 

80% 
Green 80% or 

more 

80% or more 

Net revenue 
generated as % of 
Corporation 
Estate budget 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

80% or 
more 

98% 
(£365555

8.92 
revenue) 

98% 
(£365555

8.92 
revenue) 

Customer  
Lower = 
better 

Green 5% or 
less 

Amber > 5% to 
8% 

Red > 8% 

5% or less 
Voids as % of 
total number of 
lettable units 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 
TBA 

4 voids 
from a 
total of 

143 units  
(3%) 

4 voids 
from a 
total of 

143 units  
(3%) 

S
u

p
p

o
rt

 S
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

Property 
Services 
(Building 

Surveyors) 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green 75% or 
above 

Amber > 50% to 
74% 

Red < 50% 

75% or above 
% of scheduled 
Building Surveys 
carried out 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

80 % 
completed 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green 75% or 
above 

Amber > 50% to 
74% 

Red < 50% 

75% or above 

Carry out a 
programme of 
Repairs and 
Renewals work 
with particular 
focus on 
minimising risk 
across our built 
assets. Subject to 
allocated budget 
available. 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

100 % 
completed 

Customer  
Higher = 

better 

Green 90% or 
above 

Amber > 75% to 
89% 

Red < 75% 

90% or above 

Provide timely 
technical support 
following request 
within 7 days. (24 
hours for an 
emergency) and 
initial proposals 
provided within 28 
days subject to 
complexity. 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

Information 
not 

available 

90 % 
completed 

 

128



Appendix 2

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING SUMMARY - 2019/20 1 APRIL TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

Original Rolling Actual Forecast Outturn

Budget Budget Year to Date Variance

Theme £ £ £ £ £

Economy:

Skills & Business 9,040 25,570 (182,537) 25,570 0

Greener Borough:

Environment 4,606,870 4,452,790 1,595,613 4,707,790 (255,000)

Transport (1,114,380) (863,510) (979,042) (825,510) (38,000)
Health and Wellbeing:

Health 1,229,820 1,257,630 686,419 1,446,630 (189,000)

Social Policy 235,380 287,140 (414,083) 207,140 80,000

Housing:

Planning & Property (12,838,640) (12,716,490) (6,102,028) (12,939,490) 223,000

Corporate 9,740,660 10,199,570 7,667,813 9,887,570 312,000

Area Committees (Net of Gross Cost Adjustment) 1,041,360 1,075,860 343,083 1,075,860 0

Position on Services 2,910,110 3,718,560 2,615,238 3,585,560 133,000

Non Service Related Items (3,182,630) (3,553,580) (2,589,580) (2,589,580) (964,000)

Net Position (272,520) 164,980 25,658 995,980 (831,000)

129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

Original Rolling Actual Budget

Budget Budget Sep-19 Remaining

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

PROGRAMME BOARD £ £

Housing 56,724,200             49,973,000 8,068,700 41,904,300

Future Eastleigh Service Redesign 75,000                    903,600 153,800 749,800

Infrastructure 2,669,700               4,079,000 321,400 3,757,600

Investment Property -                         -                      -                     

Leisure * -                         212,300 -346,300 558,600

Regeneration * 13,948,700             4,166,300 200,600 3,965,700

LAC - Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath 2,229,800               576,700 38,000 538,700

LAC - Bursledon, Hamble & Hound 128,800                  367,900 130,400 237,500

LAC - Chandler's Ford & Hiltingbury 146,700                  352,500 100                    352,400

LAC - Eastleigh 38,700                    6,443,100 2,529,000 3,914,100

LAC - Hedge End, West End & Botley 1,012,200               1,664,600 85,200 1,579,400

76,973,800 68,739,000 11,180,900 57,558,100

* Negative values are in respect of the Council's policy on funding retentions in advance of payment. 

Once retentions have been settled, these will balance to zero

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME                                          

QUARTER 2 - 2019/20

131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

1 Final accounts not approved by external 

auditors

Final accounts working 

papers not of sufficient 

standard to receive 

unqualified audit opinion

Compliance with the CIPFA CODE 

and EY requirements.

Moderate Very unlikely 3 1 3

2 Failure to deliver strategic priorities due 

to inaccurate financial forecasting

Service and corporate 

expenditure varying from 

plans set by need to fulfil 

strategic priorities

Business planning, budget 

strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes linked to 

strategic objectives requirements

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

3 Key financial strategies set on the basis 

of inaccurate assessment of the 

Council's overall position

Poor budget preparation 

and poor financial 

monitoring

Sound and effective financial 

systems, Budget holders sign off 

budgets and monitoring 

information.  Central support 

provided to managers from 

Support Services - Financial 

Services Unit

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2019/20- RISK ASSESSMENT

Appendix 4 

133



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2019/20- RISK ASSESSMENT

Appendix 4 

4 Interest Rate Pressure Potential for rising interest 

rates above that 

anticipated as part of the 

budget

Budget strategy (Treasury 

Management), monitoring and 

forecasting processes. Interest rate 

reserve. Engagement of external 

advisor, Arlingclose, to provide 

advice on how the Council can 

manage its investment and 

borrowing portfolio.

Serious Unlikely 4 2 8

5 Additional Borrowing exceeding 

affordable levels

Additional borrowing will 

place pressure on the 

revenue budget 

particularly if interest rates 

rise

Budget strategy, monitoring and 

forecasting processes and treasury 

management strategy. Use of 

robust business cases factoring in 

returns based on long term interest 

rate projections.

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

6 Minimum General Fund balance falls 

below minimum level

Poor control of income and 

expenditure budgets

Business planning, Budget 

monitoring systems and clear 

accountabilities for financial 

performance

Serious Very unlikely 4 1 4

7 Lack of specialist/technical knowledge 

and capacity across services and failure 

to recruit to key posts enabling areas to 

operate effectively

Poor succession planning, 

increased demand and 

other external factors 

including buoyant job 

market including better 

rates of pay externally    

Business Planning including 

resourcing/workforce planning as 

well as People Strategy and 

regular quarterly monitoring of staff 

retentlon/turnover

Serious Possible 4 3 12

134



Ref Risk Description Cause(s) Existing Risk Controls Impact Likelihood

I L Total

Risk Score 

(Existing 

Controls)

PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2019/20- RISK ASSESSMENT

Appendix 4 

8 Failure to redesign processes which 

could generate time and cost saving 

opportunities

Lack of resource/capacity 

within organisation to 

devote to service 

improvement work 

Development of business case to 

assess need for service (process) 

redesign opportunities through 

Change and Improvement 

Programme

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

9 Failure to acheive strategic priorities 

due to poor performance or poor 

strategic planning

Poor business planning or 

unforeseenchanges in 

external environment or 

poor data quality

Strategic annual planning process, 

performance review, data quality 

improvement measures, risk 

management

Significant Unlikely 3 2 6

Impact ratings: (I) Likelihood ratings: (L)

Minor 1 Very unlikely 1

Moderate 2 Unlikely 2

Significant 3 Possible 3

Serious 4 Likely 4

Major 5 Very likely 5

The risk total is achieved by multiplying the impact score by the likelihood score. 

135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 - Residents’ Survey 2019 Report 

Background 

The Council has previously used a ‘tracker’ survey to gauge resident satisfaction as one 

measure of the effectiveness of Council services.  Survey or perception data is subject to 

individual bias and issues prevalent at the time of the survey that might obscure a more 

objective overall view, but over time and with robust methodology, such data can be useful 

to the Council.  

The Council carried out a residents’ survey in January and February 2019. 1,426 people 

responded, significantly more than previous surveys, and enough responses to give a 

margin of error of 3% using a 95% confidence level. The survey was completed mainly 

online with paper copies sent to libraries and parish/town council offices. The sample of 

respondents was self-selecting and not proportionately representative of the Council’s profile 

e.g. there was a disproportionate number of responses from older age groups. 

The survey used broadly the same questions as the LGA resident satisfaction poll conducted 

every 4 months. The survey also asked questions about recycling to test success of previous 

communications to residents, and physical activity to supplement the limited sample size of 

national Active Lives surveying. 

Survey results 

Combined ‘Very’ and ‘Fairly Satisfied, or ‘Strongly’ and ‘Tend to Agree’ scores % 

Satisfaction with the local area 77 

Satisfaction with Streetcleaning 50 

Satisfaction with how EBC runs things 57 

EBC value for money 49 

EBC acts on resident concerns 42 

EBC keeps residents well informed 66 

Trust in EBC 50 

*Average across hedge- and grass-cutting, graffiti, litter, flytip and dogmess removal. 

For most measures the results show that a majority of respondents were very or fairly 

satisfied.  

While half of respondents were satisfied/very satisfied with Streetcleaning services, this 

result is not in line with the traditionally higher levels of our award-winning Streetscene 

services, nor actual performance which shows consistently that nearly 95% of areas are 

being maintained to standard or above standard. Flytips are cleared well within target 

timescales (within 5 working days).  

137



Disaggregated scores showed that respondents were most satisfied with grass-cutting and 

least satisfied with flytipping. 

Perception of value-for-money may relate to statutory and universal services (e.g. council tax 

collection and waste/recycling) and current council tax levels, or the Council’s level of fees 

and charges for discretionary services. The 49% figure is typical for local authorities 

generally. Garden waste revenues are high as is attendances and income at IVCP, which 

may indicate satisfaction with value for money for these services. Quarter 2 attendance at 

EBC theatres is below target. Conclusions should not necessarily be drawn about value for 

money without understanding how people were responding to the question. 

Similarly the perception of how well the Council acts on concerns may reflect an overall 

sense of the Council meeting or not meeting resident expectations, or a view about specific 

customer interactions.   It is possible that opposition of some to the Council’s Local Plan has 

contributed to this score. The main Q2 performance report and KPI appendix provides a 

picture of customer care and responsiveness issues, with performance in Council Tax 

administration, and corporate complaints handling needing to be addressed. 

Residents feeling informed tallies with positive performance by the Council’s Corporate 

Communications team in achieving increasing social media followers and subscribers to 

ENews and MyEastleigh channels. 

Relatively lower levels of trust are typical of similar surveys of local government services.  

The survey also collected the following data: 

 43% of respondents felt their area has a fairly or very strong sense of community.  

30% of people agree that people pull together to improve their local area. 

 57% of respondents said that they use food waste recycling and 3% were unaware of 

the service.  (The Council’s recent campaign has significantly improved these survey 

responses.) 

 Over 80% of people correctly identified the range of plastic bottles that can be 

recycled. Between 11% and 30% incorrectly identified other plastics that they 

believed could be recycled. (This indicates that only marginal improvements to 

plastics recycling and contamination are now feasible, without widening the range of 

plastics that can be recycled.) 

 20% reported themselves as physically inactive, 45% as fairly active and 34% as 

active.1 

Implications and recommendations 

While this particular set of data may not provide sufficiently robust evidence of levels of 

satisfaction, it does indicate that with a more robust methodology and with appropriate 

comparisons (other councils, data from this survey year on year), this information can be 

used to drive improvements for residents. 

To survey more robustly (proportionately) would require resourcing (e.g. of a professional 

polling company); the Council is currently exploring the costs for this work. 

                                                           
1
 Inactive = <30mins moderate or vigorous activity in last 7 days. Fairly = 30-150 mins, Active = >150 

mins 

138



AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE

1 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET

24 OCTOBER 2019

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT – ANNUAL REPORT

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Audit and Resources Committee: Considers the annual 
risk management report, and comments on the revised Risk Management 
Framework and new Risk Appetite statement as outlined in Appendices A and B.

It is recommended that Cabinet: Considers the annual risk management report, and 
approves the revised Risk Management Framework and new Risk Appetite 
statement as outlined in Appendices A and B.

Summary

Risk Management is a key element of the Council’s operational and strategic 
functioning.  This report provides gives an annual report and a proposed policy position 
on the Council’s approach to managing risk and its appetite for risk.

Statutory Power

S151 Local Government Act 1972.  S6 Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003.

Strategic Implications

1. This report relates to all of the Council’s Corporate Objectives and the framework 
that supports the management of risks to meet those objectives. The Risk 
Appetite supports strategic priorities in certain areas whereby the Council has an 
appetite for risk in order to achieve reward, i.e. benefits for its stakeholders.

Summary of the Risk Framework

139

Agenda Item 9



2

2. Corporate Risk Management is coordinated by the Strategic Planning Manager 
and monitored by the Strategic Risk Management Group (SRMG).  A member of 
the Audit and Resources Committee is appointed to the Strategic Risk 
Management Group annually and regularly reports back developments and 
progress to the Audit and Resources Committee. The Group reviews risk 
arrangements and advises Management Team on risk issues within the Council 
and on existing and planned risk controls. Risks are reported by use of risk 
registers.  Each service and programme of projects is required to update its own 
register as part of the performance management process. These registers are 
reviewed by service managers; project risks are reviewed by project managers 
with their project group and sponsor and overseen by programme managers.  A 
corporate risk register exists to record high level risks which affect the work of 
several units or the whole Council, that are of strategic significance or for which 
further Management Team consideration or resource are required. 

Background

3. Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution (Rules and Procedures) contains the 
Council’s Financial Regulations, of which Chapter 4 outlines arrangements for 
risk management and the control of resources.  Paragraph 4.2 states “The 
Cabinet is responsible for approving the Council’s policy on risk management 
and for defining the Councillor, staff and committee structure through which risk 
management will be planned and monitored”. The revised policy is attached at 
Appendix A.

4. There are strong links between Risk Management, Insurance, Health & Safety, 
Business Continuity Planning and Internal Audit; all of these service areas have a 
staff representative on the Strategic Risk Management Group (SRMG).

Definition of Risk Management

5. Risk has been defined as the threat that an event or action will adversely affect 
an organisation’s ability to achieve its objectives and to successfully execute its 
strategies.  Risk Management is the process by which risks are identified, 
evaluated and controlled. It is a key element of the framework of governance.

Risk Management Developments

6. Work was completed on the following areas in 2018/19:

 Risk Register Review –Service Managers are responsible for managing 
risks using risk registers that are reviewed at least quarterly as part of 
service performance management. SRMG reviewed the following risk 
registers during 2018/19:

o Strategy Directorate

140



3

o Support Services Directorate
o Specialist Services and Case Management
o Direct Services
o Country Parks
o Customer Services
o Regeneration Programme

 Other matters considered by SRMG during the year:
o Events
o Insurance
o Training
o Future Eastleigh
o Links between Risk management and Business planning
o Audit resources and Audit reports
o Business Continuity
o Procurement
o Enforcement
o Health and Safety
o Risk Appetite
o Risk Categories

 Risk Reporting – The Corporate Risk Register was reported to the 
Corporate Management Team throughout the year: April 2018, July 2018, 
September 2018, January 2019, March 2019.  The template has been 
improved so that target mitigation scores are included which gives a better 
sense of risk appetite and progress needed and achieved. Each risk is 
now categorised: Financial, Reputational, Operational etc.  The number of 
risks listed on the register overall decreased over the year reflecting an 
improved approach to identifying priority risks and holding operational 
services accountable for managing risk within operational resources.

 Training – The Strategic Planning Manager attended Corporate Risk 
Management training in April 2018 shared this learning with members of 
SRMG. Training for managers was provided in October and November 
2018.  Informal one-to-one training and support has also been given to 
new and existing managers where needed. (Training for Councillors was 
provided in June 2019.)

Risk Management Policy and Practices

7. This report includes the following documents:

 The Council’s Risk Management Framework, including SRMG terms of 
reference and  Councillors’ Responsibilities – Appendix A

 Council Risk Appetite statement – Appendix B

141



4

Corporate Risk Register

8. The corporate risk register is managed by the Council’s Corporate Management 
Team and updated for newly stated risks and ongoing matters on a quarterly 
basis. The register is also reviewed by the SRMG and considered at least 
annually by Cabinet, with Cabinet members being kept appraised of corporate 
and portfolio-related risks throughout the year. 

Financial Implications

9. There are no resource requirements associated with this report. Financial risks to 
the Council are included in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register and assessed 
and managed regularly by the Chief Financial Officer, reporting Treasury 
Management and other financial risks regularly to Audit and Resources 
Committee; financial risks of individual decisions are reported in standard 
paragraphs in committee reports.

Risk Management

10. The Council significantly reduces a number of varied risks by having a robust risk 
management framework in place.

Equality and Diversity Implications

11. An equal opportunities assessment has not been carried out as service delivery 
is not directly affected by the report, although in determining risks individual 
services will be assessing equalities and diversity implications

Conclusion

12. Risk management within the Council continues to be developed in accordance 
with good risk management practice and external inspection requirements, and 
efforts are being made to ensure continuous improvement in risk management 
processes, as well as to further embed risk management awareness into Council 
business management. The practices and framework provide a sound platform 
for risk management throughout the organisation.

DICCON BRIGHT
Strategic Planning Manager

Date: 18 September 2019
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright 
Tel No: 023 8068 8436
E-mail: diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk

142

mailto:diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk


5

Appendices: 2
Report No:

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 – SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report 
or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the 
preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works or documents 
which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None.

143



APPENDIX A

 RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

DEFINITIONS

1. Risk is the potential of an action or event to impact on the Council’s achievement 
of objectives and the execution of its strategies.  Risks are things that might 
happen and are therefore different to issues (things that are happening or are 
certain to happen in the future).  Risks may be positive opportunities or negative 
threats. 

2. Risk Management is a process that allows individual risk events and overall risk 
to be identified, evaluated and managed proactively, optimising success by 
minimising negative likelihood and impact, and maximising opportunities. . Risk 
Management is a key element of the framework of governance. 

3. The best formulation for describing a risk is: cause – event – effect:

Cause Unplanned event Effect on objective
Adverse weather 
may cause …

… staff to arrive late for 
work…

…which may have the effect 
of reducing customer service 
standards.

RISK APPETITE

4. Risk Appetite is defined as the level of risk the Council is prepared to accept to 
fulfil its mission and achieve its objectives. Levels of reward and costs of 
managing risks will determine the Council’s Risk Appetite. Risks outside the 
Council’s Risk Appetite will not be tolerated and must be managed (reduced, 
transferred, mitigated etc.).

5. The overall risk appetite of the Council is defined by Cabinet annually, with 
varying appetite across different objectives and Council activities.  

6. The Council’s level of exposure to risk at any time is expressed in risk registers 
by the scoring of risks and the difference between current and target risk score 
(in line with Risk Appetite).  

7. Management and understanding of exposure will be achieved by considering and 
reviewing risks and by deploying mitigation controls that treat, tolerate, transfer, 
terminate risks or take opportunities.

8. Reports from the Strategic Risk Management Group to Management Team 
quarterly will show the level of exposure to corporate risks at the time of reporting 
and the degree of difference between exposure and appetite.

144



APPENDIX A

7

FRAMEWORK

9. The risk management framework consists of four areas, which are subject to 
regular scrutiny and review: policy which is implemented by processes which  
are carried out by stakeholders using methods, which leads to a review of 
policy to ensure continuous self-improvement.  The Strategic Risk Management 
Group oversees this entire framework and regulates it as necessary, and the 
Strategic Planning Manager (as Chair of SRMG) produces guidance and 
assistance to Councillors and staff for each of the four areas.

POLICY

10. The Council is committed to carrying out effective risk management at all levels 
and throughout all of its activities including operational, tactical and strategic 
processes, activities carried out in partnership with other organisations and 
functions carried out by the Council.  Evaluation will ensure that corporate 
objectives are successfully met and that the Council delivers the best possible 
services taking advantage of properly assessed opportunities for the benefit of its 
stakeholders.

11. The Council’s risk management process shall:
 ensure integration of risk management as a core part of business planning
 include an effective risk identification, monitoring and review process at 

service, project, programme and corporate level
 contribute towards sustainable improvements in service performance
 reduce the number and cost of insurance claims made by and against the 

Council
 improve the Council’s ability to defend claims against it
 fully document major risks and their mitigation.

12. The risk profile that the Council faces includes:
 Strategic risks: threats to the achievement of corporate and strategic 

objectives,  unwillingness or inability to adapt to changes in the Council’s 
business environment  

 Operational risks: potential lapse of performance standards, threats to 
achievement of operational objectives 

 Financial risks: risks to achieving a balanced budget, controlling costs 
(including borrowing costs) and achieving projects income levels 

 Reputational risks: Possible adverse perception of the Council by 
stakeholders 

 Compliance risks: Failure to deliver statutory functions and meet legal 
requirements; incidences of fraud or corruption

145



APPENDIX A

8

13. The Council will ensure that organisational infrastructure exists to ensure 
effective implementation of risk management processes and to ensure effective 
risk control by use of reporting mechanisms including Risk Registers.

14. Potential threats to good risk management include:

 Insufficient officer time available to drive risk initiatives
 A lack of training for staff and Councillors
 A lack of coordination of parts of the risk management framework
 Insufficient management oversight of risk and risk processes
 Lack of integration of risk management in business planning.

15. Therefore, to be effective, this policy must meet the following objectives:

 Risk management must be integrated in the culture of the Council’s 
Councillors and staff across all activities

 Risk management must embody best practice, regular training and 
continuous self-improvement

 Risks must be managed systematically, with Cabinet, Management Team, the 
Strategic Risk Management Group and the Audit and Resources Committee 
taking responsibility for the risk framework.

PROCESS

16. The key risk management process undertaken across the Council is the 
maintenance of service risk registers, which are created, owned and reviewed by 
services. The Strategic Risk Management Group conducts reviews of these 
registers in conjunction with the Corporate Risk Register where necessary.  
There are 9 such registers; each of the Council’s service areas and programmes 
will be reviewed by the SRMG at least once annually. Registers have been 
designed to provide complete records of risk including cause, ownership, existing 
controls, mitigation plans, resources required and mitigation timetables. 

17. The Corporate Risk Register is drafted, owned and reviewed quarterly by 
Corporate Management Team and reviewed by Strategic Risk Management 
Group which may make recommendations (to add, remove or amend risks on the 
register) to Corporate Management Team. The register is also  considered by 
Cabinet formally at least annually, with Cabinet members kept appraised of 
corporate and portfolio-related risks throughout the year.

18. SRMG may implement risk training for staff and Councillors to assist 
stakeholders in implementing the Risk Framework.

146



APPENDIX A

9

STAKEHOLDER RESPONSIBILITIES

19. Stakeholders in the context of risk management comprise the following groups:

Stakeholder Group Responsibilities
Cabinet Overseeing the effective management of 

risk through adoption of policy and 
considering the Corporate Risk Register 
formally at least annually. Cabinet 
members will be kept appraised of 
corporate and portfolio risks throughout 
the year.

Audit and Resources Committee 
(ARC)

Overseeing the effective management of 
risk through assurance that policy is being 
implemented

Ward Councillors Considering risks in all decisions via the 
business of committees and panels

Corporate Management Team 
(CMT)

Producing the Corporate Risk Register 
and forwarding to SRMG and Cabinet at 
least annually; ensuring the 
implementation of policy; integrating risk 
management into the culture (routines, 
processes, values, behaviours) of the 
organisation 

Strategic Risk Management Group 
(SRMG)

Monitoring and assuring the 
implementation of the Risk Framework; 
reporting to Audit and Resources 
Committee, Corporate Management Team 
and Cabinet.  See details below.

Service Heads Drafting the Risk Register for their service 
as part of business planning, and 
reviewing and updating the register 
monthly as part of service performance 
review. 

Service Teams Understanding operational risks including 
service level health and safety issues

Programme Boards and Project 
Teams

Drafting Programme and Project Risk 
Registers and forwarding to SRMG

Internal audit Comprehensive monitoring and reviewing 
of the Framework and risk controls

METHODS

20. The following methods and resources are available to enable risk management:

147



APPENDIX A

10

 Service Risk Registers: service level registers are compiled by Service 
Managers and reviewed as part of performance and business management 
routines. Registers are made available to the Strategic Planning Manager and 
SRMG, who review them and may recommend to CMT that risks of a higher 
level be escalated to the Corporate Risk Register in accordance with criteria 
agreed by the SRMG:

o Very high levels of risk outside risk appetite / target risk score
o Risks requiring CMT mitigation action
o Risks of corporate significance

 Programme and Project Risk Registers: drafted and owned by Programme 
and Project Managers, reviewed by Programme and Project Boards and the 
SRMG as for Service Risk Registers

 Corporate Risk Register: reviewed quarterly by Corporate Management 
Team and reviewed by the SRMG. Reviewed at least annually by Cabinet. 
The Corporate Risk Register is a confidential document. If the Member 
representing Audit and Resources Committee on the SRMG feels that a risk 
contained on the Corporate Risk Register should be referred to other 
Members of the Audit and Resources Committee, the Member should raise 
and discuss the matter during the confidential session of the ARC meeting 
agenda. (Cabinet members to be kept appraised of corporate and portfolio 
risks throughout the year.)

 Internal Audit: provide assurance on control issues by the use of a 
comprehensive Strategic Plan, driven in part by Service and the Corporate 
Risk Register.  The frequency of review is determined by the use of a well-
developed risk index.  Following such reviews management are alerted to 
risks and asked to record such risks in their risk register.  This allows such 
risks to be addressed and monitored.

 Insurance Management Consultancy: the Council pays for the services of a 
team of local government risk management consultants on occasions when 
external advice is required.

148



APPENDIX A

11

STRATEGIC RISK MANAGEMENT GROUP 

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Strategic Risk Management Group’s Terms of Reference are:

1. ROLE

Develop and maintain a framework, to ensure integration of risk management 
into business planning, to establish an assessment process to enable corporate 
objectives to be met and to promote good risk management practice throughout 
the Council and where relevant, to share this with partner organisations.

2. MEMBERSHIP

SRMG membership of the group includes:

 One Member representative – appointed by the Audit and Resources 
Committee

 Head of  Internal Audit
 Strategic Planning Manager
 Direct Services Manager 
 Safety and Resilience Manager
 One Local Area Manager
 Head of Operations - Support Services 
 Corporate Health and Safety Officer

Other officers and Members may be invited as necessary, depending on the 
agenda items scheduled for each meeting.

3. FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS

The group will meet at least every quarter.  Additional meetings will be held if 
circumstances require.

4. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

 Encourage a culture of risk management across the Council
 Ensure appropriate risk management is embedded in all business 

processes via the provision of guidance to Councillors and staff
 Manage and review the risk management framework to achieve continuous 

improvement
 Ensure effective risk and mitigation reporting structures and systems are 

operational

149



APPENDIX A

12

 Review service, programme, project, and corporate risks and advise as 
necessary

 Provide or arrange appropriate Risk Management training for Councillors 
and staff

 Periodically liaise with our Insurance consultants and external auditors to 
ensure the Council’s risk management framework and risk profile are 
satisfactory

 Review and update the relevant risk management sections of the Council’s 
Constitution

5. REPORTING ARRANGEMENTS AND RELATIONSHIPS

The flow of risk reporting information is set out below.

Strategic Risk Management Group

Service, Programme and Project Risk Registers

Corporate 
Risk Register

Corporate 
Management 

Team
Cabinet

Audit and 
Resources 
Committee

Strategic Internal Audit Plan

Risk Framework 
Risk Appetite

Annual 
Risk 

Report

Cllr 
updates
Annual 

Risk 
Report

Any changes to the corporate risk profile will be reported to Cabinet, with the 
impact on corporate priorities and policy decision-making linked to these 
changes.  

Additionally, Internal Audit will notify the SRMG of risks identified during its own 
risk assessment process, as the Head of Internal Audit is a member of the group.

150



APPENDIX A

13

6. PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

For each risk, the potential impact and likelihood are rated on scales of 1 to 5, 
then the resulting figures are multiplied together and rated such that a rating of 1 
indicates very low risk and 25 indicates the highest level of risk. 

The Risk Registers require users to record current risk ratings and ratings 
expected following a defined plan for mitigation.  

151



APPENDIX A

14

COUNCILLORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

Elected Councillors are responsible for governing the delivery of services to the local 
community.  Failure to deliver services efficiently and high-level incidents and scandals 
often result in the public questioning the competence of those in charge. It often 
transpires that such failures and scandals could have been avoided if proper 
governance procedures had been operating effectively.  Such questions can impact on 
the public perception of individual Councillors or the Council as a whole.  Cabinet 
members have a responsibility to understand the strategic risks that their Council faces, 
and to decide how these risks should be managed.  They should not seek to avoid or 
delegate this overall responsibility as it is key to their stewardship responsibilities.  
Cabinet members should:

 seek implementation of a strategic risk management process and policy; 
 agree on the Councillor and staff structures for planning and monitoring risk 

management across the authority; 
 correctly position risk management as a strategic and operational tool that can 

help Councillor and staff to meet the challenges and demands facing them, 
rather than as a mere compliance exercise; 

 promote the desired mindset and attitude that is essential for successful 
implementation and robust, ongoing risk management processes; 

 view the process as a significant management exercise, with the right level of 
resources committed to implementation of risk policy and risk management 
measures; 

 take a top-down approach, focusing on issues of corporate significance rather 
than a ‘bottom-up’ exercise which would be too large to manage; and 

 aim for continual improvement on a longer-term basis.

KEY TASKS FOR CABINET MEMBERS

Councillors need to determine within existing leadership structures how they will plan 
and monitor the Council’s risk management arrangements.  They should:

 decide on the structure through which risk management will be led and 
monitored; 

 consider appointing a particular group or committee, such as an audit committee, 
to oversee risk management policy and to provide a focus for the process; 

 approve the Council’s policy on risk
 agree the Council’s risk appetite i.e. the degree to which the Council is willing to 

accept risk; 
 receive reports on risk management and internal control – officers should report 

annually on the effectiveness of the framework, with possibly interim reporting as 
necessary. 

152



APPENDIX A

15

Cabinet Members must support and monitor both implementation and ongoing risk 
management processes.  This includes:

 embracing risk management in a positive way to: 
o drive service and organisational improvement; 
o assist in the achievement of Council’s objectives; 
o ensure that sensible management decisions are taken; 
o minimise the likelihood of things going wrong and their potential impact; 

and 
o provide a framework to meet new challenges 

 promoting the right management culture on an ongoing basis. Most problems 
that materialise are likely to be people-based and arise through lack of proper 
application of management processes rather than through weaknesses in 
systems.

153



APPENDIX B

Eastleigh Borough Council Risk Appetite Statement October 2019

Overall Appetite (October 2019) MODERATE

(Risk Appetite range: AVERSE - CAUTIOUS – MODERATE – OPEN – AMBITIOUS)

The Council’s overall attitude towards risk, across all its services, is MODERATE.  

The Council is AVERSE to compliance risk. It must comply with legal requirements and 
carry out statutory duties, and is entrusted with public funds to deliver services to 
residents. Some of the services of the Council relate to vulnerable individuals and 
families.

The Council’s brand and reputation is important in providing residents with confidence 
and security, but the Council accepts that some of its activities may be unpopular, or 
may not be fully understood by stakeholders; appetite towards reputational risk is 
therefore OPEN.  The Council is AMBITIOUS in relation to its community leadership to 
address Climate Change.

In discretionary service areas, or for core services for a limited period, the Council will 
adopt an OPEN approach to risk, due to financial constraints and changes in the 
Council’s ways of working; the Council is prepared to accept a small negative impact 
upon its financial position in order to achieve its overall goals, especially when 
achievement of those goals will deliver substantial benefits to residents/businesses 
and/or realise significant longer-term efficiencies.

The Council’s appetite to risk is more OPEN where it needs to operate more 
innovatively and commercially in order to continue to provide services and achieve 
corporate objectives. The introduction of new ways of working, and the Council’s 
approach to commercial property investment and housing delivery are examples of the 
Council’s more AMBITIOUS appetite for risk; risks are more acceptable here because 
the opportunity for reward is greater; nevertheless robust measures are taken to 
mitigate risk e.g. treasury management.

The Council takes safety of residents, staff, and visitors to the borough very seriously 
and is AVERSE to risk in this area.  A range of policies and procedures are in place, as 
well as specific services that promote safety:  e.g. Food Hygiene, Health and Safety 
inspections of businesses, working practices by Direct Services operatives, Community 
Safety and Emergency Planning.

The table below sets out a Risk Appetite scheme for Corporate Plan objectives.

154



APPENDIX B

17

(Risk Appetite range: AVERSE - CAUTIOUS – MODERATE – OPEN – AMBITIOUS)

Objective Finance Compliance Service 
delivery

Reputation

Tackling congestion Moderate Averse Moderate Moderate

Developing green infrastructure Moderate Averse Open Open

Excellent environment for all Moderate Averse Moderate Moderate

Minimising waste and managing 
resources

Moderate Averse Open Ambitious

Enabling healthier lifestyles / wellbeing Moderate Averse Open Moderate
Tackling deprivation Moderate Averse Moderate Moderate

Increased provision and more diverse 
mix of housing

Ambitious Averse Ambitious Open

Ensuring appropriate infrastructure 
including employment land

Open Averse Moderate Open

Enabling the right skills and 
employment mix

Moderate Averse Moderate Moderate

Reinvigorating town and local centres Open Averse Open Moderate

155



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

CABINET

24 OCTOBER 2019

CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager

Recommendation(s)

It is recommended that  

Cabinet approve the attached draft Strategy (Appendix 1) for consultation.

Summary

This Strategy provides an overarching set of principles for all enforcement carried out by 
the Council.  Enforcement policies will determine specific approaches for individual areas 
of enforcement.

Statutory Powers

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence,
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Corporate Plan Objectives

1. This report relates to a number of Corporate Plan objectives due to the way 
different enforcement activities aim to improve the environment, health and 
wellbeing and economy of the Borough. 

 Introduction

2. Councillors have previously suggested a renewed policy approach to 
enforcement. Previous policy documents were out of date and insufficient to 
support a robust legal approach.  At the same time the Council’s Internal Audit 
identified that the Council lacked an overarching enforcement strategy. 

Corporate Enforcement Principles

3. The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory functions under various 
statutes, regulations and guidance.  Good practice and industry bodies 
suggest that such regulatory activity is carried out according to a set of 

157

Agenda Item 10



Eastleigh Borough Council

principles that are most likely to result in sustainable positive results for the 
Borough’s residents and businesses.

4. Councillors have signalled that a number of policy principles should be 
included:

(a) Minimising delays to resolving enforcement cases.

(b) Improved communication of activity and results of enforcement activity 
to promote confidence in the Council.

(c) Increased enforcement in relation to development so that the supply of 
housing is increased but without negative impact on communities.

5. Local Area Committees, town and parish councils have expressed priorities 
for enforcement and these will be considered by Strategic Planning Leads and 
Lead Specialists as they develop enforcement policies and business plans in 
line with resources.  

6. Discussions with a range of internal stakeholders (Lead Specialists, Internal 
Audit, Local Area Manager (BHH), Corporate Director (Delivery)) has led to 
the approach to enforcement proposed here i.e. an overarching Corporate 
Enforcement Strategy which includes both generic enforcement good practice 
principles and overall policy approaches set by Councillors.  Detailed 
approaches for specific areas of enforcement should be articulated in bespoke 
policies for each area e.g. planning, parking, HMO licencing, noise nuisance 
etc. and reflected in annual operational service plans.

7. Such policies will be developed through discussions with relevant Cabinet 
members and key staff such that the approach and desired level of 
enforcement activity is matched with the necessary level of resource.

Next Steps

8. If approved for consultation, the draft Strategy will be published and 
responses collated in a report to Cabinet on 16 January 2020. It is expected 
that a range of Enforcement Policies will come forward for approval in March 
2020.

9. The consultation will invite comments on the draft Strategy document itself, 
and also seek views on the Council’s approach to different types of 
enforcement, which will inform the development of specific enforcement 
policies.

10. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel will be consulted at their meeting on 
18 November 2019. 

158



Eastleigh Borough Council

Financial Implications

11. The attached Strategy has no financial implications on its own, although it 
implies that increased capacity may be required in Legal Services and 
Communications.

12. Financial implications relating to specific areas of enforcement will be 
assessed during service planning and any proposals made for budgets at the 
relevant time.

Risk Assessment

13. The Council risks having its prosecutions challenged and having an 
incoherent approach to enforcement unless it adopts a set of guiding 
principles.  

14. The Council risks breaching its own Corporate Enforcement Strategy if 
services are not resourced sufficiently to meet the procedural approaches e.g. 
effective and timely communication with parties being enforced against.

Equality and Diversity Implications

15. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people.  Different enforcement 
activities may affect groups in different ways.  Equality impacts will be 
assessed as part of the public consultation.

16. Equality impacts for specific enforcement areas (planning, parking, noise etc) 
will be assessed in relation to those specific policies.

17. The Strategy includes (at paragraph 1.3) the requirement to consider how 
enforcement relates to deprivation and socio-economic disadvantage. 

Conclusion

18. The attached Strategy is recommended for comment and approval for 
consultation.

DICCON BRIGHT
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER

Date: 11 October 2019
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright
Tel No: 023 8068 8436
e-mail: Diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Draft Corporate Enforcement Strategy – Appendix 1
Report No

159



Eastleigh Borough Council

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Internal Audit report
Enforcement Review

 

160



Appendix 1

Eastleigh Borough Council

Corporate Enforcement Strategy

October 2019

Version 2.5 - 10 October 2019
Consultation draft

Author Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning Manager
Date approved
Approved by
Date to be reviewed by 1 year from approval date above

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION

2 SCOPE AND MEANING OF ‘ENFORCEMENT’

3 UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES

4 DECISION MAKING

5 NOTIFYING ALLEGED OFFENDERS

6 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS

7 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN 

RIGHTS

8 PUBLICITY AND COMMUNICATIONS

9 STATUS OF THIS STRATEGY

APPENDIX A AREAS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY LIST

APPENDIX B TYPES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DETAILS

161



Appendix 1

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has duties and responsibilities 
delegated to it by Central Government.  Some of the duties involve 
regulation and enforcement of various laws designed to protect the health 
and well being of the residents, consumers and workers of the Borough, 
to support activities, and to protect the environment in which people work 
and live. 

1.2 Aside from statutory duties, enforcement activity supports the 
achievement of the Council’s vision and a number of objectives in the 
Corporate Plan 2015-2025:

“To lead and support Eastleigh Borough and its communities: developing 
a strong and sustainable economy that supports improved standards of 
living for residents; promoting thriving and healthy communities; and 
maintaining an attractive and sustainable environment that residents 
value.”

1.3 Relevant Corporate Plan objectives include the objective of Tackling 
Deprivation; the Council will give due consideration to this objective in 
carrying out its enforcement activity.

1.4 The Council recognises the need for effective and timely enforcement of 
legislation and also recognises the effects of enforcement action on 
individuals and businesses.  

1.5 This document has been prepared with regard to the current principal 
legislation and statutory guidance. 

1.6 This Strategy sets out the Council’s overarching approach to enforcement  
which seeks a balanced approach to minimise harms, promote wellbeing 
and prosperity and prevent breaches where possible.  

1.7 Specific enforcement policies for each service area will set out legislative 
and procedural details for Council staff  to follow and provide guidance as 
appropriate for individuals and businesses being regulated. These 
policies will be published on our website as appropriate.

1.8 By this document and relevant specific enforcement policies the Council 
intends to enable enforcement officers to interpret and apply relevant 
legal requirements and enforcement policies fairly and consistently.

1.9 The Council undertakes enforcement activity in accordance with our 
statutory responsibilities on behalf of the public  at large and not in the 
interests of any particular individual, business or group. 

1.10 Commercialism

1.11 The Council will seek to recover any costs it can through enforcement.

1.12 The Council will consider carefully options to outsource enforcement 

162



Appendix 1

activity to a commercial partner at this time. Where the Council uses 
outside agencies the Council will retain control and accountability for the 
way the service is delivered. 

2 SCOPE AND MEANING OF ‘ENFORCEMENT’

2.1 This Strategy applies to all the legislation enforced by officers of all 
regulatory and enforcement services of Eastleigh Borough Council.

2.2 ‘Enforcement’ includes any criminal or civil action taken by officers aimed 
at ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with the law.  The 
Council will ensure that its own enforcement officers interpret and apply 
their legal requirements and enforcement policies consistently and fairly.

3 UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES

3.1 Our principles are informed by The Regulators’ Code which took effect on 
6 April 2014, the Enforcement Concordat, and the Guidance of the Better 
Regulation Delivery Office (BRDO) as to how to apply these documents.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/1110
7.htm

4 DECISION MAKING

4.1 In all cases the Council will strive to ensure that enforcement decisions 
are always fair and consistent, and in compliance with statutory 
requirements and legal guidance.

4.2 The decision to take formal enforcement action will be made by officers in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution.  

5 NOTIFYING ALLEGED OFFENDERS

5.1 If we receive information, for example from a complainant, that may lead 
to formal enforcement action we will notify the alleged offender as soon 
as is practicable of the position, unless this could impede an investigation 
or pose a safety risk to those concerned or the general public or where 
notification would defeat the purpose of the enforcement action.

5.2 Personal data will only be used in accordance with the relevant data 
protection legislation.  Our Privacy Notices detailing how we use personal 
data may be found at https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy.

6 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS

The Council prefers to secure compliance with legislation by a process of 
education and encouragement and will, wherever appropriate and 

163

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/11107.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/11107.htm
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy


Appendix 1

possible, informally work with the resident or business to rectify breaches 
of legislation.  However, it will sometimes be necessary for more formal 
action to be taken. 

6.1 The main enforcement areas are listed at Appendix A with further detail 
given at Appendix B of this policy. 

6.2 Business operating in more than one local authority area

Where a business operates in more than one Local Authority area and 
has chosen to have a registered Primary Authority Partnership under The 
Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions (RES) Act the Council will, where 
required, comply with the agreement provisions for enforcement.

6.3 Liaison and Partnership with other regulatory bodies and 
enforcement agencies

The Council will, where appropriate, cooperate and coordinate with any 
relevant regulatory body and/or enforcement agencies that have a joint or 
complementary enforcement role to maximise the effectiveness of any 
enforcement and to ensure a consistent and coordinated approach. 

We will share intelligence with other enforcement agencies in accordance 
with relevant data protection legislation.  These bodies include -
a) Government Agencies.
b) Police Forces.
c) Fire Authorities.
d) Health agencies in the public sector
e) Statutory undertakers.
f) Other Local Authorities.

7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN 
RIGHTS

The Council has a duty to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of 
opportunity and promote good relations between different people and 
groups.  The Council will give appropriate consideration to these duties in 
the way it carries out enforcement activity. 

The Council’s enforcement role and duties apply inclusively across all 
community groups and geographic neighbourhoods. 

The Council will identify patterns of demand and impact and consider 
whether collective, community-based measures may be appropriate in 
order to prevent incidents and their impact on certain groups. 

Equality and Diversity issues will differ between different types of 
164



Appendix 1

enforcement. Policies and Business Plans for specific enforcement areas 
will address possible specific equality impacts.

8. PUBLICITY AND COMMUNICATIONS

Whilst not a direct form of enforcement,  officers may seek to raise 
awareness and increase compliance levels by publicising details of 
evidence of unlawful practice and any action taken.

The Council encourages residents to play a role in solving problems in 
the community and residents should feel reassured that the Council will 
take the appropriate action if they make the effort to refer a problem. The 
Council will publicise its enforcement activity from time to time as a way of 
informing and reassuring residents, and demonstrating value for money. 

Where appropriate, services will communicate with parties that have 
made an enforcement service request or submitted a complaint, to 
feedback on action taken to resolve the enforcement issue.

Many communities and stakeholders care about and identify with their 
local area (village, town, local centre) and many enforcement issues have 
a strong local community dimension.  Services will liaise with Local Area 
Managers and Parish/Town Councils to help inform the local significance 
of enforcement issues, agree appropriate local communications and 
funding, where appropriate, .

9. STATUS OF THIS STRATEGY

This Strategy is intended to provide guidance for enforcement officers, 
businesses, consumers and the public. Each case will be considered on 
its own merits and circumstances having regard to this Strategy and local 
service policies and procedures.

This Strategy will be the subject of consultation with other Hampshire 
local authorities, statutory external agencies such as the Police and Fire 
and Rescue Service, local business organisations and representatives as 
well as public consultation on the Council website.

This Strategy will be reviewed annually by relevant Lead Specialists.  It 
is proposed that the Corporate Director for Strategy be authorised to 
reapprove the Strategy annually and make minor amendments to the 
adopted Strategy as required.

165



Appendix 1

APPENDIX A AREAS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY LIST

Environment
• Fly-tipping and enviro-crime (e.g. litter, flyposting, graffiti)
• Untidy land
• Noise and other statutory nuisance
• Dog fouling/Dangerous Dogs/Stray dogs
• Animal welfare and Tethered horses
• Parking – on-street and off-street
• Licensing
• Abandoned vehicles
• Air and water pollution
• Pest control/public health 
• Waste carrier licences and waste transfer notes
• High hedges

Health and Wellbeing
• Private rented sector housing
• Houses in multiple occupation (HMO) licencing
• Empty dwellings
• Caravan site licensing
• Community safety/Anti-Social Behaviour
• Smoking in public places 
• Public urination
•

Housing and Development
• Planning enforcement including Tree Preservation Orders
• Building control

 

Economy 
• Food hygiene 
• Health and safety at work
• Council Tax and Business Rates collection
• Licensing
• Unauthorised leaflet distribution

This list is not an exhaustive list.

Individual Service Areas will be producing bespoke enforcement policies to reflect their 
individual enforcement roles and responsibilities

166



Appendix 1
APPENDIX B TYPES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DETAIL

6.4.1   Prevention
The first step in enforcement is to promote good practice, ensure policy compliance 
and prevent contravention of the law by raising awareness and promoting good 
practice.

This approach will be applied when we are not aware of any specific contraventions of 
the law.

6.4.2     Approvals, Consents and Licences
We provide a range of approvals consents and licences as specified by individual 
pieces of legislation.   Most of these are compulsory, but a few are optional.  These 
are an important part of the preventative aspect of our work.

We will work with applicants to help them to understand what is required to gain 
approval through pre-application advice, published guidelines, and post- application 
discussion.

Applicants, or their agents, will always be notified, in writing, of the outcome of their 
application, including the reasons if rejected.  Details of any rights of appeal will be 
provided at the time the decision is notified.

6.4.3     Informal Action
If appropriate, we will endeavour to resolve situations without resorting to formal 
enforcement action.

Informal action may involve offering advice, mediation where appropriate, requests for 
action, or warnings, or seeking and monitoring the delivery of undertakings or 
timetabled schedules of action.  General advice will not necessarily be confirmed in 
writing.  Where more than the most minor contravention exists, we will confirm the 
situation in writing in a clear manner and explain why any recommendations are 
necessary and over what timescale they should be met.  When we write we will 
make sure that legal requirements are clearly distinguished from recommendations.  
Informal action will be supported throughout by contact between the customer and 
Council officers.

This approach may be applied provided that the consequences of non- compliance are 
considered acceptable.

6.4.4     Formal Action
Circumstances where formal action will be considered include (but are not restricted 
to):

167



Appendix 1
 There is a significant contravention of legislation
 The wording of legislation requires the Council to take a specified action
 An informal approach has failed
 The   consequences   of   non-compliance, for health, safety, the environment, 

or other Council priorities, are unacceptable and/or immediate
 Effective action needs to be taken quickly in order to remedy conditions which 

are deteriorating
 Formal action is necessary to achieve the desired outcome without incurring 

expense or inconvenience that is disproportionate to the risks
 A charge applied by a Fixed Penalty Notice has not been paid

6.4.5     Statutory Notices

Many of the various pieces of legislation that we enforce provide for the service of 
“statutory notices” on individuals, businesses and other organisations requiring them 
to meet specific legal obligations.

Where a “statutory notice” is served, the method of appealing against the notice and 
the timescale for doing so will be provided in writing at the same time. In most 
cases, failure to comply with a “statutory notice” will result in more severe formal 
action being taken.

6.4.6 Fixed  Penalty  Notices  and  Penalty  Charge  Notices  (Civil  & Criminal)

These are notices that apply a penalty for specific matters. 

In general a penalty notice will only be issued when:

• there is sufficient evidence that an offence has been committed
• an FPN is a proportionate response allowed for by the relevant legislation

 A penalty notice will not be issued if:

• there is no offence committed
• enforcement action is inappropriate or would be disproportionate
• prosecution is more suitable

6.4.7    Work In Default

In general, it is the responsibility of others to achieve compliance with the law.  In certain 
cases the Council may undertake work to achieve compliance on behalf of others, and 
may seek a warrant to gain entry to land or premises to do so.   

In these cases the Council’s costs will be recovered from the responsible person.  If the 
costs cannot be recovered, they will usually be placed as a charge against the property, 
to be recovered at a later date.

168



Appendix 1
6.4.8    Cautions

A simple caution may be issued as an alternative to a prosecution. Cautions may be 
issued to:

• deal quickly and simply with less serious offences;
• divert less serious offences away from the courts; or
• reduce the chances of repeat offences.

To safeguard the suspected offender's interests the following conditions will be fulfilled 
before a caution is administered:

• there must be sufficient evidence to give a realistic prospect of conviction; and
• the suspected offender must admit the offence; and
• the suspected offender must understand the significance of a caution and give an 

informed consent to being cautioned.

Where the offer  of a caution is refused, a prosecution will generally be pursued.

A central register of cautions administered will be maintained.

6.4.9     Prosecution

The Council recognises that the decision to prosecute is significant with potentially far 
reaching consequences on the individual or organisation concerned. The decision to 
prosecute is taken by the Borough’s Head of Legal Services. 

All relevant evidence and information will be considered before deciding upon a 
prosecution in order to enable a consistent, fair and objective decision to be made. The 
Council will have regard to the Code for Crown Prosecutors, and will consider whether:

 there is sufficient standard evidence for there to be a realistic prospect of 
conviction; and

 the prosecution is in the public interest;

In deciding whether to prosecute, the Council will make an overall assessment based 
on the individual circumstances of each case.

Where there has been a breach of the law leading to a work-related death, the Council 
will liaise with the Police, Coroner, Health and Safety Executive and the Crown 
Prosecution Service, as appropriate

6.4.10 Proceeds of Crime

Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of the Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002. The Proceeds of Crime Act allows Local Authorities to recover assets that have 
been accrued through criminal activity.

169



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11

1

CABINET 

Thursday, 24 October 2019 

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME SCHEME APPROVAL

Report of the Chief Financial Officer

Recommendations

It is recommended that Cabinet

(1) Approve £62,000 additional funding for the delivery of the cycleway, footpath and 
bridge on the extension land at Lakeside Country Park to be funded from income 
received from the Stoneham Housing Development;

(2) Approve £115,000 additional funding for the completion of Wildern swimming pool 
roof, to be financed by New Homes Bonus;

(3) Approve £120,000 additional funding for the completion of works to Highwood Barn 
at Itchen Valley Country Park, to be financed from New Homes Bonus;

(4) Note the completion of the temporary increase to both the Council’s operational 
boundary for external debt and authorised limit for external debt by £300m as 
approved by Cabinet in June 2019; and

(5) Approve the Council’s Prudential Indicators for 2019/20.

Summary

Council approved the Community Investment Strategy on 21 February 2019.  This report 
seeks a revision to the Strategy to include additional expenditure on Lakeside Cycleway.

Restructuring the Council’s debt resulted in the need to temporarily increase the Council’s 
borrowing limits.  This restructuring is now complete, leading to the removal of the 
temporary increase.

Statutory Powers

Local Government Act 1972, Sections 111 and 151.

Strategic Implications 

1. This report relates to the Corporate Plan (2015-2025) helping to meet the 
Council’s corporate housing strategy by increasing housing supply for the local 

171

Agenda Item 11



Agenda Item 11

2

community; facilitating better physical and mental health through physical 
activity and the arts, to create a healthier community; helping to reduce 
congestion, by taking advantage of the site’s excellent transport links; and re-
invigorating the local area.    
 

2. Treasury management activity relates to the Council’s need to be financially 
robust and sustainable, underpinning all the Council’s strategic objectives.
   
Lakeside Extension Asbestos Discovery

3. A total of £275,000 expenditure for the delivery of the cycleway, footpath and 
bridge on the extension land at Lakeside Country Park was approved by 
Cabinet in two approvals in January 2017 and December 2017.  Due to 
unforeseen issues with the discovery of asbestos, an additional £62,000 is 
now required to complete the cycleway.

4. Initial site surveys before the land at Lakeside was transferred to the Council 
from the developer showed no sign of asbestos.  After the transfer of the land, 
it became apparent that asbestos was present at the site, and would need 
remedial action.

5. As the discovery of the asbestos was after the land had transferred, the cost 
will need to be borne by the Council.  Additional costs have also accrued due 
to the delays caused by the finding and remedial works to the asbestos.

Wildern Swimming Pool Roof

6. As part of the Council’s Budget approved by Full Council in February 2018, 
£800,000 was allocated from New Homes Bonus to fund the replacement roof 
at Wildern Swimming Pool, with HEWEB LAC committing an additional £170k, 
from Developers Contributions.

7. Upon extensive challenging of the tender allowances for the contract to 
replace the existing roof at Wildern swimming pool, additional budget of 
£150,000 is required, predominantly to reflect site set up, staff time and 
additional contingencies

8. HEWEB LAC has committed to funding £35,000 of this from Developer’s 
Contributions, with the remaining £115,000 to be funded from New Homes 
Bonus.

Highwood Barn, Itchen Valley Country Park

9. In April 2018 Cabinet approved total funding of £485,000 for the 
redevelopment of Highwood Barn at Itchen Valley Country Park.

10. During the progress of these works, Electrical capacity issues have been 
uncovered, and remedial works alongside a long delay in SSE being able to 
carry out capacity upgrade works, has led to an additional budget requirement 
of £120k.

172



Agenda Item 11

3

11. These works are now booked in to be completed in January 2020, and will be 
funded by New Homes Bonus.

Changes to Borrowing Limits

12. A report was approved by Cabinet in June 2019 temporarily increasing the 
Council’s operational boundary for external debt, and the authorised limit for 
external debt, to allow for the restructure of £300m of the Council’s debt from 
short term to long term.

13. This restructure has now been completed successfully, and Cabinet are 
asked to remove the temporary increase, and approve the current Prudential 
Indicators at Appendix 1, which outline the Council’s current requirements for 
the operational boundary for external debt, and authorised limit for external 
debt.

Financial Implications

14. Financing of the Community Investment Programme Schemes is dependent 
on available resources arising from capital receipts, developers’ contributions, 
external grant, reserves and borrowing.  All procurements will be made in 
accordance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders.

15. The financing of the delivery of the cycleway, footpath and bridge on the 
extension land at Lakeside Country Park will be funded through borrowing, 
with the revenue impact of this being funded from income received from the 
Stoneham Housing Development.

16. The change in the operational boundary and authorised limits for external 
debt allowed the Council to successfully restructure its debt portfolio, reducing 
interest rate risk, and it is forecast to deliver substantial savings to the Council 
over the life of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP).

Risk Management

17. The restructuring of the Council’s debt will reduce interest rate risk to the 
Council, due to the majority of the Council’s borrowing now being at a fixed 
rate, giving cost certainty to the Council over the medium to long term.

Equality and Diversity Implications

18. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality 
Impact Assessment has not been carried out.

Conclusion

19. This report seeks approval for the following expenditure under the Community 
Investment Programme Strategy approved on the 21 February 2019:

173



Agenda Item 11

4

 £62,000 for the delivery of the cycleway, footpath and bridge on the 
extension land at Lakeside Country Park

 £115,000 for the completion of works to Wildern swimming pool roof

 £120,000 for the completion of works to Highwood Barn, Itchen Valley 
Country Park

This report seeks approval for the removal of temporary increase to the 
Council’s operational boundary and authorised limit for external debt, as the 
restructure of a proportion of the Council’s debt from short term to long term is 
complete.

This report seeks approval of the Council’s Prudential Indicators

TOM ANDREWS
 SENIOR ACCOUNTANT

Date: 09/10/2019
Contact Officer: Tom Andrews 
Tel No: 8259
e-mail: tom.andrews@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers or state None.

174



Appendix 1

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total Annual Capital Expenditure 107,413 79,148 46,834 18,603 1,000

% % % % %

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 47.3 70.7 71.0 97.3 116.2

Percentage that Interest & Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is of 

the net annual budget.

Net borrowing requirement £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

       Brought forward 1 April 359,504 446,871 467,790 526,072 564,470

       Carried forward 31 March 446,871 467,790 526,072 564,470 559,907

       In year borrowing requirement 87,367 20,919 58,282 38,398 (4,562)

Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 479,332 500,251 558,533 596,931 592,368 Total value of capital spend financed from borrowing.

Annual change in capital financing requirement (CFR) 85,761 20,919 58,282 38,398 (4,562)

Net impact that capital spend less MRP has on the CFR. When MRP 

exceeds the spend this will be negative.

Net debt and the capital financing requirement

Net debt as at 31st March 446,871 467,790 526,072 564,470 559,907 Estimated total funds borrowed.

Capital financing requirement as at 31 March 479,332 500,251 558,533 596,931 592,368

Estimated total value of schemes funded from borrowing. The 

difference is due to cash reserves held meaning there is less cash 

required to be borrowed.

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £ p £ p £ p £ p £ p

on the Council Tax

       Cumulative impact of all decisions taken at Full Council (258.55) (238.74) (236.82) (207.31) (163.68)

This is an indicator of the annual impact of the Community 

Investment Programme on Council Tax. ( ) indicate a benefit.

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised limit for external debt £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

       Borrowing 478,332 499,251 557,533 595,931 591,368

       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

       Total 479,332 500,251 558,533 596,931 592,368

Operational boundary for external debt

       Borrowing 457,332 478,251 536,533 574,931 570,368

       Other long-term liabilities 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

       Total 458,332 479,251 537,533 575,931 571,368

% % % % %

Upper limit for fixed rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

% % % % %

Upper limit for variable rate interest rate exposure 100 100 100 100 100

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Upper limit for total principal sums invested >364 days 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500 14,500

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing

       under 12 months Note - the Council has no Housing Revenue

       12 months and within 24 months Account (HRA) and therefore all indicators

       24 months and within 5 years refer to non-HRA amounts

       5 years and within 10 years

       10 years and above

The affordable borrowing limit determined in compliance with the 

Local Government Act 2003. This sum can not exceed the CFR.

Based on the Authority's estimate of most likely requirement for 

external debt.

This section of indicators reflect the limits attributed to long term 

borrowing with a fixed Interest rate. The Council keep these limits at 

100% to ensure that an instant change can be made to long term 

borrowing when approved by the Treasury Management Group.

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS SEPTEMBER 2019

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS Notes

Annual actual borrowing estimates.

175



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE

Wednesday 16 October 

CABINET

Thursday 24 October 

REPAIR AND RENEWAL PLAN 2019/20 - 2023/24

Report of the Lead Building Surveyor (Property Services)

Recommendation

It is recommended that Cabinet:

(1) approve expenditure of £2.9M between 2019/20 and 2023/24 for the Council’s 
Repairs and Renewals Programme relating to operational properties to be 
financed initially through borrowing, with related revenue costs financed 
from revenue.

(2) approve expenditure of £2.4M between 2019/20 and 2023/24 for the Council’s 
Repairs and Renewals Programme relating to commercial properties to be 
funded initially through borrowing with related revenue costs financed from 
commercial property income.

(3) Allow the Lead Asset Manager in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer 
the delegated authority to adjust the financing method should the use of 
reserves provide better value for money in the financing of the Repair and 
Renewal Plan 2019/20 – 2023/24.

(4) Allow the Lead Building Surveyor, in consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer, the delegated authority to adjust the profile of spend across the 5 
years of the plan.

Summary

The Council owns multiple operational buildings allowing the Council to deliver a wide 
range of front line services and community benefits, as well as owning a successful 
investment property portfolio that is forecast to deliver a net revenue surplus to the Council 
of £9m in 2019/20. 

This report details the financial investment needed to provide the planned maintenance of 
the Councils extensive property portfolio. A required budget of £5.24M over the next five 
years (2019/20 to 2023/24) is requested to enable the Council’s operational and 
investment buildings to be maintained in a good state of repair.

177

Agenda Item 12



Eastleigh Borough Council

Statutory Powers

*Local Government Act 1972, Sections 111 and 151

Strategic Implications 

1. This report provides an overview of the Council’s property portfolio and 
highlights areas where future investment is needed over the next five years to 
ensure these assets remain both operationally and commercially effective. 

2. The approval requested is to replace and renew defective and unreliable 
components to the Council’s operational and investment buildings. This 
approval does not include future large-scale capital investment as this forms 
part of future and on-going work to determine the strategic direction of the 
Council’s property Portfolio, which will be reported as part of the updated 
Asset Management Strategy which will be presented to Cabinet in January 
2020. Continued investment will ensure fitness for purpose including 
development of an adequate infrastructure and improved environmental 
performance, to retain and maximise asset value and income generation.

3. This expenditure will allow the Council to continue to have a proactive and 
commercial approach to its property investment, actively supporting the 
corporate objectives of maintaining a sustainable environment and providing 
infrastructure to support a prosperous community.

Introduction

4. The Council holds a single asset list for all Council owned and leased 
property.  In determining the level of funding needed to maintain assets, the 
Property Services Team have carried out site visits and desk top surveys of 
over 300 sites to review the current condition of its built estate. 

5. As part of the surveying process estimated budgets have been produced that 
determine the likely investment needed in order to replace and renew major 
components on Council buildings.  These works will also enable proactive 
improvement of the environmental performance of our estate to comply with 
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES).  Appendix 1 shows the current 
environmental performance grade of the relevant buildings. These grades 
determine what action is required under the MEES regulations.

6. The estimated budgets are required for long term improvements and 
replacement components and are therefore classed as capital improvements 
and are not appropriate to charge to revenue costs. Each building is 
maintained to maximise the life of its components, but these eventually need 
to be replaced which require this budget.

178



Eastleigh Borough Council

Operational Properties

7. The operational portfolio of property includes the following significant assets:

 Itchen Valley and Lakeside Country Parks
 Eastleigh House
 The Point
 Operational depots at Hedge End and Dutton Lane.

These buildings all require continuous planned investment to replace 
infrastructure and provide necessary compliance.  This report quantifies the 
likely spend on operational properties over the next 5 years and it is intended 
that this report will be brought to Cabinet annually in future.  The Council will 
always minimise repairs and renewals costs whilst delivering value for money, 
and this will continue through this 5 year programme of works.

Commercial Properties

8. The investment portfolio includes industrial and retail parks, hotels, office 
blocks and leisure facilities such as:

 The Ageas Bowl
 Hilton Hotel
 David Lloyd Centre
 Black Horse House
 Hampshire House
 Omega House
 Wessex House

These assets require investment to replace infrastructure and ensure 
compliance.  A proportion of this expenditure will be recoverable from tenant 
service charges with the remainder being funded from rental income.  A 
number of buildings including Black Horse House and Hampshire House were 
constructed during the 1980s and will require further strategic 
decisions/investments to maintain their investment value. (See paragraph 10 
in respect of additional expenditure required)

9. Property Services have developed a programme of works and a delivery 
strategy in consultation with Finance.  Gantt charts of the programme are 
provided within Appendix 2 to this report.

Dilapidations

10. The cost of outstanding repairs and renewals on the Councils investment 
properties, where liability rests with the tenants, is currently estimated at 
£5.6m.  Costs for outstanding repairs can generally be recovered from tenants 
when a tenancy ends however sometimes this is not possible, for example if 
they become insolvent. Provision for such eventualities has not been included 
in this proposed Repair and Renewals (R & R) programme.  However pro-

179



Eastleigh Borough Council

active inspections of tenanted buildings will be prioritised to ensure tenants 
are complying with their repairing liabilities which will reduce the risk of 
dilapidation costs falling to the Council upon lease expiry.  Previously such 
unforeseen costs have been borne by the property reserve and this will 
continue.

Property Modernisation

11. Whilst tenants can be obliged to undertake outstanding repairs when a lease 
ends or to compensate the Council for the cost of necessary repair works, 
they cannot be obliged to pay for the cost of modernising or improving a 
property. Where buildings have been let out for a number of years it is likely 
that upon a tenant vacating, the Council will need to incur expenditure to bring 
the building up to modern standards.  This will ensure the property can reach 
its maximum rental potential, and assist in the reduction of void periods and 
retention of tenants, whilst also maximising the property’s value.  These costs 
have not been allowed for as part of this R & R budget. The costs and value 
for money, for such works will be considered on a case by case basis and 
should such a modernisation be required, further approval will be sought via 
Cabinet.

Financial Implications

12. The estimated capital cost of the proposed repairs and renewals plan is 
summarised in the table below.  All costs include a 5% contingency and 10% 
allowance for staff costs.

Financial 
Year Operational Commercial

Total R&R 
Programme 

2019/20 - 
2023/24

£000 £000 £000

2019/20
             

1,076 
                 

665 
                                  

1,741 

2020/21
             

1,212 
             

1,068 
                                  

2,280 

2021/22
                 

383 
                 

183 
                                      

566 

2022/23
                   

92 
                 

147 
                                      

239 

2023/24
                 

134 
                 

280 
                                      

414 

Total  
             

2,897  
             

2,343  
                                  

5,240 

180



Eastleigh Borough Council

13. The operational buildings do not provide the Council with a direct income 
source, but instead ensure that the Council can continue to provide services. 
Expenditure on operational buildings related to repairs and renewals will, as 
has historically been the case, be funded through borrowing.  The revenue 
implication is estimated to be £50,000 in 2019/20.

14. The expenditure on Commercial Properties will be funded initially from 
borrowing with the associated borrowing costs being funded from additional 
income brought into the Council through rents and service charges.  Although 
expenditure will be funded through borrowing, for some properties there may 
be reserves that can be utilised or the cost of works recovered from tenants 
through the service charge for the building.  This will be monitored on a case 
by case basis and decisions delegated to the Chief Finance Officer and Lead 
Asset Manager to determine the most appropriate form of funding, in order to 
deliver best value for money for the Council.  

15. The budgetary impact of the recommendations within this report is reflected 
within the Medium Term Financial Plan elsewhere on the agenda.

16. In order to remain prudent, the Council will be using a 25 year asset life in 
which to repay the borrowing.  The Council would usually use 50 years for 
expenditure on buildings.  It is noted that this expenditure will not extend the 
life of the Council’s property portfolio over its current 50 year life span, and 
therefore this borrowing should be repaid over a shorter life, to better fit the 
likelihood that similar works may need to be carried out again in the future.

17. The spend profile across the following 5 years is estimated as shown in the 
table above.  It is likely that this will change and Cabinet are asked to approve 
the delegation of the profiling of this spend to the Lead Building Surveyor in 
discussion with the Lead Asset Manager and Chief Financial Officer.

18. Expenditure will be carefully programmed to ensure minimal disruption to any 
operations or business tenants, and to maximise income generation. Liability 
for dilapidations to our investment portfolio will also be monitored, ensuring the 
Council works in a pro-active manner to minimise any potential costs should 
dilapidation claims arise.

19. The R&R 5 year programme will be revisited by staff annually and develop into 
a rolling programme, with an updated report being brought for approval to 
Cabinet each year.

Risk Assessment

20. This investment is required to repair and renew defective fabric and equipment 
with up to date technology and comply with building regulations, statutory and 
industry standards. If the Council fails to maintain its property portfolio it risks 
financial implications due to the risk of increased or unforeseen costs and 
decreased revenue return from rental. 

21. The Energy Efficiency Regulations 2015 (MEES) brought into force minimum 
energy efficiency standards for residential and commercial properties with 

181



Eastleigh Borough Council

financial penalties for non-compliance.  As at 1 April 2018, landlords of 
buildings within the scope of the MEES Regulations must not renew existing 
tenancies or grant tenancies if the building has less than the minimum EPC 
rating of E unless they fall into exempted categories.  Landlords with 
properties with an EPC rating of less than E will have to carry out works to 
improve the energy performance of the building to a rating of E or above 
subject to certain viability criteria. This will become fully enforceable in April 
2023 when landlords must not continue to let any buildings with an EPC rating 
of less than E, The Property Services Team have been working with external 
specialist consultants to review and manage this risk to the Council’s property 
portfolio since the regulations came into force. The R & R programme will 
continue to focus on this work as part of the emerging Climate Change 
Strategy which will mitigate the risk.

Equality and Diversity Implications

22. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people. A full Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out, because while there is some 
equalities impact, it is not proportionate to carry out a full EIA at this point.

Conclusion

23. The Council owns multiple operational buildings and an investment property 
portfolio that requires future investment to maintain its condition and replace 
elements that require replacement.  

24. This report seeks approval for:

 Capital expenditure of £5.24m for the Repairs and Renewals Programme 
2019/20 – 2023/24

 The funding of the capital expenditure detailed within the report through 
borrowing.

 The delegation of the profiling of spend to the Lead Building Surveyor in 
conjunction with the Lead Asset Manager and Chief Financial Officer.

 The delegation of the most appropriate funding stream for the repairs and 
renewals plan to the Lead Asset Manager in consultation with the Chief 
Financial Officer.

Nigel Stephens
LEAD BUILDING SURVEYOR – ASSET MANAGEMENT

Date: 01/10/2019
Contact Officer: Nigel Stephens 

182



Eastleigh Borough Council

Tel No: 023 8068 8423
e-mail: nigel.stephens@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Background papers: None

183



This page is intentionally left blank



Asset Nr Operational/ Property/Asset Name.  Environ Perform (EPC) Total for each asset

Number Commercial 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 5 Year R & R

240 Operational EBC Depot, Botley Road, Hedge End D 165,000             -                    200,000         -                  5,000              370,000                               

247 Operational Hamble Library - Mercury Library and Community Hub A -                     -                    -                 -                  5,000              5,000                                   

248 Operational Green Keepers Accomadation and Storage (Pavilion in the Park) NA -                     30,000              5,000             -                  -                  35,000                                 

249 Operational The Hub The Public Convenience, Bishopstoke Playing Field NA -                     1,500                -                 -                  1,500              3,000                                   

251 Operational Public Convenience, Upper Market Street Eastleigh NA 150,000             -                    -                 -                  -                  150,000                               

266 Operational Y Zone Youth Centre Fair Oak 2 Knowle Park Lane A -                     25,000              -                 -                  30,000            55,000                                 

303 Operational Berry Theatre B 50,000               50,000              -                 -                  -                  100,000                               

304 Operational Dutton Lane Depot NA -                     300,000            -                 -                  -                  300,000                               

305 Operational Fleming Park Kiosk (Paddling Pool) 161 Passfield Ave NA -                     5,000                -                 -                  -                  5,000                                   

307 Operational Energy centre NA -                     -                    -                 -                  5,000              5,000                                   

22 Operational Car Parks at Itchen Valley Country park including meters NA 100,000             -                    -                 -                  -                  100,000                               

258 Operational Allotment Buildings - Chestnut Avenue NA -                     -                    10,000           -                  -                  10,000                                 

264 Operational Leigh Road Bandstand NA -                     2,000                -                 -                  -                  2,000                                   

4 Operational Eastleigh Market Leigh Road including Portacabin toilets and power NA 30,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  30,000                                 

25 Operational Places for People Leisure Eastleigh (Refer Paul) A 64,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  64,000                                 

30 Operational Cable Works, Community Building, Tinning Way, Eastleigh (community building Sirocco Park) B -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

32 Operational Lakeside Storage Containers Unit 17 NA -                     -                    -                 -                  10,000            10,000                                 

140 Operational Unit 2 Swan Centre - Eastleigh Area Office C -                     30,000              -                 -                  -                  30,000                                 

192 Operational EASTLEIGH HOUSE B 250,000             40,000              40,000           30,000            -                  360,000                               

193 Operational The Point - Bar and Kitchen Leigh Road C 6,000                -                 -                  -                  6,000                                   

193 Operational The Point - Leigh Road C 440,000            -                 -                  -                  440,000                               

204 Operational Energy Youth Centre (Former Leigh Ballroom) 79 Leigh Road, Eastleigh B -                     22,000              -                 -                  60,000            82,000                                 

234 Operational Mitchell Multi-storey Car Park, Southampton  Road NA 41,000               40,000              65,000           50,000            -                  196,000                               

21 Operational Land and buildings at Itchen Valley Country park Reception, Cabin and Forest shelter C 85,000               52,000              13,000           -                  -                  150,000                               

147 Operational Children's Playground, Land at Campbell Road, Eastleigh NA 1,000                 -                    -                 -                  -                  1,000                                   

250 Operational Public Convenience, The Precinct Chandlers Ford NA -                     10,000              -                 -                  -                  10,000                                 

252 Commercial Wessex House, Market Street, Eastleigh C -                     480,000            10,000           -                  -                  490,000                               

228 Commercial Car Park Southampton Road, Eastleigh NA -                     -                    -                 -                  50,000            50,000                                 

232 Commercial Car Park & Toilets, High Street, Botley (Mortimer Road) NA -                     -                    -                 -                  68,000            68,000                                 

31 Commercial Residential flats Tinning Way, Eastleigh (community building Sirocco Park) Pending -                     -                    -                 -                  18,000            18,000                                 

37 Commercial Office 2 Accommodation at Lakeside A -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

38 Commercial Office 3 Accommodation at Lakeside A -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

39 Commercial Site for Miniature Railway Lakeside NA -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

48 Commercial 2D Herald Industrial Estate Herald Road Hedge End D -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

58 Commercial Industrial Site ( Herald ) E -                     3,000                7,500             70,000            -                  80,500                                 

74 Commercial Unit 16 Shakespeare Business Centre Hathaway Close Eastleigh E 12,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  12,000                                 

98 Commercial Unit 1  Southampton Road Pending -                     8,000                10,000           -                  -                  18,000                                 

99 Commercial Unit 2  Southampton Road D -                     5,000                10,000           -                  -                  15,000                                 

100 Commercial Unit 3  Southampton Road F -                     6,500                10,000           -                  -                  16,500                                 

125 Commercial Land adjacent to the Dolphin Hotel, Licence for access, Wadworth providing use of Car Park Botley. NA -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

132 Commercial Open storage land at Dutton Lane Check multiple Hendy storage, Car park Radian, Direct Services Building ? NA -                     -                    50,000           -                  -                  50,000                                 

141 Commercial 1-21, The Sidings Hound Road, Netley Abbey E 29,000               30,000              -                 -                  45,000            104,000                               

142 Commercial 4 Twyford Road, Eastleigh. D -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

143 Commercial Supermarket (Sainsburys) & Bus Station, Market St Pending 60,000              -                 -                  -                  60,000                                 

144 Commercial 14 High Street, Eastleigh (former sorting office) C -                     30,000              -                 -                  -                  30,000                                 

145 Commercial 14 High Street, Eastleigh (former Post Office) D 2,500                 2,500                2,500             2,500              2,500              12,500                                 

173 Commercial 75 Leigh Road E -                     1,500                -                 -                  -                  1,500                                   

174 Commercial 77 Leigh Road E -                     1,500                -                 -                  -                  1,500                                   

176 Commercial 1 A First Floor Maisonette at The Precinct. Winchester Road. Chandlers Ford Pending 1,000                 -                    -                 -                  -                  1,000                                   

177 Commercial 2 A First Floor Maisonette at The Precinct. Winchester Road. Pending 1,000                 -                    -                 -                  -                  1,000                                   

178 Commercial 3 A First Floor Maisonette at The Precinct. Winchester Road. Chandlers Ford Pending 22,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  22,000                                 

182 Commercial Hilton Hotel at Ageas complex B 40,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  40,000                                 

164 Commercial Black Horse House D 341,000             32,500              -                 10,000            10,000            393,500                               

185 Commercial Brookwood Cemetery Lodge, Brookwood Ave, Eastleigh C -                     4,700                -                 -                  4,700              9,400                                   

191 Commercial CAPITAL HOUSE C -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

196 Commercial 101 Leigh Road Gr. Fl. Rooms, 2 Ground Floor office C -                     5,000                -                 -                  -                  5,000                                   

197 Commercial Omega House, Southampton Road, Eastleigh 112 Southampton Road Eastleigh  B -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

198 Commercial Hampshire House 84-98 Southampton Road Eastleigh B -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

In Year Capital Expenditure

1

185



200 Commercial International House, Unit P, George Curl Way, D -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

201 Commercial Link 1, 2/4 Stoneycroft Rise, Eastleigh E -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

206 Commercial Unit 1 Channon Retail Park, Woodside Avenue, Eastleigh B 15,000               12,000              4,000             -                  -                  31,000                                 

217 Commercial 6A First Floor Maisonette at The Precinct. Winchester Road Pending 22,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  22,000                                 

220 Commercial 18A Chamberlayne Road C -                    -                 -                  -                  

221 Commercial 20 & 20A Chamberlayne Road. Pilands Wood C -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

222 Commercial 22 & 22A  Chamberlayne Road. Pilands Wood D -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

238 Commercial Earth Bar Site, Eastleigh (remainder of) NA 2,500                 -                    -                 -                  15,000            17,500                                 

241 Commercial Travel Lodge Eastleigh B 10,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  10,000                                 

242 Commercial Travel Lodge retail unit and store B 55,000               -                    -                 -                  -                  55,000                                 

245 Commercial The Wagon Works, 28-30 Southampton Road, Eastleigh D -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

246 Commercial The Hub, Bishopstoke Recreation Ground B -                     10,000              25,000           30,000            20,000            85,000                                 

246 Commercial The Hub, Bishopstoke Recreation Ground B -                     15,000              25,000           -                  -                  40,000                                 

271 Commercial Unit 1 (6) Nightingale Shopping Parade, Eastleigh C -                     30,000              -                 -                  10,000            40,000                                 

278 Commercial Café, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh D -                     -                    -                 -                  -                  -                                       

279 Commercial Fitness Studio, 237 Chamberlayne Road, Eastleigh D -                     7,500                2,750             -                  -                  10,250                                 

280 Commercial 5 Derby Road Garages NA 7,500                2,750             -                  -                  10,250                                 

281 Commercial 1-25 Falkland Court, Shopping Parade, Falkland Road, Chandlers Ford C -                     8,500                -                 15,000            -                  23,500                                 

282 Commercial 43 Lock up garages, Grantham Road, Eastleigh NA 25,000               20,000              -                 -                  -                  45,000                                 

283 Commercial 24 Lock up garages, Cherbourg Road, Eastleigh NA -                     50,000              -                 -                  -                  50,000                                 

284 Commercial 4 Lock up garages, Chamberlayne Road, Bursledon NA -                     10,000              -                 -                  -                  10,000                                 

286 Commercial Various Lock up garages, Monks Way note PP NA -                     13,000              -                 -                  -                  13,000                                 

299 Commercial Doncaster Cottages Site Garages at Friars Road NA -                     20,000              -                 -                  -                  20,000                                 

301 Commercial Linet Square Garages off Nightingale Ave NA -                     20,000              -                 -                  -                  20,000                                 

302 Commercial Jackdaw Rise Garages off Nightingale Ave NA -                     20,000              -                 -                  -                  20,000                                 

306 Commercial Former Budgens/Coop Retail Unit Hedge End C -                     15,000              -                 -                  -                  15,000                                 

1,514,000          1,982,200         492,500         207,500          359,700          4,555,900

75,700               99,110              24,625           10,375            17,985            227,795

151,400             198,220            49,250           20,750            35,970            455,590

1,741,100          2,279,530         566,375         238,625          413,655          5,239,285

2

186



Proposed programme of works 2019/20 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 2019/20

Eastleigh Market Portacabin toilets and power 30,000       30,000              
Itchen Valley Country Park FRA and Infrastructure 185,000        185,000            
The Sidings structural issues 29,000          29,000              
Hilton resolve spa issues 40,000       40,000              
Black Horse House major works 341,000        341,000            
Channon Retail Park remedials 15,000       15,000              
Mitchell Wing Car Park 41,000          41,000              
Travel Lodge Eastleigh 65,000     65,000              
Nightingale Shopping Parade -                    
Various Garage works/demolish 25,000     25,000              
Places contigent (Paul Phillips) 64,000          64,000              
Herald Units Cladding and Windows -                    
Southampton Road Units 1-3 -                    
Unit 2 Swan Centre -                    
14 High Street Roof/Reme -                    
Playground, Land at Campbell Road, Eastleigh 1,000         1,000                
75/77 Leigh Road Gutters -                    
Precinct Winchester Road 46,000          46,000              
Brookwood cemetery -                    
Eastleigh House remedials/sign off 250,000        250,000            
The Point Major Works -                    
Energy Youth Centre FRA -                    
Earth Bar Parking 2,500            2,500                
Eastleigh Depot Major Works 165,000        165,000            
The Hub -                    
The Hub Toilets -                    
(Pavilion in the Park) -                    
Public Convenience, The Precinct Chandlers Ford -                    
Public Convenience, Upper Market Street Eastleigh 150,000        150,000            
Wessex House -                    
Leigh Road Bandstand -                    
Y Zone Youth Centre Fair Oak 2 Knowle Park Lane -                    
Fitness Studio, 237 Chamberlayne Road, Eastleigh -                    
1-25 Falkland Court, Chandlers Ford -                    
Berry Theatre 50,000       50,000              
Dutton Lane Major works -                    
Fleming Park Kiosk (Paddling Pool) -                    
101 leigh Road -                    
Unit 16 Shakespeare Business Centre 12,000          12,000              
14 High Street, Eastleigh (former Post Office) 2,500            2,500                
Supermarket Market Street ( Above offices) 
Former Budgens/Coop Retail Unit Hedge End -                    
Totals estimated commitments -           -           -           -           -              -                90,000     15,000       121,000     384,500        150,000        753,500        1,514,000        

109/10/2019

187



Apr-21 May June July August September October November December January February March 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

-                 
52,000          52,000          

30,000        30,000          
-                 

32,500        32,500          
12,000          12,000          

40,000          40,000          
-                 

30,000          30,000          
80,250          80,250          160,500        

-                 
3,000          3,000            

19,500       19,500          
30,000       30,000          

32,500          32,500          
-                 

3,000          3,000            
-                 

4,700        4,700            
40,000       40,000          

150,000        150,000        146,000        446,000        
22,000        22,000          

-                 
-                 

25,000          25,000          
1,500            1,500            

30,000          30,000          
10,000          10,000          

-                 
240,000      240,000        480,000        

2,000          2,000            
25,000        25,000          

7,500            7,500            
8,500          8,500            

50,000          50,000          
100,000        100,000      100,000       300,000        

5,000          5,000            
5,000            5,000            

-                 
-                 

60,000        
15,000        15,000          

13,000        4,700        75,000        372,250        85,500        372,500      308,500        185,250       89,500       236,000        -           240,000        1,922,200    492,500        207,500        359,700        

209/10/2019

188



CABINET 

Thursday, 24 October 2019

DEFINITION OF ANTISEMITISM

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager

Recommendation:

It is recommended that  

Building on its July 2016 motion of zero tolerance of hate crime, Cabinet adopts the 
International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) Working Definition of Antisemitism.  

Summary

The report outlines the Council’s policy track record in relation to hate crime and proposes 
that Cabinet includes the IHRA definition of antisemitism within its approach to hate crime 
generally.

Statutory Powers

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence,
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Strategic Implications 

1. Antisemitism and hate crime can have extremely negative impacts on the 
health and wellbeing of residents and businesses of Eastleigh Borough.  By 
adopting the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) definition 
of antisemitism we are offering consistency and clarity and helping to tackle 
inequality. 

Introduction

2. In July 2016 the Council adopted a motion which takes a zero-tolerance 
stance on Hate Crime. The full motion is below: 

“We are proud to live in a diverse and tolerant society.  Racism, 
xenophobia and hate crimes have no place in our country.  Our council 
condemns racism, xenophobia and hate crimes unequivocally.  We will not 
allow hate to become acceptable.

189

Agenda Item 13



Eastleigh Borough Council

 
We will work to ensure that local bodies and programmes have the support 
and resources they need to fight and prevent racism and xenophobia.
 
We reassure all people living in this area that they are valued members of 
our community.”

3. National data confirms that anti-Semitic incidents have continued to rise and 
as per the above motion this kind of behaviour will not be tolerated in our 
Borough.  It is recommended that Cabinet approves the adoption of the non-
legally binding definition of antisemitism as follows to ensure clarity on how 
antisemitism manifests itself in the 21st century: 

“Antisemitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 
hatred toward Jews.  Rhetorical and physical manifestations of 
antisemitism are directed toward Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or 
their property, toward Jewish community institutions and religious 
facilities.”

4. Further information about the IHRA and the Working Definition is available 
here: https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/working-definition-
antisemitism?usergroup=2.

5. The Community Security Trust (CST) is the leading organisation monitoring 
and supporting victims of antisemitism.  Earlier this year, CST released their 
report on anti-Semitic incidents in the first six months of 2019.  It showed the 
highest total on record over a six-month period, and an increase of 10% on 
the same period in 2018, with over 100 incidents per month for the third year 
running.  Similarly, the annual figures for 2018 showed the highest number of 
anti-Semitic incidents on record.

6. CST’s figures reflect the Home Office official statistics from October 2019 
which show that 18% of religiously motivated hatred is targeted at Jewish 
people – up from 12% in 2018 – and that, per capita, Jewish people were 
most likely to report experiencing hatred.

7. Thankfully incidents such as this within the Borough are rare, but no matter 
how small or rare, no form of anti-Semitic behaviour or hate crime is tolerated 
in the Borough.

8. This Council has already taken a strong stance against hate crime and hosts 
Eastleigh Community Safety Partnership.  The Council works with other 
agencies to address crime and antisocial behaviour and support victims.

9. The Council also fulfils its general and specific duties under the Equality Act 
2010.  Jewish people are considered as having a protected characteristic of 
religion and belief, and race.

190

https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/working-definition-antisemitism?usergroup=2
https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/working-definition-antisemitism?usergroup=2


Eastleigh Borough Council

Financial Implications

10.The adoption of this definition holds no financial implications and work to 
combat any form of hate crime will continue through existing activities 

Risk Assessment

11.Having clear definitions of hate crimes helps to target and combat intolerable 
behaviour of this nature.

Equality and Diversity Implications

12.The Equality Act is directly relevant to the decision in this report as the 
decision relates to meeting the needs of a group with protected 
characteristics, both in terms of race and religion/belief.  An equality impact 
assessment has not been carried out as the decision clearly demonstrates the 
Council giving due regard to its duties under the Act of eliminating 
discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, and fostering good relations 
between different people.

Conclusion

13.The report proposes adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance 
Alliance (IHRA) Working Definition of Antisemitism.

DICCON BRIGHT
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER

Date: 15 October 2019
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright
Tel No: 023 8068 8436
e-mail: Diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached:

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

None.

191



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Interim Action Plan
	Appendix 1 - CChEnvE - Council Motion - July 2019 - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 2 - CChEnvE - Draft climate change strategy
	Appendix 3 - CChEnvE - Interim Action Plan -24-10-2019
	Appendix 4 - Techincal Background Report - CO2 Emissions
	Appendix 5 - You Said We Did - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 6 - Equality Impact Assessment - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 7 - CChEnvE - Sustainability Appraisal- 24-10-2019

	5 Upgrade of Pay on Foot Car Parks in Eastleigh Town Centre
	6 Medium Term Financial Plan
	New Appendix A - Medium Term Financial Plan - 24-10-2019
	New Appendix B - MTFP 2019- 24 Summary
	Appendix C  - MTFP Risk Register - 24-10-2019
	Appendix D - MTFP CFO Statement - 24-10-2019

	7 Write Off Irrecoverable Debts
	Appendix 1 - Write off Irrecoverable Debt
	Appendix 2 - Write off Irrecoverable Debt

	8 Corporate Performance & Financial Monitoring
	Appendix 1 - Corporate KPIs - PerfMgmt - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 2 Q2Fin Monitoring - PerfMgmt - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 3 Q2 CIPMonitoringreport - PerfMgmt - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 4 Q2 RiskAsssessment - PerfMgmt - 24-10-2019
	Appendix 5 Resident Survey - PerfMgmt - 24-10-2019

	9 Annual Report on Corporate Risk - 2018/2019
	10 Draft Corporate Enforcement Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Corporate Enforcement Strategy

	11 Community Investment Programme Schemes Approval
	Appendix 1 - CIP Scheme Approval

	12 Eastleigh Borough Council's Property Assets Repair & Renewal Plan
	New Ed - Appendix. 1 With EPC Repair and Renewal Plan 201920 - 202324
	Appendix2  - Repair and Renewal Plan Programme

	13 Definition of Anti-Semitism

